
Public Hearing

before

SENATE JUDICIARY COMMITTEE

“Review of racial profiling”

LOCATION: Committee Room 4
State House Annex
Trenton, New Jersey

DATE: March 19, 2001
10:00 a.m.

MEMBERS OF COMMITTEE PRESENT:

Senator William L. Gormley, Chairman
Senator James S. Cafiero, Vice-Chairman
Senator Louis F. Kosco
Senator Robert J. Martin
Senator John J. Matheussen
Senator Norman M. Robertson
Senator Raymond J. Zane
Senator Garry J. Furnari
Senator John A. Girgenti
Senator John A. Lynch
Senator Edward T. O’Connor Jr.



ALSO PRESENT:

John J. Tumulty
*Office of Legislative Services
Committee Aide*

Christine Shipley, Esq.
*Senate Majority
Staff Counsel*

Jo Astrid Glading, Esq.
*Senate Democratic
Staff Counsel*

Michael Chertoff, Esq.
Special Counsel to the Committee
Scott L. Weber, Esq.
Assistant Special Counsel to the Committee

***Hearing Recorded and Transcribed by
The Office of Legislative Services, Public Information Office,
Hearing Unit, State House Annex, PO 068, Trenton, New Jersey***

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	<u>Page</u>
Jeffrey J. Miller Assistant Attorney General Division of Law Department of Law and Public Safety	2
Sergeant First Class Thomas Gilbert New Jersey State Police	3
Captain Richard Touw (retired) New Jersey State Police	193
Captain David E. Blaker (retired) New Jersey State Police	193
Major Joseph Brennan New Jersey State Police	193
Lieutenant Colonel Michael Fedorko (retired) New Jersey State Police	250
Lieutenant Colonel Robert Dunlop (retired) New Jersey State Police	250

APPENDIX:

Appendix material, including documents, previous interviews and depositions referenced in the hearing, is available from the Office of Legislative Services, Office of Public Information.

lmb: 1 - 21
rs: 22 - 45
ses: 46 - 68
hw: 69 - 91
lmb: 92 - 111
rs: 112 - 152
ses: 158 - 173
hw: 174 - 195
ses: 196 - 237
lmb: 238 - 281
rs: 282 - 349
hw: 350 - 361

SENATOR WILLIAM L. GORMLEY (Chairman): Call to order, please.

I would first like to welcome a new member to the Committee. Senator Furnari, thank you. Welcome. It's a pleasure to have you here.

Excuse me, all cell phones off. I just heard "Take Me Out to the Ball Game" being played in my left ear, okay.

The hearing dates that are scheduled represent the start of the hearing process as it pertains to racial profiling. This Committee did a review of racial profiling in 1999, approximately 20, 22, 23 months ago. Since that time, approximately 100,000 documents have been released that relate to the history and chronology of events as it pertains to racial profiling. It was an obvious continuation of our obligation to review racial profiling that we commence a review of those documents. As a result of that, the Committee and staff and special counsel have reviewed those 100,000 documents. Subsequently, there were both interviews and depositions related to those documents, and today's start of the hearing process will be as a result of the overviews that have been taking place both through document review and the depositions.

The goal is, one, to instill public confidence in the people of this state that we've conducted as thorough a review as anyone would expect in terms of what is a very delicate matter. Number two, once we complete that review, it would be to make recommendations in terms of legislative or procedural reforms and at the same time to set forth other recommendations we feel are germane and relate to what is necessary to fulfill our obligations as

Senators and to instill appropriate public confidence in the people of the State of New Jersey.

I want to thank the staff on both sides of the aisle for the work done to date and the amount of time put in by the Senators to date. I want to thank special counsel Michael Chertoff and Scott Weber for the time that they have put into this matter.

We will now commence with the first witness. Would staff -- First Sergeant Thomas Gilbert please come forward to be sworn.

(Oath administered)

The questioning will commence by special counsel Michael Chertoff.

MR. CHERTOFF (Special Counsel to the Committee): Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Red light. (referring to PA microphone)

MR. CHERTOFF: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

If I could ask for the record, Sergeant Gilbert, I guess you have representation as a member of the State Police by the Attorney General's Office. If I could just ask to have counsel from the Attorney General's Office appear on the record and state your name.

A S S T. A T T Y. G E N E R A L J E F F R E Y J. M I L L E R:
Senator Gormley, members of the Committee, I'm Jeffrey Miller, Assistant Attorney General. Along with Assistant Attorney General Allison Accurso and Deputy Attorney General Brian Flanagan, we will be providing representation to the extent that it's needed to the witnesses who have accepted representation from the Attorney General.

MR. CHERTOFF: Thank you.

Sergeant Gilbert, just to begin, how old are you?

SERGEANT FIRST CLASS THOMAS GILBERT:

I'm 42 years old, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And how long have you been with the State Police?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Nineteen years.

MR. CHERTOFF: What's your current rank?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Sergeant First Class.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Is your red light on? (referring to PA microphone)

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. And how long have you been a Sergeant First Class?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Approximately three years, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: What's your current assignment?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I'm the Supervisor of the Division Services Unit within the Human Resource Management Bureau.

MR. CHERTOFF: And can you just tell us how far you went in school?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I have a master's degree from St. Joseph's University.

MR. CHERTOFF: I want to take you back to the period of time from 1996 up through 2000. During that period of time, did you have an

assignment in connection with the issue generally known as racial profiling on behalf of the State Police?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: And generally speaking, what was that assignment?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Originally, after the decision had come out in Gloucester County in March of 1996, I had been asked by my then supervisor, Sergeant First Class David Blaker, to take a look at the decision that had been rendered by Judge Francis and to basically report back to him and the superintendent with an unbiased and honest as I could analysis of what had taken place.

MR. CHERTOFF: And then after that, did you -- did your assignment broaden to include actually getting involved in gathering information and statistics that would be pertinent to the *Soto* case?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, it did.

MR. CHERTOFF: And did it then also wind up including gathering statistics and information in connection with a U.S. Department of Justice inquiry which began in late 1996?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, that's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: And did you continue in that role at least into the spring of 1999?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, who did you principally work with at the Office of the Attorney General in dealing with these matters?

SERGEANT GILBERT: In the early phases of 1996, primary dealings would have been with Mr. Jack Fahy, who is a supervisor -- Deputy Attorney General. As time progressed, it would have been with him, and also additionally, Deputy Attorney General George Rover.

MR. CHERTOFF: And was it -- did you have an understanding about who Mr. Fahy and Mr. Rover reported to within the Office of the Attorney General?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: And tell us what that was.

SERGEANT GILBERT: My understanding was that as time went on, with respect to Mr. Rover, that he was reporting to Alex Waugh, who I believe was the Assistant Executive Attorney General, who in turn reported to the Attorney General himself.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, I want to actually kind of begin at the end, if I can. We're going to then go back and cover this in more detail. But I want to give you an opportunity to go on the record with respect to an issue which was raised in 1999 in connection with the interim report. Are you familiar with the interim report of the State Police Review Team regarding allegations of racial profiling?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I am.

MR. CHERTOFF: Have you ever read it?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, I have.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, there's a passage in the report at Page 23 which indicates that, and I'm quoting, "In mid-March the Review Team began to receive documents from the State Police pertaining to audits, compilations

of data, and analyses of data about the racial characteristics of detained motorists, some of which had not previously been provided to the Office of the Attorney General or the Division of Criminal Justice.” Do you remember reading that passage?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I do.

MR. CHERTOFF: I also want to tell you there is a draft version of that passage, which was in somewhat stronger language, and I want to ask you if you ever saw this. This is in Page 2 of a draft of April 7th, 1999, and I’m quoting: “We feel constrained to comment that some of the statistical information we rely upon, including particularly revealing data concerning consent searches, were only recently disclosed by the State Police to the Office of the Attorney General. Certain internal studies and audits prepared at the request of the superintendent were not made known to the Deputy Attorneys General who were representing the State in the *Soto* litigation. This circumstance has seriously compromised the State’s litigation posture and also has needlessly delayed initiating appropriate remedies and reforms.” Did you ever see that passage in the draft?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, I did not, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, let me ask you this: In general and in substance, is the statement of this draft true? Is it the case that the State Police withheld the substance of what was being developed in terms of audits and statistical data from the Deputy Attorneys General who were being -- the State Police were dealing with in terms of the *Soto* litigation and the Department of Justice?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, sir, that would be incorrect.

MR. CHERTOFF: Is it the fact that in substance you regularly conveyed to your contact at the Office of the Attorney General the broad nature of the statistical information you were gathering from 1996 up through 1999?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That would be correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And was that at the direction of the superintendent?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, it was.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, in connection with that, I want to actually just also make clear who you personally dealt with in the Office of the Attorney General. You indicated you dealt with Mr. Fahy and Mr. Rover. Who else from the Office of the Attorney General did you deal with in this time frame, 1996 to 1999?

SERGEANT GILBERT: For the majority of time, it would have been those two individuals, but I also did have contact with Mr. Waugh on several occasions and also the Attorney General himself on several occasions.

MR. CHERTOFF: And that would be now Justice Verniero.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: At any point in time did you make a decision to conceal any material information from any of those men in terms of what you were doing gathering this information for the State Police?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, sir, I had an obligation not to do that.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was it, in fact, your intent and your action to convey to the people you were dealing with at the Office of the Attorney General the substance of what you were finding?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: As far as you know, did you do anything that would have hindered or would have interfered with either the litigation or the effort to inaugurate improvements in the issue of racial profiling in the State Police?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, sir, I did not.

MR. CHERTOFF: Let me go back to the beginning now. When did you first get assigned to work on the *Soto* mess?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Actually, sir, it would have been post -- the post-determination of *Soto*, when Judge Francis had issued his decision, which I believe was the beginning of March in 1996.

MR. CHERTOFF: And again, tell us who assigned you to work on that.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Sergeant Blaker, who was then the administrative assistant to the superintendent -- come back to me. He had a copy of the decision. He asked me to read the decision over and to basically initiate an analysis of the decision and what implications I thought it had upon the Division.

MR. CHERTOFF: And did you do that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you actually ultimately write a memorandum to the superintendent through your superiors with that analysis?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: Let me show you-- I'm going to have someone from the Committee actually give you a copy of the exhibit, which I think you've seen before, something that we have previously marked as G-1 in your deposition, which is a memo -- an interoffice communication, dated March 28th, 1996, from you. Yeah, let me see if you recognize that.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I do.

MR. CHERTOFF: Is this the memo that you had prepared based upon your review of the decision?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you make a series of recommendations in this memo?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: And very briefly, can you summarize what those were?

SERGEANT GILBERT: It rated a decision that Judge Francis had rendered. He had leveled some pretty significant criticisms against the Division. Although within the Division we had concerns as to whether the decision itself was on target with the issues that it was addressing, it seemed prudent that some of the issues that Judge Francis had raised were things that we had to take a serious look at as a Division, see if we could make improvements, and where should we move forward to from that point in time.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, do you remember that Judge Francis's decision was basically concerned with the issue of motorists' stops on the southern part of the Turnpike?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, that's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: And just so the record is clear for everybody on the Committee, could you explain very briefly what a stop is?

SERGEANT GILBERT: A stop would be an action that would be initiated by a trooper out on the roadway, normally on the basis of the motor vehicle violation or something that he had observed specifically out on the roadway that would give rise to justification for that stop.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, after a stop, are there other things that a State Trooper can do or does do that leads to other kinds of decisions?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, depending on the circumstances that he or she would encounter.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what would those be?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Potentially, that you could have a plain view situation, where, for example, guns or narcotics or a stolen car might be detected. A trooper might take action at that point. There may be a situation where the trooper encounters some indicators of deception, irregularities which might give rise to the level where they would ask for consent to search of a vehicle. It would be very dependent on the individual circumstances of the encounter.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. Let me break this down and just very briefly see if I'm correct in what I'm explaining about the process. A motorist is stopped. That's the first decision a trooper has to make, whether to stop a motorist for a violation, correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And then if the trooper does do the stop, depending on the interaction of the motorist, the trooper could decide, for example, to try to search that car, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And I take it there are two ways to go. There is, for example, probable cause to search, which would allow you to search a car without asking for permission, correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And that would be if, let's say for example, you saw a machine gun on the front seat, that would probably be considered a base to go search the car, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, it would.

MR. CHERTOFF: There's also what they call a consent to search, correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And that's where you ask the driver if that person is willing to allow the car to be searched voluntarily?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And at this time in 1996, was there a policy that the State Police had regarding what was the threshold before you could ask the motorist to consent to search?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, there was.

MR. CHERTOFF: What was that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe it would have been reasonable suspicion.

MR. CHERTOFF: And that is more than just willy-nilly arbitrariness -- it requires some articulable basis as to why you want to search the car?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now then, there's also the possibility of making an arrest if you find something in the car, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: So those are all decisions that a trooper makes on the road every time a car is stopped?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, as a consequence of the work that you did, was a committee set up at the State Police to deal with the issue of racial profiling?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, it was.

MR. CHERTOFF: And who set that up?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that, preliminarily, Sergeant Blaker and I had conversations about the need to try and get some people together, both from within the Division and also get some outside input and guidance from downtown -- that being the Attorney General's Office and the Division of Criminal Justice -- again to see where we could improve our operations. That we could take an honest look at the criticisms that had been leveled at the Division by Judge Francis and decide what appropriate action should be taken in response to those criticisms.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, in April of '96, was a committee set up?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And maybe to help again with your memory, I'm going to show you what we've previously marked as G-4 for identification, which is a memo you wrote to Colonel Williams on the issue of racial profiling issues.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: You recognize this to be yours, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I do.

MR. CHERTOFF: And does it also, among other things on Page 2, talk about this committee that had been set up to deal with the issue of racial profiling?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, it does.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, who is on the committee?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Sir, myself, Sergeant Blaker, Colonel Littles, who is our supervisor -- Lieutenant Colonel Littles was the -- had overall authority over the committee. Went down from him, as again, Sergeant Blaker, myself, Captain Brennan, Captain Touw, who is in charge of Internal Affairs, Kevin DiPatri, who was a trooper from one of our road stations. We had also Pat Reilly, who was an instructor at the academy. We also had Mr. Fahy come over from the Division of Criminal Justice, as well as Mr. Susswein from the Division of Criminal Justice.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. I just want to make sure we understand everybody's role and why they were on the committee.

Lieutenant Colonel Littles was the chairperson of the committee, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And Captain Brennan, what was his position at this time, and what was his reason for being on the committee, if you know?

SERGEANT GILBERT: He had formerly served as the advisor to the superintendent. He had then moved on to become the EEO-AA officer, and it was believed that he had a good historical working knowledge of this issue and that he would be an asset to the committee.

MR. CHERTOFF: When you say EEO, you mean Equal Opportunity Officer?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Affirmative Action Bureau. Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: What about Captain Touw? What was his purpose for being on the committee?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Captain Touw at that point was the Bureau Chief in charge of our Internal Affairs Bureau.

MR. CHERTOFF: And was that the bureau that would normally be assigned the responsibility to investigate allegations of misconduct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, it would.

MR. CHERTOFF: And why were Detectives Reilly and Trooper DiPatri on the committee?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Detective Reilly had served as a contact person, a resource person, for Mr. Fahy at the Gloucester County proceedings, and had also -- at that point, he was an instructor at the training bureau or academy, and that was one of the issues that we were going to be looking at -- were training issues -- so it was felt he would be an asset in that area. And for the purpose of the committee with Trooper DiPatri, when Sergeant Blaker and I had talked to Colonel Littles, we felt it was important to get some insight and

perspective from a road trooper, so that we made sure that we incorporated their viewpoints and their concerns into where we were going with the committee.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, Deputy Attorney Generals Fahy and Susswein, why were they on the committee?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Mr. Fahy had been dealing with the Gloucester County matter and obviously had a substantial amount of historical knowledge in that issue and the issue -- racial profiling as a whole. Mr. Susswein, again, had expertise in the background of the racial profiling issue, and in addition, I had worked with Mr. Susswein on a number of training initiatives and felt that again we had to look at training very strongly and that he would be an asset from that angle to help us devise what would be appropriate training to move forward from that point.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. Now I want to take-- You actually prepared a report with respect to the meeting of April 12th, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: And was this your habit to basically put together minutes, or a report of the meeting, after you attended the meeting?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And I take it you did the best you could to be accurate about the substance of the meeting, if not every word that was said?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: In the first paragraph, there's a -- something that's marked Gloucester County appeal. Is that the appeal from Judge Francis's decision?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, it is.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was that discussed at the meeting?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, it was, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. With respect to that, in that paragraph it's indicated that there was going to be a review of the individual cases that had become part of Judge Francis's decision and the individual troopers whose activities were the subject of that decision. Based upon your memo and your memory, what do you remember was the discussion concerning this issue at this meeting of April 12th, 1996?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I think one of the concerns was that if we were to take a look at the activity of the 19 troopers involved, if a decision should be made, depending on where that activity stood statistically as to whether any thought should be given with -- or towards proceeding with the Gloucester County appeal or not.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. Now, I'm going to make sure that I understand this. At this meeting, there was a discussion about the fact that if the appeal went forward, and let's say the State was successful, they would eventually have to have further court proceedings regarding the actual activities of the troopers in question, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And is it fair to say that what was discussed at the meeting was the desire to understand whether the troopers, in fact, had a problem, so that the Attorney General's Office would understand whether at the end of the day waiting on the appeal would simply put them back into a situation where they would be dealing with bad facts?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir. That was one of the issues that was addressed.

MR. CHERTOFF: So that from the standpoint of the people who were at the meeting from the Office of the Attorney General, they needed to know what the underlying facts were regarding the troopers to make a decision about how the appeal ought to be pursued?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That was one of the factors, yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And was it your undertaking or your indication that you would handle that review of the trooper cases?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you eventually do that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: And that was consistent with your promise at this meeting, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now again, I want to be quite clear. Was it discussed at this meeting that if the review uncovered substantial problems with the individual cases, that there would be consideration given to recommending that the appeal, perhaps, not be pursued any further?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe at that point that was the discussion.

MR. CHERTOFF: I'm just going to ask, for ease of this witness and other witnesses -- we've put up like a little easel, and I'm going to ask one of the committee personnel to just mark down the April 12th, 1996 date,

because I think it's a date we're going to come back to. So, if I could ask somebody to do that, sort of, we'll keep track of it.

And while it's being done, I want to continue with April 12th. There was other discussion on April 12th about other cases going on besides the Gloucester County case, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, that's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: Is it fair to say that there were other challenges being raised by criminal defense attorneys in other parts of the state on the issue of profiling based upon the judge's decision in Gloucester County?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, it is.

MR. CHERTOFF: In particular, there was something going on in Hunterdon County, correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Would you tell us what was discussed about that at the meeting on April 12th?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that the Division had been brought up to speed by Mr. Fahy that there was a motion pending in Hunterdon County which was being undertaken by the Public Defender's Office in that venue. And that the approach that he believed was going to be taken by the Public Defender's Office was similar to the Public Defender's Office approach that had been utilized successfully in the Gloucester County case.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, did you indicate or did someone indicate in the meeting that again, in terms of making a judgment about how to handle the Hunterdon County case, the records section of the State Police would

begin compiling a statistical overview with respect to the I-78 Perryville Station of the State Police?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir. And that was done.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. Was the purpose of that again to help the Office of the Attorney General decide how to deal with this Hunterdon County motion by the defense attorneys?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, it was.

MR. CHERTOFF: And was it made clear in the course of the meeting that this analysis was under way?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, it was.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, was there also discussion about steps that might be taken in terms of changing operational procedures for reporting information by troopers and changing the audit process that was also discussed at the meeting?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And just very briefly give us what those were.

SERGEANT GILBERT: One of the criticisms that had been leveled by Judge Francis in the Gloucester County decision was our compliance with the process by which troopers would call in a stop, one of the requirements of which was for them to identify the race of the occupants of the vehicle that was stopped. And by the tone of the judge's decision, it appeared from my perspective that he placed a great importance on that issue, and we felt that where we had basically been disadvantaged by having a full set of statistics to deal with to analyze during the Gloucester County proceedings, that as we moved forward from that point, it was necessary for the Division to

enhance its abilities to collect that data and to make sure that it was complete, as far as the full information being called in on motor vehicle stops by our troopers out on the road.

MR. CHERTOFF: Is it fair to say that you needed to have accurate data because, both in terms of the cases that were going on at that time and future cases, you needed to be able to (a) figure out if there's a problem that needed to be fixed and (b) respond to these various motions.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, that would be correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what was the discussion concerning audits -- having ongoing audits?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Captain Touw, who was then the Bureau Chief of the Internal Affairs Bureau, he had got into Internal Affairs, and I believe at around the same time with the Gloucester County case, but I think even beyond that. I think Captain Touw was somewhat innovative in identifying a need to come up with the process where you could look not only at an individual incident that might be alleged to have some impropriety to it, but to also look at the surrounding information as far as what the activity levels were at a given station, a given road environment, and also to look at a more encompassing view of an individual trooper's activity.

MR. CHERTOFF: Finally, let me ask you this: Was there discussion about the Division Awards Program?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, there was.

MR. CHERTOFF: What was that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: There had been overtime ebbing and flowing -- some criticism of the Division's Awards Program as to whether there

might be some validity to the fact that individuals seeking to procure Division awards-- We wanted to make sure that the tone of the Awards Program was that not only were individuals going to be rewarded for the statistics that they generated, but also the nature by which those statistics were generated first. Basically looking -- combining both quality and quantity, not just looking at it from a strict quantity standpoint.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. Now, just to make sure everybody understands how significant this was, this meeting took place in an environment in which you had a judge who was at least raising the possibility of throwing out a bunch of criminal cases because of racial profiling, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And is it fair to say that it was understood at the meeting, and discussed at the meeting, that racial profiling motions by defense attorneys could raise questions about a fairly significant number of criminal narcotics cases that were then being prosecuted?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And I also take it, it's a fairly drastic and bad thing when judges throw out cases that would otherwise demonstrate people committing crimes, because there was some problem in the process of arresting those people.

SERGEANT GILBERT: We would have had great concerns about that. Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay.

Now, in fact, with respect to this Hunterdon County matter, there was a report put together by the Records and Identification Section, correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: I'm going to show you what's been marked as G-5 -- what we're going to put in front of you, which is a memo, dated April 24th, 1996, very shortly after this meeting.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And do you remember this as a memo you prepared?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, it is.

MR. CHERTOFF: And did it transmit information concerning the Perryville Station in Hunterdon County?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, it did.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, was there a tabulation that was done -- a statistical breakdown that was done regarding stops in Perryville, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And again, at this point, the focus was on stops, it wasn't on searches, and it wasn't on arrests, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And is that because, at this point, Judge Francis's decision had really been focused on stops?

SERGEANT GILBERT: It had. Yes, sir. And it basically stopped at that point in the process. And that's where the ruling had been based.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. Now, did you, on, I guess-- The page that we've marked is GC-1403. Was there a statistical breakdown that was prepared based on the report that you had received?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And would you just indicate to us what it indicated regarding percentages of stops of whites and nonwhites at that station for the relevant period?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Well, on the basis of the figures in which they were presented to me by Sergeant Farhat, the percentages had been 60 percent White, 39 percent Black, and 1 percent Asian.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, that's actually with Hispanics being allocated among Whites and Blacks. Did you reconfigure it, subsequently, with Hispanics as a separate category?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: And give us the statistics with that reconfiguration.

SERGEANT GILBERT: That ended up being 45 percent White, 38 percent Black, 16 percent Hispanic, and 1 percent Asian.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. Now, let me stop here and talk a little bit about statistics with you. Did you understand that from Judge Francis's decision -- that in analyzing allegations of this, there's kind of a multistep process that goes on?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. And the first step is to see whether the statistics or the numbers show disproportionate numbers of stops of minorities as opposed to the general population, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Is it fair to say that there were questions raised, in your mind, with respect to Judge Francis's decision about how easy it would

be to make those statistical statements if you don't really know the percentage of traffic or the breakdown of the traffic on the Turnpike?

SERGEANT GILBERT: We felt it would be very difficult to draw that comparison.

MR. CHERTOFF: Nevertheless, is it fair to say you also understood that at some point, if the percentage of minorities being stopped is much larger than the population of minorities as a whole in the country or in the state, it certainly raises a red flag?

SERGEANT GILBERT: And it obviously creates a very troublesome perception issue.

MR. CHERTOFF: And then you'd have to go to the next level, and you have to start to look at the individual cases, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, that's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: With that in mind, is it fair to say that although the statistical breakdown you put together does not prove, one way or the other, conclusively, whether there was profiling, it certainly raised a red flag that you thought was a matter of serious concern?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe I had an obligation to compile this information and pass it on up the chain to my superiors. Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, who did you pass this information along to?

SERGEANT GILBERT: This information, I believe, would have been passed on through then Sergeant Blaker up to the superintendent, also outside the Division to Mr. Fahy in the Division of Criminal Justice.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. Now, I want to be quite clear about this. Was this -- the information in this report -- provided to Deputy Attorney General Fahy at some point after you got it?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, it was.

MR. CHERTOFF: And to be clear, you had indicated at the meeting of April 12th, that this information was going to be available. And you had said that to Mr. Fahy, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, that's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: And Mr. Fahy was the person responsible for the Hunterdon County matter involving the challenge to racial profiling in that county, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: So is it fair to say that it made sense to you that this would be important information to give him so he could do his job in deciding how to handle the Hunterdon County case?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you know whether you actually, at a point in time, gave him a copy of this memo?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I am not sure if I did or not, sir. I know I relayed the information to him.

MR. CHERTOFF: So, whether you gave him the document or not, you certainly gave him the information.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, was there a subsequent meeting in May of the committee -- on May 16th?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that there was, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right.

I'm going to show you now what we have marked as CW-6, which we'll give to you.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: Mr. Chairman, may I make the suggestion-- There are also page numbers here. We have a chronological binder that's not separated by witness. So it becomes difficult for us to follow.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. Great. I'm going to-- What I'll do is I'll give the page numbers, as well.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: Yeah. There's no AG page number that would be helpful.

MR. CHERTOFF: Actually, we have a-- Ours is a GC page number, GC-3983. It's a document-- It's a cover page, dated May 24, 1996. It's headed Superintendent's Action Memo from Colonel Williams. And it has attached to it a memo from then Detective Gilbert, May 21.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: What was the page number for the previous exhibit?

MR. CHERTOFF: The previous exhibit was an exhibit marked April 24th, 1996, and it was GC-1399.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: Thank you.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right.

Sergeant, you have this document of May 21 before you, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I do.

MR. CHERTOFF: And first of all, the cover page is from Colonel Williams. And it indicates, in his writing, that he's approved certain things you had suggested, correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right.

And I'm going to ask, again, we put May 21 on the board so we have a record of this.

At this meeting, again, who was in attendance?

SERGEANT GILBERT: According to what I had written, sir, Lieutenant Colonel Littles, who was the deputy superintendent; Captains Touw and Brennan; Sergeant First Class Blaker; myself; Trooper Kevin DiPatri; Assistant Attorney General Ronald Susswein; and Senior Deputy Attorney General Jack Fahy.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, I want to go through the highlights of this. In the first -- second paragraph, it indicates that although some people had the sentiment that this was an isolated decision and shouldn't be a tail that was allowed to wag the dog, Deputy Attorney General Fahy indicated that there were seven motions now pending in various courts which focused on profiling.

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: What did he say about that, briefly?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Basically, that the issue was not going to go away, and it was something that we were going to collectively have to deal with between the Attorney General's Office and the State Police.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, was there discussion about the wisdom of trying to get better statistics and do audits to find out what the real facts were?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that there was. Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Tell us what that discussion was.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Reviewing over the document, I remember that one of the issues was that we had to get our compliance rate much higher, as far as if one of our primary collective vehicles was going to be the information being called in by the troopers while they were conducting stops. We had to take some proactive measures to make sure that compliance rates -- that compliance rates raised significantly so that come the time that we were going to rely on statistics, we wanted to be able to show the court -- show the public that we were, in fact, making a conscious effort to raise that level. And that way, we could produce, when needed, accurate and verifiable statistics.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. Now again, let's, for the -- to be clear-- Let's explain how this comes up.

At the time, what was the practice, when a trooper stopped somebody on the road, about recording, in some way, the race and sex of the occupant in the vehicle?

SERGEANT GILBERT: For the purposes of safety, going back a number of years, they were components of the things that would need to be called in. For example, the location of the stop, what type of vehicle it was, where the car was from, the exact license plate number, the description of the occupants, as far as race, skin color -- basically, any identifiers a trooper could

call in. That way, if, per se, anything -- we ran into any form of a critical incident, we would be able to put information out accurately, based on what the trooper had reported in. So, if we had to respond to the scene -- that the responding troopers, other agencies would basically know what type of vehicle they might be looking for, what type of individuals, so that we could respond in a prompt and fair fashion.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was there criticism in Judge Francis's decision about the lack of comprehensiveness of recording the race of people stopped, such that it was impossible to really get a good statistical picture?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, that's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: And was there debate about whether it would be a good idea to be more accurate in recording this and recording it in different places?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't think there was any debate about it. I think everybody, all the way through, agreed that that was something we had to move forward to.

MR. CHERTOFF: And did you-- Were there suggestions made in this meeting about how to improve keeping these statistics?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what were those suggestions?

SERGEANT GILBERT: If you can-- If you don't mind-- If I could just review real quick--

MR. CHERTOFF: Sure.

SERGEANT GILBERT: --one of the things that we had talked about was which would be -- where would be the best repository of information

to generate that information for later statistical analysis. And we had basically two ways to go. One was the patrol chart, and one was the radio logs. The patrol chart is what the trooper fills out for each individual encounter he has during his shift, whether it be a motor vehicle stop or some other form of activity.

But on a motor vehicle stop, at that point, they did have to put down the location, description of the vehicle, and the tag number. But we didn't have a description of the individuals. That would show up on the transmission that would be radioed in by the trooper. And that would then be recorded by the people that were, as we called it, on the book or on the radio log. They would note that in the radio logs.

So there was discussion as to whether it would be best to go with the patrol chart, would it be best to go with the radio log, and ultimately, where were we going to head, and in what direction, because we knew that we had to enhance our ability to accurately capture and then analyze that information.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what was the conclusion at the meeting?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe, at that point, that we had talked about both the patrol charts and the radio logs. I don't know if we reached an exact decision on which of the two it was going to be, but that we knew that we had to move forward and collect the information. I know that, ultimately, what happened is that we focused on the radio procedures and the radio logs at that point in time.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, was there also a discussion about better training and better guidance about what the rules were?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, at the end of this memo, there's discussion. In the last paragraph, the following passage appears: "The Gloucester County appeal is proceeding as planned. The Records and Identification Section has prepared an analysis of the arrest statistics for those troopers whose cases are the subject of the appeal. If preliminary analysis of enforcement activity for I-78, Perryville Station, for the period October '94 to October '95 has also been completed--"

Now, let me ask you this. Was this something that was discussed at the meeting?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't believe that that was discussed at the meeting. I think that that was interaction that I had after that. I'm not sure if we discussed that at that meeting, per se, or that I had passed that information on either before or after the meeting. I'm not really sure.

MR. CHERTOFF: To whom did you pass that information on?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That would have been to Mr. Fahy.

MR. CHERTOFF: So you would have had a discussion with Mr. Fahy at some point, telling him two things, that there had been an analysis of the arrest statistics of the 19 troopers who were the subject of the Gloucester County case, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: And secondly, you would have told them about this Hunterdon County preliminary statistical report, which we've talked about a few moments ago.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And that was your way of recording this in your memorandum, right--

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: --because you wanted to have-- In general, you wanted to report up that you were transmitting the relevant information to Mr. Fahy, correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, that's accurate.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, we've talked a little bit about the Perryville analysis. We've talked a little bit about the analysis of the Moorestown troopers who were the subject of the Gloucester County appeal. Was there also-- Did there come a point in time in 1996 -- you became aware of another issue at the Moorestown Station regarding the issue of profiling that had been raised by some minority troopers earlier in '96?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: How did you become aware of that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe through conversations with Captain Touw, who was the Bureau Chief of Internal Affairs.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what did you learn about that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I had learned that the-- Well, I believe, originally, some issues had been raised by some of the troopers at the station. I think that originally they had been dealt with by -- or looked at pretty comprehensively by the station commander at Moorestown. I believe that a directive was issued, and I'm not exactly sure by whom within the Division, that Internal Affairs was to follow up even further on that and conduct an

analysis of the situation, as it related to the issues they had raised and the statistics that had been looked at, at that point.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. I'm going to show you a document, which is-- It has the number -- the page number GC-1718, and we previously marked it as exhibit CW-8. And it's a memo to Major Fedorko, dated October 4th, 1996, on the subject of Internal Affairs recommendations to the patrol issues, concerns at Moorestown Station.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I have that.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. Have you seen this before?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I have.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. I'm going to give everybody an opportunity to find it.

While we do, let me just, again, for clarity-- The Turnpike is divided -- is a particular troop of the State Police, correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, that's accurate.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what troop is that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Troop D.

MR. CHERTOFF: And are there three barracks along the Turnpike that basically cover the north, central, and south part?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir. When going north, you would have had Newark; central, you would have had what was originally New Brunswick -- what is now called Cranbury, since the opening of the new station. And then the southern portion of the Turnpike is patrolled by the Moorestown Barracks.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. Now, the Moorestown Barracks was the subject of the original Gloucester County appeal, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, that's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: And then, when we talked about Perryville, that would be a barracks on I-78. That would be a different troop, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That would be in Troop B, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: So there would be three barracks for Troop D covering the north, central, and south of the Turnpike.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: So this memo here deals with an issue in Moorestown that was separate from the cases that were part of the Gloucester County appeal, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. Would you tell us what you learned about what happened in Moorestown and what the allegations were and how that was dealt with?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that allegations were originally raised by a number of minority troopers at the station. Those individuals had brought their concerns to Sergeant James Smith, who was one of the squad sergeants at the station. He, in turn, had brought that information to Lieutenant Bernie Gilbert, who was the station commander at Moorestown. I believe that Lieutenant Gilbert had conducted an analysis of statistical information that was available in and around that period of time, and also had directed that Sergeant Smith try to collect as much information as he could from the troopers who had raised the issues.

That was put into a package of a report by Lieutenant Gilbert, and I believe he, in turn, forwarded up through his chain of command, ultimately finding its way to Internal Affairs. And I think Internal Affairs -- the bureau there, at the direction of Captain Touw, had done some follow-up inquiries, as far as some additional statistical analysis.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. I understand. As we go through this memo here, I just want to make sure I'm clear. There's a memo here from Captain Touw to Major Fedorko. And underneath that, there's a special report from a Lieutenant Hinkle from Internal Affairs to Captain Touw.

Had you seen this in 1996?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that I did, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And it had certain charts attached to it, as well. Do you remember those?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. Now, what is-- With respect to the breakdown of stops, and again this is focused, at this point, still on the issue of stops--

If you look at the bottom of Page 1466, does it tell you the percentage of minorities stopped and the percentage of whites that are stopped, and then there are some unknowns?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, it does.

MR. CHERTOFF: And again, it was broken down by which -- what the race was of the trooper who made the stop, correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And is it fair to say that as between minority troopers and white troopers, there's not that much of a difference in the percentages?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, several points.

MR. CHERTOFF: But is it also fair to say that as a whole, basically, the whites stopped between 55 and 59 percent, and minorities would generally run around 33 percent, with the rest unknown?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir. That's accurate.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, did you ever see Captain-- Had you previously seen Captain Touw's memo to Major Fedorko?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I have.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. And if you look at the second page, it talks about additional facts established during the Moorestown audit. And the first point says, "The percentage of minorities stopped by both minority and nonminority troopers was dramatically higher than the expert testified to in the Gloucester County trial."

Do you remember seeing that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I do.

MR. CHERTOFF: And then it goes on to say, "The preliminary evaluation," and preliminary is in bold print, "does not support the allegations by minority troopers that nonminority troopers at the Moorestown Station are conducting racially motivated stops."

Do you know on what basis Captain Touw reached that conclusion?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, I don't, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you know whether that's based upon the fact that the relationship between the minority troopers' behavior and the nonminority troopers' behavior was basically the same?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I think it did. That may have had some bearing on his opinion. Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, was this report something that you discussed with Mr. Fahy?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that I did. Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And do you know if he actually got a copy of this?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't recall if I specifically gave Mr. Fahy a copy of this report. I know that it ultimately -- was downtown, but I don't remember the exact vehicle by which it got there.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. You remember discussing it with him.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Is it fair to say that as you understood your assignment, it was to make sure that Mr. Fahy was kept aware of any significant developments in terms of audits or data, things of that sort?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, that's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: And again, you used the phrase earlier, downtown. Is that the -- one of the expressions troopers use to talk about the Attorney General's Office in downtown Trenton?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, I want to go to--

By the way, in this period of time in 1996, did you become aware that there was going to be a meeting at some point between Mr. Fahy and the Hunterdon County prosecutor concerning whether certain cases would need to be dropped because of this challenge based on racial profiling in Hunterdon County?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you attend that meeting?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, I did not.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. Where-- How did you learn about that meeting?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe, after the fact, from Mr. Fahy, and I believe, also, that Captain Touw had attended that meeting.

MR. CHERTOFF: What did Mr. Fahy tell you about the meeting?

SERGEANT GILBERT: My understanding was that a decision had been reached that I believe there were two active cases that were on the docket in Hunterdon County, and that a decision had been reached, through Mr. Fahy's chain of command, that those two cases were going to be-- I believe they were downgraded to lower-level cases, and I believe that they were pled out.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, I want to just make sure, again, we understand the significance of this.

Am I correct that these two cases involved-- The original charges were very serious narcotics charges.

SERGEANT GILBERT: That would be correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you remember if they were first-degree felonies or second degree?

SERGEANT GILBERT: My recollection is that they were first-degree cases.

MR. CHERTOFF: And that again, for those who were uninitiated, that's the most serious kind of felony -- the highest type of felony you can have, right -- first degree?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: So, in order to resolve these challenges on profiling relating to these troopers, it was necessary to really drop them to much less serious charges.

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that was the case. Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Is it fair to say, again, based on your experience, that in the nature of things that would command the attention of people in law enforcement, problems in investigations that require very heavy-duty cases to be dropped down to lower cases-- That's a very big problem.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, it is.

MR. CHERTOFF: And it's something that you would normally expect to command the attention of people responsible for prosecuting and investigating crimes in the State of New Jersey.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And is it fair to say your understanding is that Deputy Attorney General Fahy took this very seriously?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe so. Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did there also come a point in time, again in 1996, that you and Mr. Fahy attended a meeting with the Maryland State Police?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir. We did.

MR. CHERTOFF: And do you remember approximately when that was?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe it would have been in the early fall of 1996.

MR. CHERTOFF: And where was it?

SERGEANT GILBERT: At the Moorestown State Police Barracks on the Turnpike.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you remember how that came about?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Mr. Fahy had called me up, indicated that he had had some communication from representatives of the Maryland State Police and the attorney general's office in Maryland -- being that they were dealing with some parallel issues -- that he had extended an invitation to them to travel to New Jersey to sit down for some discussions. He asked for me to make some logistical arrangements to set up the meeting. And I did so at the Moorestown Barracks.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you attend the meeting?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: What was the purpose of the meeting?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe the purpose of the meeting was for us to get an overview of what the Maryland State Police, in dealing with their ongoing litigation on the issue of profiling, had been dealing with. I

believe conversely, for Mr. Fahy to relate what the experiences were up here so that we could be better prepared for what lay ahead.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, do you remember the meeting?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir. I do.

MR. CHERTOFF: What was discussed at the meeting?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that we received an overview from the Maryland State Police representatives about an overview of their situation which-- There had been challenges raised on the basis of a statistical analysis on the profiling issue on Interstate 95 -- the I-95 corridor, and that they had ultimately gotten involved in a consent decree that was sanctioned by the courts between themselves and the ACLU.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. Now, this was a case that had been brought by the ACLU on behalf of private people against the state of Maryland.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir. That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, when you say consent decree, that's a settlement in which you're, basically, in court. A judge puts an order in effect that, essentially, orders the state police to do certain things.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. So that's generally a fairly serious event for a state police organization to be under a court order.

SERGEANT GILBERT: That would be very serious. Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: In that meeting, do you remember a discussion about the nature of the evidence and the statistics that had led to this settlement and this consent decree?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe there was discussion about what, specifically, had been looked at with regards to the approach that had been taken by the experts that were challenging the Maryland State Police.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what was looked at in Maryland? What was-- What did they tell you had been looked at in the Maryland case?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That while-- In our discussion back and forth, New Jersey's issues, at that time, primarily were based on analysis of search information that-- What had happened in Maryland is that the consent decree down there was primarily driven by a view of search activity.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. Let me-- I want to make sure you didn't misspeak. I think you said New Jersey cases up to that point had been driven by search information.

SERGEANT GILBERT: I'm sorry, by stop data and stop analysis, where the Maryland was more rooted in an analysis of search activity.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. And again, just to make sure it's clear-- So, in the context of the meeting, what you learned from Maryland is that, unlike in New Jersey where the focus was on initial stops, in Maryland the critical information that led to the consent judgment or the consent decree was the proportion of minorities to nonminorities that were subject to searches.

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And as we indicated earlier, in terms of the spectrum of things that troopers do, a search comes after a stop, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, I want to just try to, again, put it in context a little bit, when we talk about the statistics.

Is it fair to say that one of the issues that was continually raised in connection with the Gloucester County case is the difficulty of making a meaningful statistical analysis of stop data, because if you don't have a baseline of the proportion of people who travel the Turnpike, it's hard to know how, out of proportion, the number of stops.

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir. That's why we had concerns with the traffic study that was utilized in Gloucester County and why we had felt it was very important, subsequent to that, that we get, in whatever form we could, a reliable traffic study conducted so that we would have a baseline upon which we would be judging our personnel as to where they stood against that baseline.

MR. CHERTOFF: So one of the efforts in New Jersey was to develop a traffic study that could be used as a baseline to see how disproportionate the stops were, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: But with respect to the search situation, that's different, because you have a baseline with the searches, because you know the -- you should know the race of pretty much everybody that's been stopped. And that's your baseline universe that you can use to compare the number of people stopped who were asked to agree to a search.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: So that whatever the statistical problem is with a stop case and stop statistics, that statistical problem does not apply when you're looking at searches, correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, no, it does not.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. And that's why, from the standpoint of the Maryland case, you understood the significance of the shift in focus away from stops to the focus on searches.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And is it fair to say that that shift became evident to you in approximately the fall of 1996?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, you later, actually, took steps to analyze this more carefully, correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And was that effort begun because you received -- or I guess Captain Brennan gave you some information off the Internet?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir. That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: What was that information?

SERGEANT GILBERT: It was a report which I believe had been generated on the Internet by Dr. John Lamberth, who was the statistician that had conducted the analysis of both the Gloucester County matter, as well as the matter in which Maryland State Police and the ACLU had brokered the agreement down there. And it gave a pretty substantial analysis of the work that he had done, the results that he had generated, and the significance of those results.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, we're going to come back to that in a minute, but do you remember when you would have gotten that information, approximately?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe it was later, probably somewhere in the area of November or December. I think it was relatively late in the year.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. Now, in the meantime in 1996, were there additional meetings of the racial profiling committee?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that there was, sir, but I don't remember the exact date.

MR. CHERTOFF: Well, I'm going to say that there's an October 4th. I'm going to show you what is marked as G-7B as an exhibit. It's OAG-4229. It's an interoffice communication from you to Colonel Williams, dated, as I said, October 11, 1996.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay.

Now, at this meeting, who attended?

SERGEANT GILBERT: According to what I've written, sir, it would have been Lieutenant Colonel Littles, Captain Touw, Captain Brennan, Sergeant First Class Blaker, Detective Reilly, and myself.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right.

Now, at this meeting, Mr. Fahy and Mr. Susswein did not attend.

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, they were not there, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you know why that is?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't know if the Colonel wanted to have a meeting, and they weren't available. I don't really recollect as to why, specifically, they weren't there on that date.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right.

Now, there was discussion there about further training steps?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: At the bottom of the second page, it indicates, "As noted by the attached Internal Affairs Bureau documents, the audit process has proven itself and will aid in identifying troopers whose methods warrant additional scrutiny."

What was the discussion about that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I think that Captain Touw had developed a process which, I believe, would be very responsive to criticisms that we had received in both the Gloucester County case and from other venues about the fact that we didn't have the capabilities to look at overall enforcement patterns. That we were kind of restricted to an individual event, and that in the way that they had utilized this in the Internal Affairs Bureau, that it presented a viable way of addressing that issue as we moved it down the line.

MR. CHERTOFF: And then, going down to the next page, again the third paragraph talks about the reports submitted by Captain Touw concerning Moorestown Station.

Does that make reference to something attached to this memo, which is the previous memo we've seen from Captain Touw to Major Fedorko regarding the Moorestown problem?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, it does.

MR. CHERTOFF: And again, was that discussed at the meeting?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, it was.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was there-- Did you attach to the memo Colonel Williams's reactions or his responses to the various suggestions that Captain Touw had made in response to the Moorestown audit?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay.

Now, we're going to have Colonel Williams later, so he can speak for himself, but is it fair to say that at this meeting it was very clear that there was an audit program under way and that the audit program did produce at least some recommendations about changes in procedure?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you remember whether you communicated the substance of this meeting to Mr. Fahy after the fact?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe, in the course of our regular conversations that we have, I would have, yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: How regularly do you think you talked to Mr. Fahy at this period of time?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I can't put an exact number on it, but I know we were in conversation on a fairly regular basis about the issues that were coming up with regards to the Gloucester County case and the other issues that had been raised in other venues.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay, let me finally end with one last section on this document in your memo.

It says, "A final recommendation would be that the search-and-seizure committee conduct a thorough review of SOP F-55, motor vehicle searches and seizures."

What was SOP F-55?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Basically, if you want to call it the -- at that point, it was the bible -- you would refer to it that way -- of making motor vehicle searches and seizures. Our SOPs delineate the everyday activities of our personnel and would be the primary reference document they would go to if they had a question about those issues.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay.

Now, did there come a point in time in late 1996 you learned that in addition to the *Soto* matter, which was making its way through the courts, there was a Department of Justice in Washington inquiry that had begun regarding racial profiling?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: How did you learn about that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I learned about that on December 24th of 1996 -- Christmas Eve day.

MR. CHERTOFF: And how did you find out about it?

SERGEANT GILBERT: The Colonel had stopped by my office, which was down the hall, and told me we were going to go to a meeting downtown, and I subsequently went with him. And we attended a meeting with Attorney General Verniero.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, that's Christmas Eve, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Is that, fair to say, an unusual time for -- in your experience -- for doing, you know, significant meetings?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Being that I hadn't been to many meetings like that, I assumed that it was, because it was a pretty quiet day.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, up to that point in time, had anybody reached out to you or asked you any questions or told you anything about this Department of Justice inquiry?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, sir, they had not.

MR. CHERTOFF: Would you tell us, when you went down to the meeting on December 24th, where was it held?

SERGEANT GILBERT: In the Office of the Attorney General -- Mr. Verniero's office.

MR. CHERTOFF: And who was present?

SERGEANT GILBERT: My recollection would be that it was Mr. Verniero, Mr. Waugh -- who was his direct assistant -- Mr. Fahy, the Colonel -- that being Colonel Williams -- and myself.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what was the discussion?

SERGEANT GILBERT: We were advised at that point that the Attorney General's Office had in its possession a request for information. That that request for information had been generated out of a meeting that had taken place earlier in the month between Mr. Verniero and several people from the Attorney General's Office who had traveled down to Washington, met with Justice, and that basically was where we had gotten to at that point -- as of December 24th.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, was there any discussion of what information was actually available in that meeting?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't think that meeting itself took a real long time, because, again, it was Christmas Eve day. The Colonel also had to speak to the Attorney General regarding a pending promotion list.

So what I recall is that the meeting was relatively short. We had been given an overview of basically how they had gotten to that point -- that there had been a meeting earlier in the month about these issues -- and that the request for information was what had evolved out of that.

MR. CHERTOFF: Were you given a copy, at some point, of the request for information and asked to help pull this information together?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I was.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay.

I'm going to show you what is previously-- It's actually marked as W-15, and it's OAG-592, which we'll get to you.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: If you look, attached at the end of that at about page--

SENATOR ROBERTSON: What's the date on that document?

MR. CHERTOFF: It's dated January 9, 1997. The cover is to Peter Verniero from Alex Waugh.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: Do we have that?

MR. CHERTOFF: I think it is-- It's January 9th, 1997. It's OAG-592, and it's from -- to Peter Verniero from Alexander Waugh Jr.

SENATOR FURNARI: They're not in sequence.

MR. CHERTOFF: Actually, I'll tell you what we'll use-- While we're looking for that -- it's in a different location-- There's another copy, but it's in a different location.

Why don't we give the witness W-14. It's also marked OAG-577, and it's a memo to John Fahy from Alexander Waugh, dated December 20th, 1996. And that'll have the same thing written on it.

Okay. Now, do you have that in front of you?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, I have both of them, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay.

Attached to the memo of December 20th is a -- something called information request. Is that the document that you were given to develop information for the Department of Justice?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, it was.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay, now I just want to focus on a couple of things. This is a fairly broad request, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, it is.

MR. CHERTOFF: And it talks about-- For example, on the first page, 2-A, documents related to individual traffic stops, which again is the subject of what you had already been looking at in the Gloucester County case, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, that's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: But it also goes on in *B* to ask for data relating to things like issuance of citations and/or searches, seizures, and arrests, correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, you understood that searches and seizures was the subject of the Maryland case which had led to the consent decree, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: So is it fair to say this was a broader request than what the kind of thing you had been dealing with in the *Soto* case?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: The *Soto* case being the Gloucester County case, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay.

So you went about the process of starting to pull this material together. Is that fair to say?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, I want to show you-- I want to show you something that's been marked as F-26, which is a draft letter. It says January 3rd, 1997, and then it looks like it's struck out and it looks like it's either a 7 or a 17, and it's OAG-625. And this is a draft letter to Loretta King, who was then the Deputy Assistant Attorney General of the Civil Rights Division.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir. I have that in front of me.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you have that?

Now, this is an important letter. I wanted you to take a moment to look at it here.

Did you ever see this draft before or a draft like this before?

SERGEANT GILBERT: In my files, I know I have one copy of the draft, but it's not marked up. It's just, I believe, a clean draft -- version of the letter, but not this one specifically.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay.

So you were shown a copy of this without the handwriting on it?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yeah, I believe I received a copy of it from Mr. Fahy at one point.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay.

Now, did you understand Mr. Fahy to be working on this draft letter to go to the Civil Rights Division as part of your response to this inquiry from the Civil Rights Division?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, I want to turn your attention to the next to last couple of pages in the document. I think it's Page 8 on the draft.

Now, it says here, in the typed portion of the draft, "I believe the time has come to spend sufficient resources to develop and conduct a trustworthy violator survey."

And I take it a violator survey is what we've talked about. It's your baseline for stop data.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Both. We believed what we needed -- what we felt was important to have -- was both a study which encompassed both the population and the violator issues, because they were both being raised to a real significant level of importance. But the study, from our perspective, would have to cover both of them.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay.

Now then, there's the following theme written and typed up: "The State Police report to me that the number of stops involving black motorists on the southern portion of the Turnpike, patrolled by troopers assigned to the Moorestown Station, remains near the level reported in the *Soto* case. This figure is also higher than that reported at other State Police stations in this State, including those along the Turnpike.

"It is difficult for me to believe that despite a clear official policy prohibiting racial profiling, and repeated declarations requiring adherence to this policy, that troopers assigned to one station would continue to reject it. This is particularly true since troopers are routinely reassigned to a variety of duties, and the personnel stationed in Moorestown, including supervisors, is fluid. Perhaps the answer lies in factors which can be accounted for in a professional and unbiased violator survey.

"Therefore, I request your patience as New Jersey undertakes a costly and ambitious study of the traffic and violator patterns on the southern portion of the Turnpike."

Now, this information, where it says "the State Police report to me that the number of stops involving black motorists on the southern portion of the Turnpike remains near the level reported in the *Soto* case," is this a reference, as you understood it, to precisely the information that you were developing in the audits -- you and the State Police -- that you were regularly passing on to Mr. Fahy?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir. That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: So is it fair to say when you saw this draft letter, it confirmed in your mind that the Office of the Attorney General was

fully aware of your information on the audits that you were passing along in 1996?

SERGEANT GILBERT: To be fair, sir, I think when I saw the draft letter, that wouldn't have even been an issue that would have entered into my mind as to whether that was a point of contention or not. I don't recall specifically seeing this passage in the draft letter that I have. I'm sure if I read it, I would have just read right through it, because I would have known that to be the fact.

MR. CHERTOFF: Is it fair to say that the issue of whether the State Police was turning this over to the Office of the Attorney General only became a point of contention in 1999, when there was a suggestion that we heard earlier that the State Police were withholding stuff?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That would be correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: But you would agree with me that this passage in the draft prepared by the Office of the Attorney General confirms that the information that was being developed was being passed along?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Without a doubt.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, you see it's been struck off.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Right.

Now, we have evidence in the record that the handwriting in connection with this strike-off is that of the Attorney General.

Did you ever have any discussion with anybody about why this passage was stricken from the letter?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, I have not.

MR. CHERTOFF: I'm showing you what is W-15, which is the next document. It's dated January 9th, OAG-592, which is a subsequent draft.

If you go back to what's Page 5 of that draft -- and I'll give you a minute to get that. And it's OAG-599 -- I'm sorry, 592, at the bottom, to Peter Verniero, from Alexander Waugh, January 9th, 1997.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir. I have that in front of me.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay.

If you look at Page 599, you see there's a paragraph that begins, "my office is in the process of developing a trustworthy violator survey--"

SERGEANT GILBERT: I have to apologize. I'm screwed up here.

Let me--

MR. CHERTOFF: Page 599.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And if you look back at the draft I gave you a moment ago, the handwritten portion says, "my office is in the process of developing a trustworthy violator survey," right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. So you see that in this draft, that handwritten portion has been put in, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And then you see all the reference to the Moorestown figures being high -- all that stricken from this draft, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: And again, did you have any discussion with anybody about why the decision was made not to put that in the letter to the Deputy Assistant Attorney General?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, I did not.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, I also want to show you-- We'll move on now to -- we're now in 1997. There's a memo of January 9th, 1997, OAG-6164, and it's G-12.

And we're going to get that to you to take a look at. And it's from you -- and you're now Sergeant Gilbert.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Congratulations.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Thank you. (laughter)

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you remember this?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I do.

MR. CHERTOFF: And again, was this a report that you did regarding your communications with Deputy Attorney General Fahy regarding collecting the data requested by the Department of Justice?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now there's a handwritten notation, "1/10/97, a.m., spoke to AG Verniero and AAG Waugh, reference to data requested by the Justice Department. At this time same will be restricted to the Turnpike stations at Cranbury and Moorestown."

Do you remember seeing that notation?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I do.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what's your understanding about why that restriction was entered into?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that the Colonel at that point was indicating to me that on that date that he had had some interaction with the Attorney General and Mr. Waugh. The Colonel had had time to digest my report about the logistical concerns that I had had. I assume that he had had some conversation with Mr. Verniero and Mr. Waugh, and that the result of that conversation was the note that he had put on the document.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay.

What were the logistical concerns you had expressed?

SERGEANT GILBERT: With our division, although we're making good strides in that now with the infusion of resources that we've had-- From a computerization standpoint and a record keeping standpoint back in 1996, we were not up to snuff. We were not up to speed with where we should have been at that point.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, I want to move on and ask you-- In early 1997, did Mr. Fahy essentially phase out as your point of contact and you had a new point to contact?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, that's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: And who was that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That would have been Deputy Attorney General George Rover.

MR. CHERTOFF: And during this period of time, which is early 1997 -- the period of January and February -- in addition to arranging to collect information for the Civil Rights Division of the Department of Justice,

did you also take the information you had received from the Internet about the Maryland State Police numbers and correlate that with the New Jersey numbers to come up with an analysis of New Jersey's exposure on the issue of consent to search as opposed to the issue of stops?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: At whose direction did you do that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't know if I did it at anybody's direction. I just felt at that point that it was in my assignment to look at this and try and give the Colonel, my chain of command, and the people downtown a heads-up as to what was there. It seemed like an obvious way to go.

And I looked at the figures from Maryland and the figures that we had and put them together and then reported them up through my chain of command.

MR. CHERTOFF: By the way, before I forget, we passed a couple of dates by. If we could just put December 24th up -- 1996 -- and I think January 9th, 1997, as significant dates.

I want to establish a time frame within which you did this analysis regarding the Maryland State Police. I'm going to show you a single page. It was marked exhibit CW-10. It's a memo dated February 26th, 1997, from Colonel Williams, and it's got SP-37040 on the bottom. And it makes reference to this Maryland State Police study and the settlement agreement.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: What is it again?

MR. CHERTOFF: It's February 26th, 1997, and it's SP-37040. Do you have a copy of this?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No. I'm sorry, I don't. I'm going to need a copy of that.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. We're going to get you a copy of that. And really the relevance of this is to help you. Does this establish a time frame--

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: --by which you would have prepared your analysis of the comparison between the Maryland State Police and New Jersey?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, let's get to that analysis, and it's a document which I think we're going to see a lot of. It's OAG-6225, G-13, and it's a memo to you, without a date, to Colonel Williams regarding Justice Department inquiry.

Do you have that in front of you?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No. I know which--

MR. CHERTOFF: We're about to get it for you. And I want to make sure everybody has it.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: Dated?

MR. CHERTOFF: It's undated.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: It's undated.

MR. CHERTOFF: It's plain white paper, G-225, like this.

Now, do you have that in front of you?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I do.

MR. CHERTOFF: And we're going to wait until everybody gets it, because this is one of those things we're going to spend a time, I think, coming back to from time to time.

SENATOR ZANE: What are some of the numbers on the bottom, again?

MR. CHERTOFF: I beg your pardon?

SENATOR ZANE: Some of the numbers on the bottom?

MR. CHERTOFF: It's G-225, OAG-- I'm sorry, OAG-6225.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: Just for the record, Mr. Chairman, so everybody understands, we've been provided with binders that are roughly in chronological order and aren't separated by virtue of witness and aren't serially numbered from beginning to end. So it makes it a little difficult for us to find things.

MR. CHERTOFF: I think this is--

SENATOR ROBERTSON: So, if people are wondering why we keep searching, that's really why.

MR. CHERTOFF: And I think this is in February, more or less.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: This is an undated thing, that may or may not be in the chronology?

SENATOR GORMLEY: That's why we're going to spend a lot of time on this.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: Right. So I just want to make sure I have a copy, and I'm not sure where to find it since it's undated.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Yes. Well, we're having extra copies made right now.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: Good.

SENATOR CAFIERO: Mr. Chairman, do you think we could identify Volume *A* and *B*? These two volumes -- *A* and *B* -- because some of them are in *A* and some are in *B*.

MR. CHERTOFF: This is Volume *A*, and it's about midway -- maybe about 60 percent through the volume. And if it helps, it's right after a document dated January 17th, 1997, which is the final letter to Loretta King from Peter Verniero.

SENATOR CAFIERO: Do these go by date?

SENATOR GORMLEY: There's no date on it, that's the problem.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: It's an undated memo.

SENATOR GORMLEY: That's why we're going to ask the questions.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay.

I want to direct your attention to this, and there's actually a couple parts to this memo. Let me go back first to Page 2.

You had indicated earlier in 1996 that you had said in, I believe it was the April 12th, 1996 meeting with Mr. Fahy and Mr. Susswein, that you were going to do an analysis of the 19 troopers who were the subject of the Gloucester County case -- the *Soto* case, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And are your results for this -- for this analysis -- contained in this memo that's undated, that you sent up to Colonel Williams?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. Now, first of all, why did you send a memo -- an undated memo -- on this format as opposed to the usual official stationery?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I've been asked that question several times. I really don't have an answer. I wanted to get the information to him. I did that. I don't really have an answer as to why it's in there. There's a couple of other things I did that were undated also that we've had to try to correlate like we did with this one. It's just something I neglected to do.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay.

On the second page, your analysis, you said -- I think you say here, "As you've seen in Lamberth's study of Maryland State Police data, he looked at the activity of individual troopers. Although I cannot presently give you complete data on any one trooper, here are some examples which are not promising."

And then you talk about the arrest stats of the troopers whose cases were involved in Gloucester County, and you say, "Minority arrest percentages for those troopers were 63 percent, 80 percent, 79 percent, 84 percent, 100 percent, 90 percent, 84 percent, 92 percent."

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: And you said, "I think it's clear our complete numbers are probably on a par with those generated by the Maryland State Police." And then on the next page you say, "At this point, we are in a very bad spot."

Now let me ask you this: Had you previously communicated the substance of this information to Mr. Fahy about your review of the individual troopers at Moorestown and what their arrest statistics were?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That I had, but not the search activity yet -- at that point.

MR. CHERTOFF: Yet. I know. Not the search activity, but the arrest activity.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I had.

MR. CHERTOFF: You had communicated that.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Is it fair to say that it's your recollection that in fact, at a point in time-- Well, first of all, you had told Mr. Fahy as of the May 16th meeting that this analysis of arrest activity by the Gloucester County troopers was already complete.

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that I did by what I wrote. Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay.

And then, of course, you told them what the results were, that they were not good?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: In fact, is it the case that as a consequence -- as far as you know -- as a consequence of your discussion with Mr. Fahy that the State actually dropped defending the case with respect to one of the troopers because there was a concern about the numbers with the troopers?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't believe it was a concern about the numbers. There was some other issues with that individual trooper. He had since departed from the organization, and I felt on that-- I think that on that basis, the decision was made that his cases would not be carried forth in the appeal.

MR. CHERTOFF: But at the very least, you were involved in ongoing discussion with Mr. Fahy about what cases were going to be carried forward on the appeal, and in connection with that, you would have told him about these arrest figures.

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you actually remember showing him this actual memo?

SERGEANT GILBERT: This memo that we have here?

MR. CHERTOFF: Right.

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, I do not, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, let me go back to the first part of the memo.

In the first part of the memo you indicated, did you not, that you had done a comparison of search data -- not stop or arrest data -- search data in New Jersey and compared it with Maryland.

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: And was your conclusion that the New Jersey data was on a par with the Maryland data?

SERGEANT GILBERT: It was just about even up. Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: So that, for example, the Maryland data showed 80 percent minority and 72.9 percent search -- 80 percent minority and 72.9 percent Black individuals who were searched -- and that was the basis for the consent decree, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And in Moorestown during the period that you explored, which was January to April and December '94, and July to December '96, you had 89 percent searches minority and 67 percent Black. And at Cranbury it was 94 percent minority and 69 percent Black for the first three months of '94 and then for the last six months of '96, 79 percent minority and 55 percent Black, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's accurate, yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And is it fair to say that you also, at some point, handwrote additional analysis from the Newark Barracks, and that also showed approximately 70 percent minority?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, did you convey this information--
First of all, let me ask you, did you show this memo to Mr. Fahy or Mr. Rover?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, I did not.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you convey the information about the consents to search to Mr. Fahy or to Mr. Rover?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe at that point that my point of contact was Mr. Rover, so I had direct conversation with him on these issues.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay, well let me ask you first, do you know whether Mr. Fahy -- at a point in time -- knew about-- He knew about the arrest data, correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you know whether he knew about the consent to search data?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I know that as of May 20th of 1997 he did, but I can't state for a fact whether before that he did or not.

MR. CHERTOFF: And you know that because of the meeting that took place on May 20th?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: With respect to Mr. Rover -- Mr. Rover was your point of contact in February of '97.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: At that point in time, when you developed this, did you orally convey to him the information -- the statistical comparison you had done between the Maryland data and the New Jersey data as it relates to consent to search?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir. I had been ordered to do that.

MR. CHERTOFF: Who ordered you to do that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: The superintendent.

MR. CHERTOFF: Personally?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: And did you carry out that order?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: And you have a recollection of talking to Mr. Rover?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, I do.

MR. CHERTOFF: Is there any doubt in your mind you conveyed this to him?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Absolutely not.

MR. CHERTOFF: What did you say to him and what did he say to you as best as you can remember?

SERGEANT GILBERT: After I had done the comparison of the numbers-- One of the first things that had happened, because you had also put -- not to go out of order, but CW-10, the interoffice communication I had done -- that was one of the steps when I had gone to Sergeant Blaker, briefed him, and then we went to the superintendent, that gave rise to CW-10 -- which you have here -- as far as putting the information out to our road personnel, because it was very critical information.

And subsequent to that, the Colonel had directed me to make sure that I had gotten in touch with Mr. Rover and laid all this information out to him in full, because we felt it was a very significant development.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was this-- Did you give this information to Mr. Rover by telephone or in person?

SERGEANT GILBERT: By telephone, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was that your regular practice to talk to him by phone as opposed to having meetings?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Most of the time, because he was situated in ABC at that point, an office down in Trenton, and we were up in West

Trenton, so the easiest way for me to communicate with him in a quick nature would be to pick up the telephone and converse back and forth.

MR. CHERTOFF: And would you tell us, as best as you can remember, the conversations you had with Mr. Rover, when you conveyed this information?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I remember telling Mr. Rover that with respect to our search activity, our post-stop activity, that we were on a direct par with the state of Maryland, regarding the Maryland State Police, and that that information, I believed, was going to be critical and was going to be a focal point of where we were going.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what did he say?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe at that point that he had some concerns about those figures. We had discussions about making sure that everybody in both chains of command were aware of that information.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, let's talk about both chains of command, so let's be clear. You had a chain of command whereby you would go up to the superintendent, through your various supervisors, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And then there was an alternative chain of command, or chain of information, where you would talk to Mr. Rover, and he would assure that he would take it up through his chain of command?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, that's accurate.

MR. CHERTOFF: So you had both of those chains of command, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And you reported it up to the superintendent. You also reported it to Mr. Rover?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Sometimes, would you directly report to Williams, in fact, without going to your supervisors?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Sometimes, yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did Mr. -- again, in the context of your conversation with Mr. Rover, was it clear to you, or did you understand that he recognized the significance of this development in terms of consent to searches?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I do.

MR. CHERTOFF: And did you also have discussion with Mr. Rover, either then or at other points in time, that this -- that these statistics indicated that the consent to search issue was one of particular vulnerability for the State Police, as opposed to stops?

SERGEANT GILBERT: From a perceptual standpoint, yes, that these numbers were going to be problematic.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. Now, also, I just want to go through the rest of this memo -- this undated memo. On the third page, you say at the beginning: "At this point, we're in a very bad spot. Through the Gloucester County case, the Illinois State Police investigation, and the Maryland State Police study settlement, the Justice Department has a very good understanding of how we operate and what type of numbers they can get their hands on to prove their position.

“I still believe the traffic studies in both New Jersey and Maryland were flawed, because they didn’t encompass the majority of night hours. However, even if we can get any type of positive results out of a new study, the gains we might achieve will still be overshadowed by the search percentages.

“Our opponents already know this. The Maryland decree skips over initial stop data in favor of focusing on those stops which involved a search.”

Now, am I correct in understanding what you’re saying to be this? In the past, we’ve argued about -- we meaning the State Police and the Attorney General’s Office -- have argued that the stop figures are not a good basis to rely upon, because it’s difficult to get a baseline. But everybody now understands that you can skip over the stops and deal with the search figures, and that’s a much more powerful statistical argument than the stop figures.

SERGEANT GILBERT: That’s correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what you were expressing here was the recognition that the Justice Department would probably figure out, from the Maryland case, that they ought to move the focus away from stops and on to searches as a much more powerful way of getting into this issue.

SERGEANT GILBERT: That’s correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you convey this concept, or did this concept come up in discussion with Mr. Rover?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, it did.

MR. CHERTOFF: And, of course, that insight was also something you learned when you had your meeting with Mr. Fahy, with the Maryland State Police in 1996.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, that's accurate.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, did you also, in your -- in the end of this memo -- indicate some thoughts concerning entering into an agreement with the Justice Department? And you talked about, for example, you could try to forestall being forced into an agreement if we proactively set up a database and get out in front of the issue.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, that's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay, what did you mean by that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I just felt we were at the point with -- where we were moving with our computer aided dispatch system, where we were moving with the volatility of the issue that was out there, that this is something that we should do so that we could get a handle on things before somebody's coming in from the outside and pointing it out to us. I thought it would be better if we could develop that information ourselves, look at it, do any internal remediation that needed to be done. And I just felt that that -- being that we had gotten to that point, to look into the future. That was the most prudent course of action we could have undertaken.

MR. CHERTOFF: And the idea was, because the historical data would have a "bad taste," it would be better to focus on showing the Department of Justice that you were going forward with good statistical analyses and cleaning up your act. Is that kind of fair to say?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, you also talked about being very proactive in training of troopers, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you indicate also that the State Police study and settlement should be communicated to troopers so that they would understand that this issue of searches was a big issue that they would have to be focused upon?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I did. That's what gave rise to the other IOC that went out on February 26th.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, going back to your having read the interim report, which was issued in '99, do you know whether your recommendations in this memo were ultimately included in the interim report, two years later?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that some of them might be, but I'm not absolutely sure.

MR. CHERTOFF: Well, we'll do that comparison a little bit later. Did you discuss these general recommendations with Mr. Rover?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, I did, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, I want to show you a letter or a memo dated April 22nd. I'm sorry, it's a cover sheet marked April 23rd. It's OAG-865. We're going to help everybody get that. And just for the record, it's W-27 -- OAG-865. It's a memo from the desk of Alexander Waugh, dated 4/23/97, to P.V. And it has attached to it a letter or a memorandum from George Rover to Alexander Waugh and Jack Fahy.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir. I have that in front of me.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. We're going to let everybody get that. It's dated April 23rd, 1997.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Okay, does everybody have it?

MR. CHERTOFF: While we're waiting, let me just go back for one last thing with this undated memo. I mean, is it fair to say that the bottom line in this memo is -- you could almost characterize it as explosive. Is that fair to say?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe I was just trying to relate what I had found up to that point, up my chain of command, through my supervisors.

MR. CHERTOFF: But you'd agree with me that certainly as it relates to the consent to search stuff, clearly focuses on that as a very significant area of exposure for the State Police?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And that's what you communicated to Mr. Rover?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. Now, once everybody gets the letter, I'm going to ask you to direct your attention to Page 6 of that letter. And actually, let me just, in fairness to you, you have been asked in the deposition, at Page 218, about this memo, whether you thought the information in it was pretty explosive. And I think you said, "I believed it would be characterized that way." Is that -- as a matter of personal opinion, is that a fair statement?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, it is.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. If you turn to Page 6 of this memo, this is a memo which the record indicates, from the deposition, it was prepared by Mr. Rover to Mr. Waugh, and Mr. Waugh eventually sent it to Mr. Verniero -- Attorney General Verniero. And at Page 6 there's a discussion, Mr. Rover,

that begins: “A second, unrelated issue involves NJSP consent to search data.” Now, let me ask you first, did you see this letter, or this memo, before it was sent out?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, I did not.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. I want to take you through the next page, and I’m going to ask you whether the discussion in the page reflects the kind of things you’ve told us you had discussed with Mr. Rover in the last 10 minutes of your testimony, okay?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. He goes on to say -- Mr. Rover does: “I’m anticipating that U.S. DOJ, while expressing interest in State Police traffic stop data, is more interested in the consent to search data. As you know, State Police requires that any driver that agrees to allow an officer to search his vehicle, must sign a written form. These forms are retained by State Police. Conceptually, I believe this information does not relate to the issue being examined by U.S. DOJ, since it addresses post-stop, law enforcement activity.

“Why, then, do I believe U.S. DOJ is interested in this data? I anticipate U.S. DOJ will attempt to follow the same course of action pursued by plaintiffs in the Maryland case, the use of consent to search statistics as evidence of selective prosecution.”

Now, isn’t this the same concept that you had in your undated memo?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, it is.

MR. CHERTOFF: And isn’t this what you had told Mr. Rover in your discussion with him?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, it is.

MR. CHERTOFF: So is it fair to say what you communicated to Mr. Rover is, in fact, incorporated in his memo to Mr. Waugh, and ultimately, to the Attorney General?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Then it goes on to say, "In the Maryland action, the plaintiffs successfully argued that the percentage of minorities subjected to consent searches supported a finding that the Maryland State Police engaged in selective prosecution. As a result of this finding, the MSP and a group of plaintiffs entered into a consent order."

Again, isn't that the gist of what you communicated to Mr. Rover in your discussion with him, based on your undated memo?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, it is.

MR. CHERTOFF: And then it goes on to say, at the bottom of that paragraph, "What is very troubling is that the basis for the entry of the consent order was the fact that MSP requested consent to searches from what the plaintiffs claimed was a high percentage of minorities."

And again, that is information that you had conveyed?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now I want to be -- I also put this in context. It says, at the bottom of the page, Mr. Rover says, "It's my opinion that these figures are irrelevant to the inquiry of whether law enforcement officers are engaging in selective prosecution."

Now, had you had discussion with Mr. Rover about what conclusions could be drawn from the consent to search figures?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I think that we both had the same opinion, that the numbers from a purely statistical viewpoint, that if not permitted the opportunity to have the individual troopers explain their actions, that these numbers could become problematic with respect to how they were perceived and how they would be used in litigation.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay, so it's fair to say that although the numbers in the consent to search are very significant in terms of raising a red flag about disparate treatment, it still is not the end of the story, because to really finish up the job, you'd have to actually look at the cases and talk to the troopers and figure out why they made their decisions.

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: So it would be fair to say that the consent to search numbers would be a first step to raising a red flag, but to do a proper job, someone would have to go out and actually look at the underlying data.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: I want to jump ahead and ask you, at any point in time, from the time you first raised this issue in '96 up through 1999 -- March of 1999 -- did anybody ever say to you, "You know what, let's take this consent to search data to the next level, and let's actually go out and look at the cases and interview the troopers and examine the files and see whether, in fact, there is a problem or not?"

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, that did not happen, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: So is it fair to say, in the vernacular, the red flag was raised, but nobody ever said, "Let's take the flag someplace and see where it goes?"

SERGEANT GILBERT: I think we had discussions about moving forward. We realized this was a significant issue, but we didn't take the exact steps you just asked me about. No, we did not put those steps into place.

MR. CHERTOFF: Were those steps discussed?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe, later on, once Colonel Dunlop had gotten involved with the process, as we moved, post the shooting, I believe that that was an issue that was raised, and resources were allocated to initiate those steps you just talked about.

MR. CHERTOFF: And that was Colonel Dunlop that did that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did Mr. Rover or anybody from the Attorney General's Office ever get back to you and say, "We'd like you to compile information on the underlying cases for the consent to search data so we could take a look at what actually is involved in the cases?"

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. And you didn't see this memo or this letter of -- memo of April 22nd?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, sir, I didn't.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, in response to your conversation with Mr. Rover about the issue of the consent to search, is it fair to say the next thing that happened is you learned you were going to a meeting at the Attorney General's Office on May 20th, 1997?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, that's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: And was that the second time you had been in the Attorney General's Office in connection with racial profiling?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Had you ever previously, other than these two instances, been at the Attorney General's Office for a meeting with the Attorney General?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, sir, I had not.

MR. CHERTOFF: Were you ever at the Attorney General's Office after May 20th for a meeting with the Attorney General?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, I was not.

MR. CHERTOFF: So these are the only two in your life, it's fair to say?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: So they'd be pretty memorable?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did there come a point in time, in advance of the meeting, that you got an agenda or an interoffice memo that set forth the agenda for the meeting?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Mr. Rover had faxed me over a copy of the agenda for the meeting.

MR. CHERTOFF: I'm going to show you what has been marked as W-29. And it's actually an interoffice memo -- it's got a fax line dated May 20th, 1997, and it has at the bottom, GC-2210.

SENATOR GORMLEY: And the rest of the Committee.

MR. CHERTOFF: And we'll make sure everybody has it?

SENATOR GORMLEY: The rest of the Committee has it.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you have this agenda in front of you?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I do.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay, now forgetting the writing -- the handwriting -- do you remember getting this?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I do.

MR. CHERTOFF: And I take it you got it so you could prepare to come to the meeting, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: What was the reason you understood you were being invited to the meeting?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Because I was the primary point of contact with the State Police, and that I had been involved in generating statistics.

MR. CHERTOFF: And in particular there's a bullet point here that says, "Production of consent to search documents, Maryland case, proper characterization of documents." Does this correlate to what we saw in Mr. Rover's memo where he had raised that as an issue to Mr. Waugh?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now tell us, when you came to the meeting, where was it?

SERGEANT GILBERT: It was in the Office of the Attorney General, in Mr. Verniero's office.

MR. CHERTOFF: And who was present?

SERGEANT GILBERT: The Attorney General, Mr. Waugh, Mr. Rover, Mr. Fahy, and then from State Police, I had accompanied Colonel

Williams, and I believe Dave Blaker was still a sergeant first class at that point. He also attended the meeting.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what was the discussion at the meeting?

SERGEANT GILBERT: My recollection of the meeting is that we discussed the bullet points that are on the agenda. There was discussion about how we had parallel statistics through the Maryland State Police as they related to search activity. I believe I had spoke a short time on that. And basically where do we go from here.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. Now, let me direct your -- let me focus you more specifically on the agenda items. Do you remember there being discussion of the U.S. Department of Justice inquiry status and strategy -- the first two bullet points?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I remember that there was discussion about the need -- there was a very critical need for the traffic study to be looked at and to come up with some formulation -- or a decision had to be made as far as how we were going to do that and when we were going to get that done and initiated.

MR. CHERTOFF: Who did most of the talking with respect to that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't recall specifically who spoke the most on each of the issues.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, with respect to production of consent to search documents, did you actually hand out your undated memo at the meeting?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, I did not.

MR. CHERTOFF: What did you say concerning the content of that memo at the meeting?

SERGEANT GILBERT: My recollection is that I made it clear to everybody that we were even -- even up with Maryland as far as our statistics with consent to search. We were basically -- had parallel statistics to those statistics that we had seen generated by the Maryland State Police.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, from the questions that you received at the meeting, or the conversation, was it your understanding that anybody at the meeting was unfamiliar with the significance of the consent to search statistics?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, that was not my impression at all.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did anybody say, "Can you explain what you mean by consent to search statistics," or what the significance is?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Not that I recall.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was it your understanding -- did anybody ask you about specific numbers, or did you give specific numbers?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't believe so.

MR. CHERTOFF: But is it -- and this, I have to tell you, is of great importance. Are you absolutely confident that you made it clear to the people assembled in the meeting that the consent to search statistics for the New Jersey State Police were on a par with the Maryland State Police statistics that had led to the consent decree?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Absolutely certain.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did anybody express surprise about that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Not that I recall.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did anybody express concern about that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe there was some concern raised, yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: What was the concern that was expressed, and who expressed it?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't recall specifically who said what, but I think that we had concerns when we went down there as far as the implications on the State Police. And I believe as a general concern that was voiced at the meeting was basically what ramifications were that statistical analysis that I had done going to have on future litigation.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was there any discussion about whether there should be resistance to turning over the consent to search data or an attempt to negotiate with the Department of Justice so that that wouldn't have to be turned over?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe there was discussion about were we ultimately going to end up with a consent decree, but I'm not sure -- parcelling that out, as far as what you just asked, I don't recall the specific nuts and bolts of the conversation from that angle.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was there concern about ultimately ending up with a consent decree? Was that concern voiced by the State Police?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, it was.

MR. CHERTOFF: And was that as part of the conversation about the comparison between the Maryland figures and the New Jersey figures?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, it was.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was there a response by anybody in the room to that concern about whether New Jersey would ultimately enter into a consent decree?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: What was the response, and who voiced it?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I remember that the Attorney General had voiced some very strong concerns that -- or made a very strong statement that we were not going to enter into a consent decree.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you remember what the statement was?

SERGEANT GILBERT: My recollection was that he made a very strong comment that we weren't going to do it. Ultimately, later I had found a copy of this agenda, which has some handwriting on it, which had refreshed my memory as to what exactly had been said.

MR. CHERTOFF: What's your refreshed memory about what he said?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Placing reliance on a notation that had been made by Dave Blaker, subsequent to the meeting, he had written on his copy of this agenda that the AG advised he would not consent to signing a consent decree. And he then quoted the Attorney General, saying, "They'd have to tie me to a train and drag me along the track before I'd sign a decree."

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, was there also discussion about -- in this meeting -- about the fact that there were conflicting messages, or perception of conflicting messages from Washington, on the one hand, emphasis on drug interdiction, and on the other hand this concern, or this inquiry from the Civil Rights Division?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, there was.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what was the discussion about that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: We, as the State Police, felt that in looking at this issue historically, that there had been a lot of encouragement, a lot of pressure exerted from the Federal level to engage in highway interdiction, because it was part of a nationwide drug strategy. The New Jersey State Police had accepted that mission, had been tasked with doing that through both those directives from the Federal government, as well as the Statewide Narcotics Action Plan. However, we were asking our troopers to go out and do a job which -- obviously, highway interdiction was becoming a more volatile issue as time went on. And the real prime issue was, is this something that we should continue to do if we're putting our troopers at risk as far as getting these conflicting messages -- encouraging them on one hand to go out and do highway interdiction, then when the results come in for the collateral criticism that would come forth, was that a worthwhile endeavor, and was that fair to our people. And we broached that at the meeting.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was there discussion about anybody taking any steps to go to Washington to talk about this conflict in signals?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, there was.

MR. CHERTOFF: What was that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Mr. Verniero had indicated that he understood the position that we were taking. He indicated that he felt that he had the opportunity to revisit Washington, arrange a face-to-face meeting with then Attorney General Reno, and address our concerns and try and get clarification on exactly where we should be going from that point forward.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you know if that ever happened, to your knowledge?

SERGEANT GILBERT: To my knowledge, I don't think that it did.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, in this -- in this discussion, was there a point in time that anybody asked Colonel Williams, point blank, is there racial profiling going on?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Not that I recall.

MR. CHERTOFF: In the meeting -- let me withdraw the question. What you've testified to thus far is that the meeting is principally dealing with the litigation strategy with Washington. Was there any point in the meeting that somebody turned to anybody -- the Colonel or anybody else -- and said, "Look, putting aside the litigation, do we actually have a problem, and what do we need to do to find out the answer?"

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't believe so.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did anybody at the meeting say anything to the effect of: "Look, if there's a question about the significance of the consent to search data, go out and look at the actual cases and come back and report as to whether, in fact, these are justifiable cases or bad cases?"

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, we weren't directed to do that.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was there any discussion in the meeting about taking any management steps, going forward, to try to address the problem in terms of curing it in the future?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't believe so.

MR. CHERTOFF: When you left the meeting, who did you leave the meeting with?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Colonel Williams and Sergeant Blaker.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was there any expression on their part or on your part of a reaction to what had happened at the meeting?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I think at that point that we were somewhat pleased, because we felt, again, because of the contradiction in messages that we were receiving, that we had some preliminary information in hand that we were concerned about. But we felt that further, this had to be addressed a lot further and go into it a lot further in depth. But we were pleased that the Attorney General had taken a posture of trying to clarify this. Because, again, with this, the contradictory messages that we were receiving, I believe that the Colonel was very concerned what he was supposed to tell the personnel under his command, and I think felt pretty positive that the Attorney General had taken the approach, "Well, let me go down to Washington and address this," you know, "basically at the source. And let's try and get to the bottom of it and see where we go from here."

So I think from that perspective the superintendent was pleased, and I was pleased, to have heard the Attorney General say that.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was there any just, you know -- let me just try and stand back for a second. Am I basically right that the conversation here-- I mean, the State Police goes in and there's a concern that based on the consent to search numbers and the other information, that the Attorney General's Office might conclude that they better strike a deal with the

Department of Justice, because it would be tough to litigate the case. Is that a fair statement about what you and the State Police were worried about?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that was one of our concerns, yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And is it fair to say you left the meeting with an understanding that wasn't going to happen -- there wasn't going to be any deal?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: But the other piece I want to get to is, at some point, did anybody turn in the meeting and say, "Look, putting aside negotiations and lawyering, and now acting as managers and supervisors, we have all this audit information -- we have this stuff with the numbers, what do we need to do to see if there's a real problem or not?"

SERGEANT GILBERT: Not that I recall being discussed at the meeting, no.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was there any discussion in the meeting about things that you were suggesting about things that could improve the problem going forward?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't believe so.

MR. CHERTOFF: Is there anything you remember at the meeting that I haven't covered or that you haven't told us here?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Memorable meeting?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Particularly now, I bet.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: I mean, is it fair to say this came up later, because just to kind of be blunt, there's a point in time in 1999 -- in March, 1999 that you come to learn that there's a suggestion coming from some quarters of the Department of Law and Public Safety that the State Police somehow had not conveyed this information previously, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: And in March of 1999, you actually came down with a book that you had kept -- a notebook you had kept, which contained audit information and other information, including this undated document we've talked about, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir. Mr. Rover had called me up approximately a week before we had had that meeting and indicated to me that Mr. Zoubek wanted to see the statistics that I had. And a meeting was arranged for me to go down, and when I went down to that meeting, I was accompanied by Colonel Dunlop. And we went down to that meeting based upon Mr. Rover's request, on behalf of Mr. Zoubek. I went down with the documentation, and I presented it at that point.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what was Mr. Zoubek's reaction at that point in time?

SERGEANT GILBERT: At that point in time, I don't believe he had any. It was just a matter of transferring that information over. I made a duplicate copy of the -- I had a blue binder, and I made a copy of what was in the blue binder, and I gave that to Mr. Zoubek at that point.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you later learn that he had had a reaction -- Mr. Zoubek had had a reaction to that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: How did you learn that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe within several days -- I believe he had taken the information home and had it -- and again, this was recounted to me by Colonel Dunlop and Colonel Fedorko -- that Mr. Zoubek had had a chance to read the information that was contained therein, and that he was very distressed about some of the statistics that was contained in the notebook.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, was it your understanding that Mr. Zoubek -- well, let me step back and be fair to Mr. Zoubek. Mr. Zoubek was not around. You weren't dealing with Mr. Zoubek in 1997 and 1998, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, the day that I went to turn the notebook over was the first day I had actually had any contact or met with Mr. Zoubek.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was it your understanding, though, after you turned the notebook over in March of 1999, that Mr. Zoubek was conveyed the impression that somehow this information had been withheld from the Attorney General's Office?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe at that point in time that that was his belief.

MR. CHERTOFF: And you were adamant that you had turned over at least the substance of the information on a regular basis, as you developed it yourself, from '96 going forward?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And in particular as it related to this meeting on May 20th, did you have conversation with Colonel Dunlop about whether you had communicated information about these figures in the meeting of May 20th?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Tell us about that.

SERGEANT GILBERT: After Mr. Zoubek had had conversation with both Colonel Fedorko and Colonel Dunlop, I had further occasion to speak with Colonel Dunlop about the ongoing interaction I had with the people from the Attorney General's Office. I explained to him specifically about the meeting that we had gone to in May of 1997 because of the fact that one of the issues that had been raised from Mr. Zoubek to Colonel Dunlop was about the fact that our numbers, compared to Maryland, were actually the same or even worse. And I had become somewhat confused over that, knowing that I had been at the meeting in May of 1997, and knew it was there. So I related the particulars of that meeting to Colonel Dunlop. He, in turn, had telephonic conversation with Mr. Zoubek, reference that.

MR. CHERTOFF: So what basically happens is, you hear from Colonel Dunlop in March or so of 1999 that Mr. Zoubek is expressing surprise about this Maryland -- and the relationship between the Maryland numbers and the New Jersey numbers. And your reaction is, "Why is he surprised? I told him this-- I told people at the Attorney General's Office this over two years ago."

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And you told that to Colonel Dunlop to relay back to Mr. Zoubek?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And is it fair to say that you subsequently became aware of this issue about whether this information was withheld -- was the subject of debate, even in terms of the passage from the interim report that I read you when you started testifying?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And you are-- I really want to give you this opportunity, I guess, to publicly, you know, defend yourself or put yourself on record with respect to this. You have no doubt that, with respect to any material facts as it related to these numbers and these comparisons, that you consistently conveyed that stuff to the Attorney General's Office, including conveying the substance of the comparison between Maryland and New Jersey in that May 20th meeting in the Attorney General's Office?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No. I feel I had both personal and professional obligations to the people I was dealing with. I think I did a good job of conveying the information. I think that's borne out by the record and the testimony of the other people that have been brought before the Committee, and I don't really feel I need to go too much further into that at this point.

MR. CHERTOFF: And on May 20th, you talked about this comparison between Maryland and New Jersey at the meeting in the Attorney General's Office?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, I just want to move-- We're almost done. I just want to move a little bit further. After this meeting of May 20th, you continue to-- You were directed to continue to accumulate statistical information about stops, arrests, and consents to search at the Turnpike and Moorestown and Cranbury barracks, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what was the reason for that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: We were going to have ongoing contact with the Justice Department. And again, looking back, looking forward, we had chosen -- or I should say we had chosen -- but it had been agreed upon to focus on a number of sample dates during the preceding couple of years, and in doing that, segmenting out some of the activity reports, including consent to search reports and probable cause searches for those sample dates, knowing that the sample dates were going to be, you know, a primary focus of the interaction. I had felt it was prudent to try and get a handle on what the statistics for those specific sample dates reflected.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. Now again, I want to just also put it in context. When we've talked about statistics in the Gloucester County case or the ones from Moorestown, we're talking about different periods of time. The Gloucester County case is -- really involves statistics from late '80s to '91, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe, yeah, it's 1988 to 1991.

MR. CHERTOFF: So that was very stale information by the time we come to 1996, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Then when you were accumulating information about Moorestown and Perryville, that was really the '95, '96 time frame, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And then now we're talking about moving forward. It's still 1995 and '96, and ultimately going forward further than that, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. Let me show you G-25 and G-21, two exhibits. One is GC-2172, and one is GC-2300, and let's make sure everybody has it. One is dated-- One is to Colonel Williams, from you, through Lieutenant Blaker, 7/10/97, and the other is just dated motor vehicle stop rate data information, Troop D, randomly selected dates in 1995.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. We'll get those to you.

I think we're-- Let me get you first to this G-25, which is GC-2172. This is a memo to Colonel Williams, from you, through Lieutenant Blaker, re: DOJ inquiry 7/10/97. Now, let me put the context for this. As part of the negotiations with respect to the Department of Justice, is it fair to say that you had communicated to your superiors that, because of the condition of the records, it would be very hard to pull together comprehensive data for '95 and '96 without enormous manpower and time?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, that's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: So, ultimately, you came to learn that the Department of Justice in Washington agreed with this State, that they would pick 30 days in '95 and '96, and you'd pull the analysis for those days, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And you put together a report for Colonel Williams that basically set out what you found for those 30 sample days, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And again, is it fair to say it was not from the standpoint of the State's position in the litigation, not a pretty picture?

SERGEANT GILBERT: The numbers were somewhat problematic on face value.

MR. CHERTOFF: And again, if we look at this, it says, for example, consents of 38 total files that 82 percent of the people asked to search were minority?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Of probable cause searches where there's negative results, 89 percent of the nine files that were probable cause searches with negative results were Black?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And with respect to arrests, it was 84 percent minority, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And you compared those to Maryland, and the numbers were more disproportionate or equally disproportionate to Maryland, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And then you followed up with another page covering the same -- covering the period from 1997, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And this shows stops at this point running about 25 percent to 30 percent Black and an additional 5 percent to 10 percent Hispanic for Cranbury-Moorestown, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And then you also do an analysis with respect to consents that shows, for example, that at Moorestown, 10 Black, 4 Hispanic, and 5 White -- 9 Black, 2 Hispanic, and 4 White, correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: So you basically continue your analysis in '96 and '97, and it still shows problematic numbers, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: In fact, the total searches for '97, which is now -- we're really almost contemporaneous -- you show basically 43 percent White and the rest non-White with respect to searches in '97 in April and '97 in May, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: In fact, May '97 actually gets a little bit more disproportionate. It's 28 percent White searches and the balance, 69 percent or so, percent other, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yeah, the numbers are there.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. So, by the way, did you communicate this to Mr. Rover?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: And did he actually tell you that he had shared this with Mr. Waugh?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I know that I had asked him to make sure that he passed the information on. I can't recall if he specifically mentioned passing it up to Mr. Waugh or not.

MR. CHERTOFF: Well, did he-- I'm going to refresh your memory from your deposition of February 21. You said at Line 23, "At one point with the information that I provided about the statistical analysis of the sample dates, I believe in the one report I did in July of '97, as far as where we stood statistically with the sample dates, he did, in fact, indicate that he had discussed that information with Mr. Waugh."

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe the reason I had said that is because there came a point later where a letter was drafted to the Department of Justice, and it made reference to the consent to search reports. And in making that statement, it was in reference to me knowing that that letter was done and basically what it led to -- the development of that letter.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. Now again, I want to show you G-21, which we also pulled. Did you prepare this information?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: And again, this is a tabulation with respect of randomly selected dates of stops, and I believe searches as well, with respect to these dates.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, that's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: And again, was this information passed on to Mr. Rover?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, it was.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you remember if you gave him the written tabulation or just orally conveyed the information?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't recall at this time specifically which of the reports I gave to him in hard copy, which I gave to him orally. I know that the information itself was passed on to him in its entirety.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, this information later winds up in that blue binder that you gave Mr. Zoubek, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: But again, the content of the information you had conveyed to him, to Mr. Rover, in 1997, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, let me just show you the last page of G-21, the next to last page, GC-2306, just to be completely clear. Again, when you do an analysis on the consent searches, you compare it to the Maryland rates, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Are these related to the very dates that the Justice Department picked, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: The date in question, 3/06, incorporates the analysis that I had done on my own, originally, for various periods. And

then as you go further down, it incorporates also the sample dates, which have been delineated later on.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. So this is the very issue. I mean, at this point, just so everybody knows where we are, you all know at this point that the Department of Justice is focused on these dates. You know the consent to search areas, the area of maximum exposure, and you're basically communicating to Mr. Rover that now we've looked at it and we know that when the Justice Department gets this information it's going to fit right into what was the statistical material that the Maryland people had when they had entered into that consent decree.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, that's accurate.

MR. CHERTOFF: I mean, again, just to be clear, staying on that page, if we look at the minority percentages, they tend-- We're talking about the searches. They basically run from Moorestown, during selected periods of '94 and '96, 89 percent minority -- in '96, 89 percent minority; New Brunswick, which would be Cranbury, 94 percent minority; and then subsequently in Cranbury, 73 percent, 79 percent, 80 percent. And then the sample days run 89 percent from Moorestown and 67 percent for Cranbury, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And again by comparison, the Maryland figures were about 80 percent minority?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, I want to move forward to November. We're going to ask you this. Before I get to it, let me show you one last

document. Let me show you W-30. It's a memo to Peter Verniero from Alexander Waugh, OAG-975, dated July 29, 1997.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. Have you seen the document before?

SERGEANT GILBERT: The cover itself I believe I saw during my previous depositions, and then I see that it contains most of the package that was prepared at Moorestown Station back in '96 by Lieutenant Gilbert, and then the additional information that was compiled by the Internal Affairs Bureau.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. So now I'll put it in context. The first page, the cover page, it says, "To Peter Verniero from Alexander Waugh, July 29, 1997." You didn't see that during your deposition, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Not until then, no, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. But then what's attached you had seen, because that was what we had generated in the course of this Moorestown audit in response to the complaints by some of the troopers back in '96, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, that's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: And just to be clear, if you look at the very last page, there's a report from Lieutenant B. M. Gilbert -- no relation to you, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No.

MR. CHERTOFF: Where he analyzes searches in 1995 back to Moorestown, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And it talks about 62 percent minority driver consent searches and 38 percent nonminority driver consent searches, correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: It talks about other statistics of that kind, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now again, was this information -- these reports-- Is this part of the document, the blue notebook, that you turned over to Mr. Zoubek in 1999?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And so you'd agree with me at least that this had been turned over -- this was clearly in the possession of the Attorney General's Office as of July 1997, no later than that, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Based on a memo from Mr. Waugh to Mr. Verniero, I would say yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Let me finally show you-- Let me finally move you to November of 1998. Did you attend a meeting in November of 1998 regarding a request by the Department of Justice to have -- a specific request to have this audit information that we've been talking about, including the Moorestown study, turned over to the Civil Rights Commission?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: And where did that meeting occur?

SERGEANT GILBERT: At Division Headquarters.

MR. CHERTOFF: And who attended?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Colonel Williams, Colonel Fedorko, Colonel Dunlop, myself, and Mr. Rover.

MR. CHERTOFF: What was the subject of the discussion in November 1998?

SERGEANT GILBERT: It was based primarily on two sets of documents. One was the package that's contained here that was compiled about the Moorestown complaints back in 1996 and the Internal Affairs reports that went with them. The second issue was the ongoing audit reports that the Colonel had ordered -- initiated back in the early part of 1997. Specifically, there are two six-month studies. The information had been gathered and consolidated into two six-month studies about activity of both stop activity and search activity at the Moorestown and Cranbury stations.

MR. CHERTOFF: Were those six-month studies-- Were you involved in compiling those?

SERGEANT GILBERT: What I had been dispatched by Colonel Williams to do in the early part of 1997, because we did not have current ongoing information being generated and we knew that the focal point of the Justice Department's interest was those two stations -- it was felt that it was prudent to try and get a handle on what the statistics were at those two locations. So he had me go down to the major of field operations and instruct the major to start collecting the information on both stops and search activity out at Moorestown and Cranbury.

MR. CHERTOFF: So, is it fair to say-- I'm not going to go through a whole lot of numbers again, but is it fair to say that for these

six-month periods now in '97 and '98, the numbers on consent searches still showed very high proportions of minorities being subject to consent searches?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't know what's characterized as very high, but the numbers were reflective of what other information had previously been gathered.

MR. CHERTOFF: They were consistent with what had previously happened, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: In fact, I'll be more specific. Why don't I show you CW-20. It's dated, I think, maybe 2/20 or 12/20/98. I can't read it, but it shows '97 data, the six months. It's GC-2312, and it shows the searches and the radio logs, which would be the stops.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And was it fair to say that, for example, in the searches in Moorestown it showed, you know, non-White was running about -- close to 80 percent. And in Cranbury, non-White was running essentially around 57 percent to 60 percent, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: That was pretty much consistent with what we had discovered previously, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And do you know whether the '98 data, again, were similarly consistent, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't know the exact numbers, but I believe it was in the same area. Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Were you reporting to Mr. Rover or was somebody reporting to the OAG on these six-month snapshots of '97 and '98?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I had done that.

MR. CHERTOFF: So you were keeping Mr. Rover apprised that the numbers were staying the same in '97 and '98?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. Now, you have this meeting in November about whether the original Moorestown material should be turned over and whether this ongoing material should be turned over. What was the discussion?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Mr. Rover had come over to discuss some concerns about the release of that information -- that specific information. He wanted to get the Colonel's -- Colonel Williams's viewpoint on that situation. Colonel Williams indicated to Mr. Rover that he did not have any problems with the Maryland -- not the Maryland, but the Moorestown package from 1996 being released, but that it was his viewpoint that absent the existence of a court order or a subpoena, that at that point in time on the basis of the litigation that we're involved in that he didn't want to let those things released at that point in time.

MR. CHERTOFF: In '97 and '98 then?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did Mr. Rover give a reaction to that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Mr. Rover indicated he acknowledged the Colonel's position. He indicated that he was going to go back to his superiors and run that position by them. The Colonel had asked Mr. Rover if you have

any problems or anybody downtown has any problems with my position, I want you to get back to me and let me know.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what was the upshot of that? What happened?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Nothing, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: So, as far as you know, the material was not turned over?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't know that.

MR. CHERTOFF: You don't know one way or the other?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: You didn't hear back in any case from downtown that they disagreed with the Colonel's decision.

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, I did not.

SENATOR GORMLEY: What we're going to do is we're going to continue the questioning of the witness. We'll take a 15-minute break at this time.

(RECESS)

AFTER RECESS:

SENATOR GORMLEY: Okay. Could we continue the hearing? The witness has been previously sworn. We'll continue with the questioning by Mr. Chertoff of Sergeant Gilbert.

MR. CHERTOFF: Sergeant Gilbert, let me take you now into 1999. I want to put before you what is a document marked Z-14. It's OAG-5433, and it's a memo to Paul Zoubek from George Rover, dated February 26th, 1999.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, if you turn to the third page in this document--

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: --it indicates-- There's a statement here from Mr. Rover. I take it you never saw this before this investigation.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Actually, this is the first time I've seen this at all.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. It says on the third page this is a memo to Paul Zoubek from George Rover about the status of various requests for documents by the Department of Justice in Washington. And on the third page it says, "These are numerous documents that I have not produced to the DOJ -- or how can we say? -- there are numerous documents. And they include the following." And I just want to just take you through these and see if you can indicate to us that these were documents which you had provided at various points in time to Mr. Rover.

One, the July 5, 1996 IAB motor vehicle stop audit at Moorestown Station, Lieutenant Gilbert.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Sir, with the records that are listed here?

MR. CHERTOFF: Yeah.

SERGEANT GILBERT: I'm sure that Mr. Rover got them since he noted that. I can't remember specifically which of these I gave to him and then went.

MR. CHERTOFF: But he would have gotten them through you, because you were the point of contact?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that he would have, but he might have had other sources to get some of these also.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay.

SERGEANT GILBERT: I'm not really sure.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, in March, you get called down-- You and Lieutenant Colonel Dunlop get called down by Mr. Zoubek as you told us, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And you give him the blue notebook, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, that's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: Which you have the original of before you, correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: I just want to go through this blue notebook. It's Exhibit G-33. It's entitled the New Jersey State Police Statistical Analysis. It's got a blue cover, which is black the way it's Xeroxed. And the first document here is, in fact, that internal audit with respect to summonses at the Perryville and Washington Stations, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, that's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: And this is something you had previously furnished to Mr. Rover, correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I'm not sure. I can't put my finger on the specific documents, when I gave them to him. I mean, I know that I had orally transmitted everything. If those reports were in his files, they may well have come from me. I don't remember specifically what I gave George and when I gave it to him.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. If I turn your attention to the document which is-- Of course, these are not page numbered, but there's a copy of the request from the Justice Department, which is about maybe halfway through, and it says in writing-- It's after the 10/4/96 memo. It says, "Received 12/24/96 from AG." Is that your handwriting?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, it is.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. And then this is what you got at the December 24th meeting from the AG's Office, correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And then does this memo-- Does this, G-33, also have that undated memo we talked about earlier?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe it is. Let me check, sir.

Yes, sir, it does.

MR. CHERTOFF: Just one moment. Is there a document also in yours marked patrol issues concerns at Moorestown Station, to Captain Touw from Lieutenant Hinkle, dated 9/24/96, that we've looked at earlier in this hearing?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, there is.

MR. CHERTOFF: And is that identical to a portion of what I've previously showed you from the July 29, 1997 memo from Alexander Waugh to Peter Verniero that also contained the same document?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, we went through the discussion you had with Colonel Dunlop concerning the issue of whether things had been turned over -- just to be clear, whether or not you turned over specific documents. Is it the case that you had over the course of the years related to Mr. Rover the information about the Moorestown audit, the information about the -- either Mr. Fahy or Mr. Rover, I should say -- the information about the Moorestown audit, the Perryville audit, the information concerning the 1997 and 1998 six-month surveys, and the information concerning the statistics as it related to the sample case?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: After you told Colonel Dunlop that you had, in fact, turned this over, he indicated to you he talked to Mr. Zoubek about it. Was there any further discussion you heard from him concerning the question of whether the State Police had withheld documents from the Attorney General's Office?

SERGEANT GILBERT: We had a number of conversations on that issue.

MR. CHERTOFF: Tell us about those.

SERGEANT GILBERT: I can't remember them in specific in nature, but I think I explained in full content to Colonel Dunlop about the contact that I had had with Mr. Rover, about the contact that I had had with

the Attorney General's Office, and basically that I was somewhat confused as far as the position that was being taken as to the perception that was being created that there had not been cooperation, that there had not been a flow of documents back and forth.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, did you also get involved in some further work in 1999 concerning additional analysis of the audits that was done with, I believe, Detective Serrao?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: And just briefly explain what that project was.

SERGEANT GILBERT: As this issue began to accelerate in predictability of what was going on, Colonel Dunlop had come on as the executive officer. He was in charge of our uniform personnel. Also, ultimately was overseeing the investigations that arose after the shooting on the Turnpike. We had had discussions about trying to generate the best statistical -- the most accurate statistics that we could get our hands on. What I had done-- I had acknowledged that that was a starting point, that is was -- I'm not a statistician, I'm not a scientist -- that being at this had become such a critical issue. Colonel Dunlop had agreed and felt that we had to design a way to extract the most accurate information from available reports that we could. He, in turn, had Sergeant Serrao, who was an analyst in our Intelligence Section -- a detail to accomplish this task.

I had occasion to sit down with Sergeant Serrao, talk about some of the thoughts I had on what information I was looking at, before he, in conjunction with the people that worked in the Analytical Unit in the Intelligence Bureau, with some input from me, designed a template that would

go back and look at a number of investigation reports, search reports, and try and come up with a consolidated database so that we could get the most accurate up-to-date numbers in designing this system, and then see what those numbers were. Colonel Dunlop's feelings were, good or bad, he wanted to have a feel that the accurate numbers -- or the numbers that he was going to be utilizing for his analysis were the most accurate numbers available at that time.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was there any kind of a report or a presentation that was put together before the interim report was issued?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, there was.

MR. CHERTOFF: And who was that presented to?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I wasn't present when it was presented. Again, using the word downtown, I believe it was presented to representatives of the Attorney General's Office.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you know whether there was any decision made to include any of that information or do any further investigation before the interim report was actually issued?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that that information-- There was a passing footnote to that information in the interim report.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was there any discussion-- Were you ever given any instructions that certain analytical work done by the State Police should not be released in the press?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I wasn't-- I was aware that such a directive existed. It wasn't given to me, because I didn't have control over that information.

MR. CHERTOFF: How did you become aware of that, and what did you know about it?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Just from working in the superintendent's office, I was aware of the fact that that information was not to be released by our public information staff.

MR. CHERTOFF: And by whose order was that, if you know?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I'm not really sure.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, I want to go to the interim report, and I want to go to the final version that starts at about Page 25, stop, arrest, and search data.

Now obviously, this covers data that goes through November 1998. I want to ask you whether you had an opportunity to review this.

SERGEANT GILBERT: After it was issued?

MR. CHERTOFF: Yes.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: To your knowledge, is the information that's contained in the tables that follow Page 25-- Is that information that was accumulated either by -- in the course of the audits that were done back in 1996, or by your work, as it was done in 1997, or by the ongoing six-month studies that were done in '97 and '98?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that's what this information reflects. Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: So that for example, if you look at Footnote 2 on Page 27, when it talks about -- includes Cranbury searches from January '94 through March '94 -- January 1996 to March '96 through December '96, a

good deal of that refers to the information that you had accumulated and, at least, orally passed over to Mr. Fahy and Mr. Rover.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And, in fact, those are, in many respects, the dates that are contained in G-13, which is that undated document that you prepared in about February of 1997, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: So this is not new information to you, is it?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, it's not.

MR. CHERTOFF: Were you asked or interviewed by anyone, in connection with the preparation of the interim report, to have questions asked about how you would have gone about accumulating the data, what your methodology was?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, I was not.

MR. CHERTOFF: Were you in any way involved in writing, or participating in the writing, of this section of the interim report, which talks about the statistical data, which is the basis of the report?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, sir. I had no contact with the interim report at all.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, just in terms of the significance of the consent to search data, again, as we said before the break, it was a consent to search data that you focused on as a result of the Maryland case. That really shifted your focus away from just the stops to what happens after the stop, correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, that's accurate.

MR. CHERTOFF: And am I correct that you communicated to Mr. Rover, and to the people present at the May 20th meeting, that this consent to search data was very significant data in terms of dealing with the Department of Justice?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, the interim report-- It indicates here that at Page 30, areas of special concerns, interpretations of the data in the areas of special concern: One, disproportionate use of the consent to search document. The data presented to us showed that minority motorists were disproportionately subject to consent searches. I take it that was the -- what the data you prepared in February of '97 showed.

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't know, because I didn't prepare the report. But I--

MR. CHERTOFF: But you'd agree with me that the data that you prepared in February of '97 showed disproportionate numbers of minority motorists subject to search.

SERGEANT GILBERT: They would create that perception. Yes, it would.

MR. CHERTOFF: And then it goes on to say here, "Information concerning consent searches is particularly instructive in examination in possible discriminatory practices, since, by definition, the decision to request permission to conduct a search is indiscretionary."

Do you agree with that assessment?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that would be an important thing to look at, yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: And again, was that the subject of part of your presentation on May 20th, 1997?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, let me ask you, in the period more recently, going back to the fall of last year, did you have the occasion-- Were you ever asked to review documents at the Department of Law and Public Safety, or anyplace else, to ascertain whether you had seen certain documents before?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, I was.

MR. CHERTOFF: Were there any documents that you saw at that point in time, that related to information you communicated to anybody in the Attorney General's Office back in '96, '97, or '98 that you haven't seen either here in the testimony today, or that you didn't see in your deposition?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Can you-- I'm not exactly sure what it is that you're asking.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was there any memo or document that you saw, when you reviewed documents at the Department of Law and Public Safety, that indicated discussion of, for example, the Maryland State Police numbers or the statistics or something of that sort that you haven't seen in the course of either your depositions or your hearing today?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No.

MR. CHERTOFF: So basically, you've seen-- What you saw then, in terms of communications with the Office of the Attorney General concerning consent to search data, is documentation you've either seen here or back in your hearing.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: I think, Mr. Chairman, that concludes my questions.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Okay.

Minority Counsel Jo Glading.

MS. GLADING (Senate Democratic Staff Counsel): Good afternoon, Sergeant.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Red light. (referring to PA microphone)

MS. GLADING: Sergeant, after Mr. Waugh left the Attorney General's Office, who did Mr. Rover report to, subsequent to his departure?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I know at one point that he reported to, I believe -- directly to Mr. Hespe. I don't know if there was someone in between the two.

MS. GLADING: Was it your understanding that on this -- Department of Justice matters, after Mr. Waugh left, Mr. Rover reported to Mr. Hespe on those matters?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I know at times he did, because he had mentioned it to me.

MS. GLADING: You testified earlier about your discussion with Mr. Fahy about the numbers in the October 4th Captain Touw memo regarding the statistics being dramatically higher than the expert testified to in *Soto*. Was that discussion with Mr. Fahy at about the time that you included it in the May memo that recounted the Littles committee meeting?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't remember exactly when it was, because we had ongoing conversations about these issues, especially as we got

closer to trying to determine the feasibility of doing the traffic study. So we had a lot of ongoing conversations about that. I can't really pin down exactly when it was that we talked about those stats.

MS. GLADING: Was it Mr. Fahy who wanted you to go and gather those stats?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that it was collectively from the people that were involved with the committee and looking forward to where we were going. I think that everybody realized that that was an important thing to take a look at.

MS. GLADING: Okay. So once you had gathered them, would it have been your practice to report them within a reasonable period of time to Mr. Fahy?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, ma'am.

MS. GLADING: So, if you reported in your May memo that you had collected those statistics, you would have reported them to Mr. Fahy at or about that time?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, ma'am.

MS. GLADING: What was your understanding of what Mr. Fahy-- You had quite a bit of interaction with him in '96. What was your understanding of what Mr. Fahy was doing with the information that you discussed with him?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe he was utilizing it to -- with whatever contacts he had within the Division of Criminal Justice and the Office of the Attorney General -- using that information to -- as part and parcel -- or part of the decision-making process to determine whether the appeal of

the Gloucester County case would go forward and some of the other related statistics from other areas of the state -- to utilize that information, making policy determinations on other challenges that have been raised.

MS. GLADING: Okay. So is it your understanding that he was bringing that information to his superiors?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I think he had a corresponding role to what I had at State Police, so my job was to pass that on to him. I would believe that he would, in turn, prudently pass that information on in his chain of command.

MS. GLADING: Okay. And so when you discussed with him the statistical analysis of the *Soto* troopers that was conducted by the Records and Identification Unit in May of '96, your understanding is that he would have brought that information to his superiors at the Attorney General's Office.

SERGEANT GILBERT: All I can do is say that from my perspective and what my role was on the State Police side, had the situation been reversed, that's what I would have done. I don't-- I can't say specifically what he, in fact, did with that information.

MS. GLADING: Did he ever indicate to you who he was working with on his end in the Attorney General's Office concerning these matters?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Not at that point, no.

MS. GLADING: Well, was it your understanding that he was just taking the information and not sharing it with anyone?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't think he would have not shared it with anyone, I'm just not sure who he did, in fact, share it with.

MS. GLADING: Deposition testimony by Mr. Zoubek indicated that Mr. Rover had some-- He didn't have the undated--

Let me back-- Let me back up a bit.

As you know, Mr. Rover had a number of boxes in his possession that contained Department of Justice related information.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, ma'am.

MS. GLADING: Mr. Zoubek, in his deposition, testified that when he went and looked in those boxes to determine what they had received from the State Police over the years, he found not your undated February memo, but he found the raw data and some of the statistical information that that memo was based upon. Do you recall giving that to Mr. Rover?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I know I would have given-- I haven't seen that, so I don't know if it's in my handwriting, his handwriting, if I communicated it verbally to him, or at this point, because it's a number of years ago, whether I gave him actually anything on paper. I mean, I'd have to see it to determine whose writing it is.

MS. GLADING: The bottoms on a number of the documents we've looked at have two numbers. They have the large Bates number, and the have the small Sp number. What is your understanding of what the SP indicates?

SERGEANT GILBERT: The SP would be documents that had been produced from the Division, and the other numbers, OAG, would be numbers denoting a copy of the document that had been secured from the Office of the Attorney General.

MS. GLADING: Okay. So any document that has an SP number would have been-- Would that have been recorded on a document log at the State Police Division?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that it would have been, but I know a lot of documents went over from State Police, and I didn't have control over the system with the Bates stamping and with the numbering. So the majority of the things that I have worked on, yes, they would, I believe, have the State Police number on them.

MS. GLADING: Let me back up. The meetings of the Littles committee back in 1996-- There was testimony by another witness -- by Major Touw that during those meetings he raised the issue that he was concerned about the high number of complaints that were coming in and that he felt that people-- He said, "I felt that our people probably were stopping minorities more than they should be. I mean, there's just too many complaints coming in." And he says he recalls that then, "the room grew very quiet." And that was when he began discussing the possibilities of doing new kinds -- different kinds of audits to track trooper activity.

Do you recall that statement being made at one of those meetings?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I would have no doubt if that's what Major Touw said he brought up at the meeting. I'm sure that he did. I think that was a concern. I mean, we had concerns about a lot of issues at that point. So I would find no reason to doubt him having said that.

MS. GLADING: Do you recall Jack Fahy being very supportive of the audits as a good way to get their hands around what was going on out on the road, which was also in Mr. Touw's testimony?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't recall him being resisted or in support of it. I would think that he would have been. Collectively, we were in support of going that way.

MS. GLADING: In your dealings with Mr. Rover regarding the Department of Justice investigation, do you recall ever giving Mr. Rover any documentation of your analysis or any raw data?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that I had given him some reports, but I can't delineate exactly which reports I gave him and what raw statistics I had given him. I know that I did my very best to portray my understanding of our issues and what statistics we had in passing that on to him. I'm not sure. Are we talking about something specific?

MS. GLADING: No. I'm asking if you recall ever giving him any documentation or raw statistical analyses that you had done.

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't think I did any of the raw statistics, but I'd have to see what is in his files, because that would be the only way he would have gotten it. It would have been from me.

MS. GLADING: The accounts-- Your accounts of the Littles committee meetings-- Did you take notes during those meetings?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I may have at the time.

MS. GLADING: So then, if you-- When you went and prepared your memos recounting those meetings afterwards, you would have based it upon contemporaneous notes you took?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe I would have, yes.

MS. GLADING: A couple questions about the Christmas Eve meeting on December 24th, 1996. Do you-- What was your understanding of why you were brought there?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I think the Colonel had brought me along because I had been asked by him, originally, to do an analysis of the Gloucester County case. I'd had interaction with Mr. Fahy up to that point on the different aspects of the Gloucester County case, as well as the other issues which had arisen in other jurisdictions. I was there, and I think the Colonel grabbed me. And it was, you know, "Come on. We're going to a meeting."

MS. GLADING: I beg your pardon?

SERGEANT GILBERT: He basically came back, grabbed me, and said, "We're going to a meeting." And I guess he felt that I was a good resource person, with the level of knowledge I had at that point, to go to that meeting.

MS. GLADING: Okay. And at that point in time, you'd been working for several months with Mr. Fahy on data collection around the other suppression motions that were pending around the state, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, ma'am, that correct.

MS. GLADING: And you and Mr. Fahy had gone to Maryland to discuss the agreement that -- the settlement agreement that was reached in Maryland.

SERGEANT GILBERT: We met with them. They actually came up to New Jersey. But, yes, we had met with them.

MS. GLADING: Okay. And you and Mr. Fahy had worked together on the analysis of the troopers who were involved in the *Soto* case, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, ma'am.

MS. GLADING: Okay. So were those issues part of the discussion at the May 24th -- at the December 24th, 1996 meeting?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Basically, what I recall of that meeting is that we were given an overview of what had taken place up to that point -- that the Attorney General and several other people from the office had gone down to Washington. They had met with Justice. There were some discussions about what was going to take place. The outcome was that we were not going to be hit with a target letter at that point, that there was going to be a cooperative working relationship, and that when we were handed that document on the 24th of December, that we were to move forward from that point and start looking at what information was available and what was going to be turned over.

MS. GLADING: When you say there was discussion about how the State was not going to be hit with a target letter, what was your understanding of what-- What was the discussion about that issue?

SERGEANT GILBERT: My understanding was some meeting that had happened -- I believe it happened earlier in the month of December -- that the interaction between the representatives of the Office of the Attorney General and the Department of Justice-- There had been some discussion as to whether a formal -- I guess you would call it a letter of investigation -- was going to be issued with regards to the racial profiling issues in New Jersey.

MS. GLADING: And was it your understanding that steps had been taken by the Attorney General's Office to ward off a target letter?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I just know that that had been part of the conversation taking place. And the final outcome of the meeting was that that was not going to happen at that point.

MS. GLADING: Okay. Was the term target letter used at that meeting?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That may be a term that I'm using because I know what that means, but I believe that the discussion was as to whether their matter was going to be kept in an informal or a formal status. And at the end of -- the conclusion of the interaction down in Washington, that at that point, it was going to be kept on an informal basis.

MS. GLADING: When you did your analyses of the consent to search data, was your methodology to look at the actual original consent to search forms?

SERGEANT GILBERT: To look at consent to search forms, as well as-- There's another form that gets completed, which is called a consent to search data form. And in a case where there's a negative finding, which means nothing is found, then a trooper would fill out a narrative that would -- have identifiers. It would also have a narrative of what had happened.

In the case where there's a positive result, where a seizure results, usually the narrative of that form would be very short, because it would refer over to the investigation report.

So what I looked at was-- We had both negative and positive finding consent to search forms, and I extracted the information off both varieties of that activity.

MS. GLADING: Okay. And I think it was your testimony that that information is actually stored at Division Headquarters and not out at the barracks.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Well--

MS. GLADING: A copy of it is stored at Division Headquarters.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Right. There would be copies forwarded into Division Headquarters to a central location.

MS. GLADING: If we can talk about the May 20th meeting for a minute, at that point in time, the 30 sample dates for 1995 and 1996 had already been selected. Is that correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: My recollection would be yes, that they had.

MS. GLADING: Was there any discussion at that meeting? Well, if those dates had been selected, were people discussing the need to go take a look at the data on those dates?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't recall there being a specific discussion about that. I know that when I was putting the information together, as I went on, that I felt, basically, I was obligated to the Colonel in my chain of command, as well as downtown, that if we were going to be collecting that information, and it ultimately was going to be going somewhere, that it would be prudent for me to take a look at what the statistics were that were going to come out of those 30 sample dates.

MS. GLADING: Okay. And when you reached those conclusions in your July 10th memo-- I just want you to take a quick look at that memo. It's marked G-25.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, ma'am.

MS. GLADING: That memo indicates that you had analyzed 38 total consent files. And in your blue binder-- Maybe you could take a look at your blue binder side-by-side with this. About 20 pages into this, there's a consent to search for the sample dates page that looks like this. (indicating) It's from Sergeant Gilbert's blue binder, and it's consent to search '95-'96 sample dates, Moorestown and New Brunswick-Cranbury stations.

Are you there? It's right after these pages.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Somehow, I'm missing it. Can I see that one?

MS. GLADING: Yes.

I just want to clarify this. That indicates it was 37 files looked at. Is that correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, ma'am, it does.

MS. GLADING: Okay. So that's a different analysis than what was contained in the July 10th, '97 memo, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I'm not sure if it is. That might be a mistake on my part, the difference between the 37 and 38. I have to go back and see what it is.

MS. GLADING: Well, let me get at why I'm asking.

Our understanding, based upon the testimony of several witnesses, is that all of the consent to search data and stop data that's contained in the

interim report came from two sources. It came from either boxes that were in George Rover's office, which had been in the possession of the Attorney General's Office for some amount of time, or from your blue binder. And the figures in the July 10th memo, with the 38 consent to search figure, is what is reported on in the interim report. And I just want to clarify that, in fact, those that we're talking about -- numbers that came off of the July 10th memo, as opposed to numbers that came out of the blue binder.

Does that appear like that would be the case?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That could well be. I have to go back and double-check everything and see what was put in the interim report.

MS. GLADING: Okay.

Sergeant, I wonder if you could take a look at a document that's marked SJC-1?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, ma'am.

MS. GLADING: Have you ever seen this document before? Take a minute to look through it.

SERGEANT GILBERT: No. I know--

No, I haven't, ma'am.

MS. GLADING: If you could look at Page GC-3555 in this document. It's a memo by Lieutenant Guida to--

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes.

MS. GLADING: --to his file.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, ma'am.

MS. GLADING: And the subject matter is Detective Sergeant First Class T. Gilbert's working papers. And it gives sequential numbers. Would that be-- Would you be that T. Gilbert that's referred to there?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, I would.

MS. GLADING: Okay. If you could look at the subsequent pages, it appears to be a document log of documents that were in your possession. Is that correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, ma'am. It appears that it is.

MS. GLADING: These are-- Just to clarify, these are not-- These are documents that may not be in the blue binder. Is that correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct.

MS. GLADING: Can you explain how you would have come into possession of Internal -- Attorney General's Office documents? And I'm looking, for example, on Page-- If you look on Page GC-3557, there's a reference to a draft copy of the King letter. Was that sent to you at the time?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, it was.

MS. GLADING: Okay. If you look at the bottom of Page GC-3558, the last two items -- confidential memo from George Rover to Alexander Waugh, and a correspondence from Rover to Mark Posner. (phonetic spelling)

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, ma'am.

MS. GLADING: Were those sent over to you at the time?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, I believe they were.

MS. GLADING: So was Rover pretty freely sending you documents that were relevant to the work that you two were doing together?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes.

MS. GLADING: Okay. I just have one more document here. Do you have a copy of G-16 in front of you? I don't think you've been given it yet.

We talked about this document in your deposition, and you represented that this was a memo that was never sent and never really finished by you.

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct.

MS. GLADING: Okay. And you represented, also, that it's dated on November 1st, 2000, because on your computer, when you open up an old document, it will change the date automatically.

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct.

MS. GLADING: And I think you also represented, if I recall correctly, this was written at some point in early March or late February. Is that correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Around the same time that I had done the memo to Colonel Williams with the statistics in it and the comparison to Maryland.

MS. GLADING: Right. Can you explain the meeting that-- The first paragraph represents that on Thursday, March 6th, 1997, at 10 a.m., DAG's Fahy and Rover, and possibly Alex Waugh, will be joining a meeting to address overall strategy for addressing the Justice Department inquiry.

That seems to indicate that that meeting has been scheduled and is going to happen. Is that correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that was, but I don't know if the meeting actually took place. And that's why I didn't complete the memo. I don't recollect that we had a meeting -- specific meeting on that date.

MS. GLADING: Right. Yeah. You testified to that, too.

Is it fair to say that this meeting -- this memo being written about the time that you were preparing the undated memo -- that this meeting was addressing similar issues that were addressed in your undated memo?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, ma'am.

MS. GLADING: And is it fair to say that the purpose of this meeting that would have been scheduled would have been to address those issues that were discussed in your undated memo?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, ma'am.

MS. GLADING: You indicate at the bottom of the first page of this memo, "So far, DAG Rover has asked DOJ, in vague terms, about availability of funds for the traffic survey but has not purged money for data collection or monitoring." So apparently, you had discussed this issue with George Rover at the time. Is that correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Well, we had discussed the fact, as I think I mentioned earlier, that an important issue to us, outside the scope of even this, was the fact that we needed to get a traffic study conducted. We knew that it was going to be-- This was after we had gone up to NJIT, met with the consultants up there. We realized it was going to be a very costly venture, and also, with the monitoring and so forth, we viewed that that was a probability for the future. However, again, from a budgetary standpoint,

these were going to be very costly endeavors. And how they were going to get paid for was going to, obviously, be an issue of concern.

MS. GLADING: Okay. So this is an issue you had had -- that had been under discussion between you and Mr. Fahy, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Myself-- Mr. Fahy and myself and Mr. Rover.

MS. GLADING: I'm sorry, and Mr. Rover.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Actually both.

MS. GLADING: Okay. And on the second page, you talk about the search data. "Our numbers are consistent with Maryland State Police on searches. There's nothing to challenge or interpret here. The percentages will come from our own reports." And you testified earlier that you had been in discussion with Mr. Rover about that fact at this time, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, ma'am.

MS. GLADING: Okay. In two paragraphs below that, you talk about negative search data and the problem that Maryland confronted because the individual facts of each case was outweighed by the overwhelming number of the percentages.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, ma'am.

MS. GLADING: And is-- You had been discussing that issue with Mr. Rover at this period of time, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct.

MS. GLADING: Okay. So this memo-- Is it fair to say this memo is a summary of the issues that have been under discussion on an ongoing basis between you and Mr. Rover in February--

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, ma'am.

MS. GLADING: --and March of 1996?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, it would be.

MS. GLADING: When you were asked to come down to the Attorney General's Office to review documents in the fall of 2000-- Was it your testimony that that was the fall of 2000?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe, from like late summer, early fall onwards, yes, I was.

MS. GLADING: Can you recount specifically what happened?

First, let me ask you this: At this point in time, there were news stories appearing about some of these documents. Is that correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, ma'am.

MS. GLADING: Okay. And there was a decision about to be made, or had just been made, to do this massive document release. Is that correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct.

MS. GLADING: Okay. So when you were-- Explain the circumstances of how you ended up down in the Attorney General's Office reviewing documents.

SERGEANT GILBERT: In what context? I was--

MS. GLADING: Did you get a phone call from someone?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, I did.

MS. GLADING: From who?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe initially, I got -- I was contacted by-- I've spoken to different people. I've spoken to people from the DeCotiis

law firm on these issues. I've spoken to people from the Division of Law on these issues. I've had a number of meetings in which I've reviewed the documents -- both that I had generated and others that were generated.

MS. GLADING: Okay. So you went down to the Attorney General's Office to actually review documents. Is that correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, ma'am. That's true.

MS. GLADING: Okay. Were you reviewing them-- Which floor of the Attorney General's Office was this review taking place at?

SERGEANT GILBERT: On the first floor.

MS. GLADING: Okay. And were you looking at what was going to be the 50,000 documents ultimately?

SERGEANT GILBERT: At some of them. I think a lot of what I looked at was more focused towards my involvement in the ongoing matters. I didn't look at every single thing that was going out in the document production.

MS. GLADING: Okay. So what were you asked to do? Why were you asked to review these documents?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Basically, to look at the documents that I had done to have -- look at other documents that were there to get an overall feel. I believe the concept was to get an overall feel, for me, as to what my involvement had been and what my level of knowledge was.

MS. GLADING: Were you ever asked to identify documents that -- to distinguish between documents you had seen versus documents you had not seen?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes.

MS. GLADING: Do you know why you were asked to do that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Because I believe there were a number of documents that I saw during the course of that process that I had not seen before.

MS. GLADING: Do you know why the Attorney General's Office would have been concerned about which documents you had seen, versus which you had not seen?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that probably it would be better for them to answer that question. I'm not really sure.

MS. GLADING: And who did you work with at the Attorney General's Office regarding this document review?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I worked with Allison Accurso, who's an Assistant Attorney General, and people affiliated with her staff.

MS. GLADING: Okay. Were you asked to conduct a similar review of documents at the Governor's Office?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, I was not.

MS. GLADING: Were you-- Did you see a lot of documents in that review that you had not seen before?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I saw a number of documents that I hadn't seen before.

MS. GLADING: Have you seen those documents reported on in the newspapers or discussed during the course of the depositions in this hearing?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, ma'am.

MS. GLADING: All of them?

SERGEANT GILBERT: The ones that I've seen -- that were brought to my attention-- I've seen them focused on during the course of these hearings, the depositions, and newspapers articles. Yes.

MS. GLADING: I beg your pardon?

SERGEANT GILBERT: The ones that I know of that I've seen that -- that I was aware of-- I've seen them focused on in hearings here today. I've seen them focused on in the depositions I gave previously or mentioned in the newspaper.

MS. GLADING: There were no documents that you saw that you have not heard discussed during this process in the last month and a half.

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, ma'am, I haven't.

MS. GLADING: Thank you.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Senator Zane.

SENATOR ZANE: Sergeant, when you mentioned earlier about target letters, you then said that that is something that you understand as a term, but it also, actually, may have been a letter regarding a formal investigation. Am I correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR ZANE: Yes, that's what you said.

Who, if anyone, during any period of time, did you have any discussion with about either what you're referring to as a target letter, or a letter of formal investigation?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I remember when we went to the meeting on the 24th, I believe the general indicated the interaction he had had with the people in Washington -- that he had been able to talk them into doing,

basically, an informal investigation versus the issuance of a formal notification letter that would make the -- make it an investigation as opposed to being formalized as an inquiry.

SENATOR ZANE: Now, to a State Trooper involved in this, such as yourself, that was good news?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, it was.

SENATOR ZANE: Okay. Why?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Because I felt that that would afford us the opportunity to work with them on a -- if you want to call it a friendlier basis -- a better working relationship. I think, again, as I testified here today, one of the concerns that I had, the Colonel had, and many other people was the conflicting messages that we were receiving. And I think once you get to the point where it becomes formal, and it becomes locked in stone, that it's going to be an investigation -- that it takes it to a different spectrum. I think we were hoping to get some of the issues resolved and move forward productively.

SENATOR ZANE: So that at that meeting on December 24th, 1996, all of the names that you gave us previously were present when the Attorney General made reference to an informal investigation as opposed to a formal. Is that correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe so. Yes, sir.

SENATOR ZANE: Okay. Do you recall what he said he did in order to have it informal as opposed to formal?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No. I just know that they had discussions. And I guess that was the final result of interaction that they had had down in Washington.

SENATOR ZANE: He made no comment elaborating how that happened?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, other than the fact that he had had direct discussions with whoever the people were in Washington.

SENATOR ZANE: Okay. Did anyone else there comment or ask any questions about why it was going to be informal as opposed to formal?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Not that I recall.

SENATOR ZANE: You had mentioned towards the end of your original testimony here regarding discussions and meetings about the State Police withholding documents from the Attorney General. Do you recall that in response to Mr. Chertoff's question?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I do.

SENATOR ZANE: Okay. Do you recall who you had those discussions with? You mentioned Colonel Dunlop. Am I correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR ZANE: Anyone else?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Colonel Dunlop and Colonel Fedorko at times, primarily with Colonel Dunlop, because Colonel Dunlop had primary responsibility from, I guess, after the shooting had taken place forward, as far as document production, interaction with the Attorney General's Office. So I felt comfortable, for the most part, talking to Colonel Dunlop about the situation.

SENATOR ZANE: Where did the whole notion come from that documents may have been withheld by the State Police, if you know?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I'm not really sure. I think there obviously was a lack of communication somewhere that I really didn't understand how it happened.

SENATOR ZANE: Was the inquiry made that maybe documents had been withheld? Was that made by the -- from the Attorney General's Office, if you know?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that in what Colonel Dunlop represented to me -- that the contact he had had with Mr. Zoubek -- that it was a direct impression he got from Mr. Zoubek. As to where that all generated from, I'm not really sure.

SENATOR ZANE: And that was a twist to you, was it not, because you felt that all documents had been provided?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That was a very major twist. Yes, sir.

SENATOR ZANE: Just as a -- to clean something up for me, you mentioned about the meeting with the Maryland State Police and Attorney General Fahy comparing the Maryland litigation. And I think you set that meeting up. This is in regard to the ACLU litigation. When was that meeting?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I think it was either in the late summer or the early fall of 1996.

SENATOR ZANE: Did you have an impression as to whether or not then Attorney General Verniero, on December the 24th, 1996, had an understanding as to whether or not there were serious allegations being made

in this state by some -- from within the state -- outside of the state that racial profiling was existing on the New Jersey Turnpike?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I think it was a preexisting issue, but I don't remember there being specific conversation from him on that date as to where he stood on that issue.

SENATOR ZANE: I'm not really asking about where he stood. Did you have an impression as to whether or not-- I mean, did he say to you, "Oh, my God. I didn't know this was going on," or not to you, but to the audience at large -- or was it fairly clear, from the nature of the conversation, that he was aware that this was a serious problem?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I just know from the contact that I had up to that point with Mr. Fahy about these issues. I don't think it was a hidden issue or anything else. I mean, there was a lot of litigation going on at that point, both related to Gloucester County and the challenges that had come at around the same time and were continuing. I believe it was common knowledge between the Office of the Attorney General and the State Police that this was an issue that had to be contended with.

SENATOR ZANE: And if it was common knowledge between the State Police and the Attorney General, would you have an opinion as to whether or not, based upon that meeting, the Attorney General knew of the issue of racial profiling here in this state?

SERGEANT GILBERT: And not to be disrespectful, but I don't want to offer an opinion as to what the Attorney General's mind-set was, because I'm not really sure, and I don't think--

SENATOR ZANE: Sergeant, I'm not asking that. I'm asking you your opinion. And if you have none, you have none. But in your opinion from the meeting you had with them, as to whether or not it was clear to you that he knew of the subject matter, and I'm referring to the meeting of the 24th, 1996--

SERGEANT GILBERT: I would say that he had knowledge that it was an issue. It was an important issue. There had been a trip already down to Washington to discuss that earlier in the month. So based on that information -- he was directly involved in that -- I would think that he had a grasp of the seriousness of the issue.

SENATOR ZANE: And there was a -- one more meeting that you had, where the Attorney General was present in his office. Am I correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR ZANE: Was that in May of 1997?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That was on May 20th. Yes, sir.

SENATOR ZANE: Nineteen hundred, ninety-seven.

And is that where the comment was made about the consent order that they'd have to tie me to the train and drag me down the tracks?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR ZANE: Did you have an opinion as to whether or not it was clear to you, on May 20th, 1997, that then Attorney General Verniero was versed -- your opinion as to whether or not he was versed on the issue of racial profiling here in this state?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that he was.

SENATOR ZANE: Do you think it had crystallized by then?

(laughter)

SERGEANT GILBERT: I'm not the one to answer that, sir.

SENATOR ZANE: I have no other questions.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Okay.

Senator Robertson.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Sergeant, thank you for your work here and testimony.

I'd like to personalize this for a moment.

When you personally took a look at the statistics that you originally put together and saw the search rates, and even the stop rates, was that a matter of concern to you, personally?

SERGEANT GILBERT: From a numerical standpoint, sir, yes, because it was evident that this had gone the path where if you looked at things from this purely statistical nature, they look bad. Did I have faith in our people, having done it myself -- being out on the road -- as far as them being told to do the right thing and doing the right thing? I had faith in that, also.

However, I think, early on in this whole thing, it became evident to me that these numbers -- and as we see now, even to this day, have really not fluctuated that much, even with all the reforms that have been put into place.

So I don't know what the answer is, but one of the issues came to be with the contradiction in messages we were receiving, as far as go out and do highway interdiction-- We were actually achieving notable results, if you

look back historically. State Police has been commended for that from many different angles over many years.

At the same time, as I started to look at the statistics, it was like these statistics may -- are going to take us down a path which is problematic. And to try and put those two things together and come up with a finite answer that was a good solution to this-- I don't know, to this day, if there is still one, other than the fact that you totally drop out of doing highway interdiction work. And I really don't have an answer -- a concrete answer to your question.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: Well, I suspect that that's the case, and that's fine. That's one of the reasons I wanted to personalize it.

If you look back to your own service, you were out on the road yourself, correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: And from what period of time was that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: From the period of 1982 to 1986.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: All right. So during those eras, '82 to '86, if you had to go back, knowing what you know now about the policies and procedures that are out on the road now, and if you ever had to do a statistical analysis of your own stops, do you think it would have been on a par with what you saw later on, or was there a specific reason why it would be greater or less?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't really know. I know that the training that I had, and the people that I had contact with that I learned how to do things from -- and that's a very important issue. I mean, what I was taught to do was go out there, do our job right. If you encountered

circumstances to make a motor vehicle stop for -- a valid motor vehicle stop for a valid motor vehicle reason -- for violation of statutes-- If you did that, we were to be aggressive in the questions that we asked, how we weren't to mistreat people, and that if we went out and we encountered signs of deception -- if you encountered signs of criminal behavior, that we were to pursue that through. And if you got to the point where there was nothing there-- For example, somebody gave us some answers, initially, that were a little confusing and maybe raised your antenna scope up-- If you resolved those issues, then the point was that you cut those people loose. You would issue them a summons or a warning, depending on what the circumstances warranted. From that point, we were to let them go, not push further, keep it within the confines of what we had been instructed to do.

But again, interdiction was a task that the Division of State Police had been given a very strong mission to perform that. And we've been under that guidance for several decades now.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: Well-- And you were involved in interdiction efforts back in the 1980s.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Just as a member of the Division. That was a -- basically a blanket policy of the Division. We had been tasked with interdiction. It was in the Statewide Narcotics Action Plan and a number of other directives that were issued to the Division.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: And, in fact, the Statewide Narcotics Action Plan also indicated that interdiction would be among the highest priorities for the State Police, correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: That was under Attorney General Edwards.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: And, in fact, that sort of message was being sent out, not only by people within the Department, but also by elected officials, I take it.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, it was.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: And when you were out on the road, and you were doing your job, did you personally ever feel that you were targeting or racially profiling?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, our-- My goal, when I was out there, was if I could apprehend -- or locate and apprehend criminals, that I would do that. It wasn't a matter of what color they were, what gender they were, anything like that. It was, basically, play by the rules that we had. And if the rules took you somewhere-- I don't think, at that point, we were looking at who was getting arrested or who was getting stopped. I think there was the faith that we were doing our job right.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: Now, you still have contact with folks who are out on the road, I take it.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I do.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: They're friends of yours.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: White, Black, Hispanic. Is there a broad range, or--

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, there is.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: What is your understanding, and I'm not asking you to speak on behalf of the trooper who's out on the highway. Nobody can actually do that. But from your discussions with the folks that you know, what do their opinions range about the extent to which they are or are not racially profiling?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I think that the general opinion of the majority -- that if we have individuals that have done that in the past or at the present time -- that they're not doing any favors to the bulk of the troopers that are out there. I think the majority of our troopers want to go out, and they want to protect the citizens here in the state. They want to go out, and they want to do a good job. They want to know that they're being backed by everybody, because they're going out to do a dangerous job. It's not a simple, easy job, and it's easy to reflect back now on statistics. But to actually get out there and be in the trenches and do it, it's a very difficult job. And I think all our troopers are looking for is support to be able to go out and do that every day and get a clear message as to what's expected of them at this point.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: And, in fact, trooper morale becomes a major ingredient in any policy decision that's made at higher levels, I take it. Is that correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: During the course of these various discussions that you had within the State Police, was trooper morale and trooper support among the things that was discussed as an element in this consideration?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: And when you take a look, and you talk to your friends now, and you, yourself-- You're in a very unique position in the sense that you developed these statistics. You know what they say statistically. You know the serious questions that they raise statistically.

Talking to an ordinary trooper out on the highway, how do they explain these kinds of statistics?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't think that-- It's a hard thing to describe, because I don't think that-- I think that almost, from the trooper's standpoint, if you go back to even an earlier -- if I can go back to an earlier phase of this whole process--

At a certain point, when I brought those statistics to Colonel Williams, one of the things that Colonel Williams had to grapple with -- he could have very easily turned around and said, "Okay. If we're going to get subjected to criticism on the -- these numbers--"

It's very easy for me to peel back and say, I'm going to put out a mandate right now, and I'm going to tell the troopers, so that we can make the situation go away, that I'm going to give them a number to enforce the motor vehicle statutes by and the criminal statutes by. And that way, we'll have corresponding numbers.

He was very much against that. He said, "I'm not going to do that." He goes, "But I want my people out there doing the job right. I want to make sure we move forward with monitoring, with training, with the things--" I think he had a dedication to that, and he felt that if we were doing our job right, that the numbers -- not that they would change, but that he wanted to be in the position to say, "Hey. We've done a lot of things. These

numbers are what they are.” What exactly do they mean? I don’t know, because I think we’re still, even today, faced with that -- with all the reforms that we have in place, there’s still a lot questions being raised about what do the numbers that exist today mean. And I don’t know the answer to that.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: And I have to say, in taking a look at some of the numbers that have come in, I start to get a little confused in terms of the fact that these numbers have been compiled, sometimes, by different methodologies, using different periods of time and so forth.

But I can recall, when we had our hearings with respect to the racial profiling situation a couple of years ago, we had a certain -- we had certain figures on stops, or certain figures on searches -- and consent searches. And very clearly, I remember taking a look at it. That was the one thing that piqued my interest, was the disproportionate consent searches to which people were subjected -- people of color were subjected versus white motorists. And one of the things that we didn’t seem to have a handle on, at that time, was how many of these searches resulted in arrests. Now, do we have those statistics at this point?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that we do at this point. I don’t have them at my fingertips. But again, what you’re talking about is a-- One of the things that you would call that would be the find rate -- the percentage. And you can say-- You can look at that as a batting average.

And again, I don’t know what is an acceptable number, as far as a find rate. And I think that’s what you’re asking, as far as how many times out of 10 a search results in an arrest. I think that they do have those numbers. And again, it’s a matter of perception, as to whether one --

depending on whether a law enforcement, sitting there as you are today-- Different people are going perceive those numbers in a different fashion.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: Absolutely.

But for instance, if we're talking about the extent to which we can subject a motorist to a consent search, the statistics seem to suggest to us that -- told us, actually, that minority motorists were subjected to the request for consent in a much higher proportion than white motorists. Is that accurate to say?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, that's correct.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: Was that the same case with find rates? Was the find-- Were the find rates substantially higher?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I'm not sure that's been analyzed.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: Well, because-- The reason I say that is because it was my impression, from our original discussion a couple of years ago, that the find rate was not substantially different among the races. And that kind of leads to a question that I can ask you (indiscernible). When a motorist is stopped when there is a possibility that things start hitting the antenna-- I'm not talking about the fact that when they take out their wallet for their driver's license thousand dollar bills fall out, or stuffing a duffle bag under the back seat. That's a pretty obvious situation. But all things being equal, is it more likely because of the nature of how we've been conditioned in society, or specifically in the training given to the State Police-- Did race enter into a typical request to make a search? Did that cause more suspicion?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I can't really answer that. What I can tell you is that my contact with the training that we've done, and the contact I had

specifically with the training we tried to do post-'96, was to make it very clear to the troopers that what you're looking for is you're looking for indicators -- behavior indicators and concrete facts. And if those things aren't there, then basically, you shouldn't be going on a fishing expedition or anything else. If they're there, fine. Then what we want you to do is we want you to aggressively pursue them, and we want you to stay within people's rights, but we do have a task of being out there to do highway interdiction and law enforcement in general, stolen cars, stolen property, things like that. We're talking a lot of activity that we do is on the corridor or roadways where you have a lot of travel back and forth, and a lot of things of that nature are out there.

But I believe that with the training that we've given, I think the message is clear that that's not supposed to enter into your mind-set -- that if it's there, it's there, and it should be there on the basis of concrete indicators.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: In other words, articulable suspicion.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: On the paperwork that's generated on each of these consent searches, I take it there is a piece of paper that's filled out.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, there is.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: Is there a line on it that says articulable suspicion where there is a recitation of precisely what factors went into--

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't think it has that, but the consent to search data form, and again there's been some changes, and that's been

enhanced-- But even going back to prior the interim report, the troopers were required to put language on the consent to search data form as to what circumstances led up to them asking for a consent to search. And if, in fact, the encounter had resulted in an arrest, that information would all be set forth in the actual investigation report where that could be looked at by the supervisors, and they could have a good feel for what their troopers out on the road were doing and how they got to the point of asking for consent.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: And I take it, human nature being what it is, that space isn't always filled out, is it?

SERGEANT GILBERT: The ones that I looked at, sir, in doing the review-- I thought that the troopers had done a decent job. Again, they have many different obligations when they're out on the road.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: Sure.

SERGEANT GILBERT: And that takes up time. But what I saw, the majority of the troopers, with the consent to search data forms, that they had taken the time to lay out the reasonable suspicion that they had developed to ask for consent.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: And what would an average-- In the case of a nonfind situation, what would an average-- I know there's nothing that's average. But what would a typical articulation be on that line?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Well, one example would be there was a number of consent where individuals would ask for consent because they walked up to a car, and they might have detected the odor of marijuana, and they might have asked for consent on that basis. However, the marijuana had been basically consumed, although the smell was still in the car. So they may

have used that as the reasonable suspicion to end up asking for a search and getting it. They probably could have done that on probable cause alone. But in the case of a consent search, they did that. And they would search the car. Basically, although the odor was there, there was no remnants of the marijuana. So in that case, you wouldn't end up arresting somebody for the odor of marijuana if there was not tangible evidence left. Basically, those people would be issued either a summons or a warning.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: That's great. That's a pretty clear case where you, as you say-- You could almost have probable cause in a case like that, which is--

SERGEANT GILBERT: But it might be based on, for example, somebody giving conflicting versions of where they had been, where they were going to, their demeanor, if you have multiple occupants in a car, as far as the stories, if you had occasion to talk to multiple occupants, and the stories didn't make sense, third-party ownership of vehicles. There might be a lot of things -- cumulative information that you develop during the course of your conversation and what you observed. It might lead you to the path of thinking that something was problematic there -- that might give rise to the level of asking for a consent to search. However, it may just be that those things accumulated together, yet there may not have, in fact, been any controlled dangerous substance in the car or contraband or--

One thing that I think is important for you to understand is that there may have been cases that those items may, in fact, have been there. And we're not perfect. There have been numerous occasions where we don't locate whatever the contraband is. All those indicators may be there, and a search

may be conducted, and, in fact, not to fault us, but we're not perfect either. You basically may miss something. And that would be chalked up as a negative result, when, in fact, all the indicators may be there in two identical cases. In one case, the people may be carrying narcotics. In the other case, for whatever reason at that point in time, they're not. Yet, one would be reflected as a positive find, the other would be reflected as a negative find, yet all the circumstances leading up to the encounter, and through the encounter, were identical.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: Now, do you believe-- Well, when you were out there -- or your knowledge in the years subsequent to that, was there a formal or informal quota on the number of arrests that should be made by troopers out on the road?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, because we had some-- For example, when I worked down at Woodstown, there were some troopers that were traffic oriented. There were some troopers that were oriented towards going out and riding through Salem County and dealing with the population there and investigating burglary and thefts.

I think, when I was out there -- and I think the way I still think -- it's important-- You're going to pick something that you're good at, go do it, and do it well. Don't just disappear for the day. You go out and you do your duties. And if you're oriented towards making criminal arrests, that's fine. But in order to run a station and run a troop, you have to have some people that are interested in apprehending -- identifying and apprehending drunken drivers, people that are interested in accident reduction. We have all those different angles that we have to deal with. You can't just say, "I want

everybody to go out and be criminal oriented,” because then that creates a void with the other areas.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: And to the best of your knowledge, among your friends or the people that you know who are out on the road, did you ever hear of any complaints from them about being pressured to make arrests, especially on the (indiscernible) side?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No. Because I said there were-- For example, when I was out there, I was criminally oriented. That was my interest. However, I had some real good friends who were traffic oriented.

And, again, if you're running a station-- For example, when I was down at Woodstown, you need to have varying degrees of productivity from your people in a multitude of different areas.

And that's why even with community policing now, that's not something you can easily measure results in, but we're embarked on that and we feel that it's very important. But you're not always going to get a tangible number out of the community policing program. It's hard to identify what crime you prevented. It's easy to identify it once it's happened with statistics, but it's-- Our community policing program right now is really attempting to keep crime down. How do we measure that? It's very difficult.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: Thank you, Sergeant.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR CAFIERO: Senator Matheussen.

SENATOR MATHEUSSEN: Yes.

Trooper -- Sergeant, I should say, I'm sorry.

You mentioned before troopers getting conflicting orders. Would you term that in terms of were or are getting conflicting orders?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I think, right now, that the confidence level of the troopers out on the road, it's-- I think we've been given messages about where we are to go, but I think that there's still some confusion with hearings such as this and other litigation still going on as far as what the troopers are expected to do.

For example, with the highway interdiction, is that something that's still important? Is it not important? I believe that the bulk of the troopers are still developing in their minds a clear picture of where it is we're being asked to go.

SENATOR MATHEUSSEN: And is there a place that they look to for that message?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe the leadership of the division, the Governor, and the people sitting here today. I think that a lot--

If you go back even to the highway interdiction aspect, I don't think that that was a concept that was developed by the New Jersey State Police or any other law-enforcement agency. I think it was in response to a concern about the increase in narcotics use and the damage it was doing to the country.

SENATOR MATHEUSSEN: And that message is still out there isn't it, to some degree?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, it is.

SENATOR MATHEUSSEN: So the clear message, I think, was what you said before, they're looking for a clear message to do the right thing and just to be able to do their job.

Was that part of your expectation in your assignment after the *Soto* case, not just to figure out how it was that we should take a look at that appeal, but also find a clear message for the troopers out on the road to do the right thing?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Well I know that they were looking for that, and I think the Gloucester County case came out and the additional litigation that followed with that-- I think--

Well, my intent was in all of this, once we had identified that there were numbers that gave the appearance of being problematic -- that we really didn't know what the answer to those numbers were, but that we, as a division in response to the citizens, had to make sure that we did the very best we could as far as training, monitoring, supervision out on the street, and so forth.

That we could say, basically, we're doing the very best job we can with a very sensitive issue, and if they're the numbers that are there -- you know, I still don't know how to explain the numbers -- but that we could show that we had done everything to make sure that our troopers treated people properly out on the street; that they had been properly trained; that we had supervision to intervene when necessary; that we had monitoring in place to be able to do that. And that by doing all those things, I think we show a good-faith effort in trying to deal with a real complicated issue.

SENATOR MATHEUSSEN: If you had to-- Well, first of all, I'm sure when you started off with the post-*Soto* decision to where you're sitting

today, I would imagine this was not one of the conclusions that you were anticipating--

SERGEANT GILBERT: No.

SENATOR MATHEUSSEN: --sitting here at this hearing today.

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, it's not.

SENATOR MATHEUSSEN: You just delineated a couple of things, though, that I think you, perhaps, gave some forethought to in where you might -- where your work might end up, and that was training?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR MATHEUSSEN: In the form of what, if I may ask, Sergeant?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I think that, again, when you go back to-- Highway interdiction is a very critical type of activity, because in order to have effective highway interdiction, it is an intrusive activity. But I think it's very important that we train our personnel to what level you can be intrusive and that once you reach a certain point -- which is, basically, I've done everything politely, I've done everything within the letter of the law, I've done everything within policy -- that you get to a point where -- okay, I've gotten to this point, and now there's nothing that allows me to go beyond that point. That's when you terminate the encounter. That's not--

SENATOR MATHEUSSEN: And can that still be effective law enforcement work?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Well, I believe that's effective law enforcement work.

SENATOR MATHEUSSEN: The second thing you delineated or one of the things you delineated was monitoring. Tell us about that. Where does that take us?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Well, one of the things that -- going back away -- is we have a computer aided dispatch system at the division, and unfortunately, there was a lot of moves afoot to get that in place back around this same time period.

And we had felt that that computer aided dispatch system was going to be very beneficial, because it would allow a sergeant at a road station to basically pull up information on the people working at that station. You would be able to make a comparison between the people working at a station, because they're working the same environment, and be able to take a look at statistics.

And maybe if there was anything that looked significant in any way from an activity standpoint -- and I'm not just talking about the issue we're talking on today -- but it would allow supervisors a chance to take a look at the issue, do any type of intervention if necessary, and deal with that issue at a very early stage. And we felt that that was a very prudent way to look at these situations -- again, not only for this issue today, but for almost any type of a conduct or performance issue.

Unfortunately, the CAD system got bogged down. It's a very complicated system, and it took longer to get it on line than we had hoped for. But systems such as that, where you can give the feedback to the individuals by the supervisors, you can allow the internal affairs function to look at issues from a collective standpoint -- because now you have computer driven

information -- which is obviously much better than the way I had compiled my work, but I mean, that was a starting point, and you move forward from that.

SENATOR MATHEUSSEN: If handled the right way, this monitoring doesn't necessarily have to look like someone's trying to punish an officer for doing a good job. It's more or less to give them the tools they need to take corrective action.

Is that the way you would put it?

SERGEANT GILBERT: We're trying to make sure we do an effective job, but that we do it right.

SENATOR MATHEUSSEN: To what degree are you satisfied with implementing those two things -- that would be education, training, and monitoring? Where are we now from where we were in 1996?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I think we're doing well. I think it's going to take some time. I mean, I'm appreciative of the fact that since the interim report came out and the consent decree, we have had an infusion of resources in the division that was unprecedented.

Because, going back in the years, even when I was dealing with this issue, we didn't have the infrastructure that we needed to basically perform our job properly in total. I mean, it was a lot of competing demands for troopers out on the road, as opposed to having the support personnel behind them, and I think we are moving in the right direction. I hope we continue that way.

SENATOR MATHEUSSEN: Sergeant, I'm sure that every member of this Committee and the Legislature as well wants to do right by the State Police and give you the tools necessary to conduct law enforcement as

best as you possibly can. Are there any things that we're missing now, if you know, that we need to do?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, again, I think that the hearings that are being conducted now, I think are beneficial to the division. I believe that, again, there has been a real significant infusion of resources in a lot of different directions, and I think the personnel within the division are appreciative of that.

Of course, they would not like to have seen the chain of events that led to that maybe having taken place, but I think the final result -- I think it's going to allow the division to be significantly modernized and move forward to where we have to go and serve the people better.

SENATOR MATHEUSSEN: If we can get that new handgun straightened out, we'll be a lot better off, too, won't we?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR MATHEUSSEN: The last thing I'd like to say, Sergeant, you know sometimes-- You did wind up here, as opposed to-- I know you didn't anticipate it, but you did wind up here, and oftentimes, I'm sure that that was not a comfortable position -- both in anticipating being here and sitting here today -- but I want to compliment you on the work that you've done over the years and the steadfastness that you've shown.

I'm sure that there were times when it would have been easier for you to turn and walk in a different direction. You didn't do that. But I think you have made a difference, and I appreciate you being here today and your candor that you have given us in this Committee today.

Thank you.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Thank you.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Senator Martin.

SENATOR MARTIN: Thank you.

Ditto to that last remark, Sergeant.

I'm interested in some institutional issues, something along the line of Senator Matheussen; fault finding, if any, I'll reserve for a later time.

In the memo that was listed GC -- that Ms. Glading referred to earlier that you had prepared, that's now listed November 1st, '00, but came out in '97--

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR MARTIN: --one of the numbers that I found interesting in that is that when you were making a comparison between Maryland and New Jersey, you noted that in New Jersey 98.1 percent of all drivers are violating traffic laws. I assume that's on the Turnpike.

Is that where that statistic would come from?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I think that was derived from the study that was done on the -- the traffic survey that was done on the Turnpike back in relation to the Gloucester County case. I don't think that was-- I'd have to look at the numbers in there, but I don't think that was me stating that as a fact. I think I was using that as the reference from what the statisticians for the defense had come up with out of the Gloucester County case.

SENATOR MARTIN: Okay.

So you're not saying then or now that it's at that level.

SERGEANT GILBERT: No.

SENATOR MARTIN: But it's apparently-- You wrote this memo. I assume you're suggesting that it's at a relatively high level. I'm not asking you to verify the accuracy. I'm leading to something, and that is, if the number is very high, even if it's not 98 percent, it does provide troopers with a great deal of discretion as to the initial stop, as to who they're going to pull over, because you've suggested before that the stops are based upon motor vehicle violations, correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

SENATOR MARTIN: And if that's a decision making-- Let's exclude racial profiling for a moment. Is there some kind of departmental/divisional guidelines that suggest, among those who are violating the motor vehicle laws of New Jersey, as to what criteria would be used to select which among the potential persons you would pull over? I mean, how is that done? Is it totally within the trooper's discretion? There must be some--

SERGEANT GILBERT: At this point, sir, yes, as long as they're not having undue influence by certain characteristics of the people, because, again, you get into situations where if a trooper-- One of the things we're supposed to be after is-- The person you stop and issue a summons to, obviously, that activity is going to have influence on a lot of other people who are driving down the roadway.

For example, out on the Turnpike, the troopers are assigned a certain area, and they have a certain loop that they have to perform. So they may issue a summons, and realistically, they could have numerous other violators go by them, but one of the critical needs that they have to address is

the people who are sitting on the side of the road, and they have to get their loops in. So a lot of it comes down to timing. A lot of it comes down to--

It's very hard. It is very discretionary. But what we have to make sure is that-- Again, what I talked about with the training, the monitoring, supervision, we have to have faith in the troopers that they're doing the right thing, and that they're exercising that discretion in the proper way.

SENATOR MARTIN: Is it-- At least based upon your experience, are most of the motor vehicle violations based upon speed?

SERGEANT GILBERT: They can -- it depends where you work. I think on the Turnpike a lot of times you would have speeding violations being paramount, but you have following too closely, you have failure to maintain a lane, or obviously, you can go out into a more rural area where we're patrolling, and you might have issues of running stop signs.

It depends geographically where the trooper's situated.

SENATOR MARTIN: Well, I was thinking about the Turnpike and your experience from your own area -- and even using the *Soto* sort of area, which would be in the southern portion.

If those violations that are based on speed, is it generally-- I mean, the troopers will generally pull over a vehicle that is one of the faster vehicles among many that are exceeding the 65-mile-an-hour speed limit?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That would generally be correct. Yes, sir.

SENATOR MARTIN: But it doesn't have to be the fastest, and there is no specific criteria that one would follow?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, there's not, because the traffic flow constantly changes. The flow and the rate have a big impact, for example, on

-- as for speeding, depending on weather conditions. I mean, you could have where there is fog or the roadway could be wet, and the trooper, within his discretion, may feel that on that day a certain speed is okay--

SENATOR MARTIN: I understand.

SERGEANT GILBERT: --whereas, another day -- you know, a bright, sunny day -- realistically, they may feel that a slightly higher speed is okay and is not going to be a risk to the other motorists out on the roadway.

SENATOR MARTIN: As far as the State's policy of interdiction, if we remove ourselves from racial profiling, which I hope we have, and maybe it never occurred, but at least it seems to have been an acknowledgment, is it your understanding that some profile would be in place, absent race, that would still be a criteria in which State Troopers could exercise discretion to nab vehicles that have potential -- a more likelihood from a profile -- that they were running drugs?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I think the difficulty with that, sir, is that we run into a situation which we've run into in the past. That we are going to be given-- For example, at the Federal level, there are statistics that are generated about who is involved in, say, narcotics trade -- and from the angle of highway interdiction, who is being arrested -- and that information is normally pumped out.

And I know this issue has been discussed internally in the State Police for a while now with everything that's happened. Is it prudent for us to give that information out to the road troopers for the purposes of their own personal safety -- at the risk of -- does that information slant them in a certain direction as far as conducting their activities?

I don't really know the answer to what you're asking at this point. It's very confusing. I think we--

SENATOR MARTIN: All right.

Well, let me ask you this: Are you inferring then that if racial profiling wasn't part of the profile, you would feel that some other profile would not be able to be put in place that would increase the likelihood of interdiction?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I think there's other indicators. What I was saying before, there are indicators of criminal behavior and deception.

For example, if you stop somebody and they're driving a car -- after you've stopped them for a motor-vehicle violation--

SENATOR MARTIN: I'm just talking about the stops right now, as to what cars are pulled over.

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't really think you could do that, because there's such a variation. To be quite frank, the people that are involved in that business understand the business that we're in, and it can, at times, become like a cat-and-mouse game. So there's always constant shifting from both sides responding to interdiction strategies.

SENATOR MARTIN: That leads me into my third and final area, and that is, I've been bothered before, and I've said it at these Committee meetings, about so-called consent searches.

It strikes me as somewhat counterintuitive that somebody would voluntarily provide a "consent search," especially if they are running drugs, especially if what you suggest is that many of them know about a

cat-and-mouse game where they are taking evasive actions in the first place to try to avoid State Troopers.

So I guess my problem, and some of it has to do with questions about the legality from a constitutional basis, is the nature of these consent searches. Maybe you could just give me some kind of understanding from your training as to whether these are, in your -- I'll just confine it to you -- your experience, do you recognize these as being truly consent?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, I do.

SENATOR MARTIN: Do you have any basis of opinion as to why somebody would voluntarily consent, especially if they are, in fact, carrying drugs in their vehicle?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Because I think that a lot of the cases that I encountered, as I mentioned with the cat-and-mouse game-- Some people will feel that by consenting to the search that they're basically running the tables as to whether the trooper's going to find the contraband that's contained in the vehicle.

SENATOR MARTIN: But if you were concerned about that wouldn't the easiest thing be to just say no -- to use another drug expression?

SERGEANT GILBERT: They could do that, yes, sir. But in my experience, and I know as implausible as that may sound, in many cases, people that are carrying contraband, they do consent to search of the vehicle. And I believe, again, that that's part of their strategy from where they're sitting in the situation.

SENATOR MARTIN: You don't find that that environment, given a stop, creates sort of an implied understanding that if you were to say no that you would be running into some difficult issues?

Let me just frame-- I'm not concerned about evasive drug dealers. What I'm really concerned about is others having -- also caught in that same situation and agreeing to so-called consent searches. And I really have some questions about that whole policy, not, again, because I want to increase the odds for those running drugs, but rather that most of the people--

It's been your testimony, and the data reveals, that most people where you have consent searches are not found -- there's not a find. I think that that's your word for it, a find, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR MARTIN: So more than-- At least a majority of them go through this search. It's taking up their time. I guess they have some trepidation -- at least I would if somebody's searching my car or other motor vehicle. But you don't see anything from a law enforcement point of view that would suggest that it's anything other than a voluntary permission by the person who's stopped?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, and I think, as you said, it is a very volatile issue. It's very critical that we make sure that our personnel are trained properly; that they exercise their authority properly; that we have the proper monitoring and supervision to make sure that we address the concerns that you're raising right now.

SENATOR MARTIN: Thank you.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Senator Girgenti.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

First of all, Sergeant, I want to compliment you again on your presentation today. I think you did an excellent job. It took a great deal of initiative in coming forward with some of the information that you have.

Just some questions that I'm going to ask may be redundant in the sense that I'm just trying to get a feel for exactly what happened in terms of certain items that were discussed before.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: The first thing is, who assigned you in the post-*Soto* committee -- the Littles committee? Where did that assignment come from?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Well, I think originally what happened is Sergeant Blaker -- who was the assistant to the superintendent -- he came back to me with the copy of the decision that had been rendered by Judge Francis, and he asked me to take a look at that. And he basically said, "I want you to take a look at this. I want you to get back to me and the superintendent, and I want you to tell us what you think about what the ramifications are, and where we should be going."

So that's really where my start-up point was.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: All right.

And I believe I read somewhere in the transcripts-- Who recommended-- Did you have something to do with recommending the names for the people on this committee?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Well, I think I had gotten together with Sergeant Blaker, once we-- I think Sergeant Blaker and I had talked at that

point about the need to have the committee with everything going on. I think Sergeant Blaker took that idea to Colonel Littles. He basically gave it the okay.

Sergeant Blaker got back together with me, and I believe we sat down and said, what kind of complexion do we want to have in the committee? We wanted to go out and identify people who we felt were proactive and had a good state of mind about being -- you know, looking at this open-mindedly -- and where did we have to go from there. And I think the people that we ended up with on the committee were basically logical choices.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: I know I read somewhere that you recommended DiPatri, who was a road--

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: --because he had been a road trooper.

All right. Now, how did DAG Fahy get involved in that? How does his role come onto this committee?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Sergeant Blaker and I had discussed the need to have input from -- again, excuse me for using the word downtown -- but from the Attorney General's Office and the Division of Criminal Justice. It was only prudent that we have some involvement and input from them, because they were the people that ultimately represent us in what we do.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: And he met with this committee? I guess you had four meetings. He was at the majority of the meetings? I don't know if he's at all of them, but he was an active member of the--

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: And information that was shared -- you felt that this information, obviously, was going back to the Department of Justice or the Attorney General's Office?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Within the State here, yes, sir, I did.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: All right.

Then, at some point, Fahy was phased out, as you said?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't think he was phased out. I think what--

SENATOR GIRGENTI: He went to other roles?

SERGEANT GILBERT: His role was to continue, I believe, with the Gloucester County appeal and the things with the other issues that had been raised in other venues. And Mr. Rover was assigned to handle specifically the interaction with the Department of Justice, and I think that kind of got to the forefront of the issues that were being dealt with.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: Okay, so there was a formal relationship between you and DAG Rover at that point? You shared information?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir. That started up in the beginning, after the meeting that I went to with the Colonel on December 24th of 1996. If I recollect, I believe that we were also told on that day that Mr. Fahy was going to continue with the Gloucester County matter and any related issues that tied into that, and that Mr. Rover was going to be -- I'm pretty sure that we were told that day that he was going to be the DAG that was assigned to handle the Department of Justice issues.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: And you and Rover would share information, send memos back and forth in terms of things that were happening, is that the case?

SERGEANT GILBERT: We didn't send a whole lot of memos back and forth, but we talked constantly about the issues.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: All right.

Do you feel that-- I just noticed from reading the transcripts that you seem to have made-- Your communications with Rover were always, for the most part, by phone. Was that standard policy? Was that just-- How did that evolve that you didn't have the documentation go forward to Rover?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Well, he really hadn't asked for it, and the other issue was that George was working down at ABC, I was working at the State Police, we had a lot of-- Basically both of us had been given additional -- we weren't detached off to do this assignment, to deal with that as our sole thing.

So we were playing -- unfortunately, looking back, we were playing a lot of hit-and-miss and catching up to each other on the phone, because he had a lot of other duties to do, as did I. As I look back on it, I don't think that that was detrimental, because I think I did a real good job of conveying all that information to him.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: Yes, I know. I'm not questioning that. The only concern I had was that I remember somewhere you had just developed a lot of statistics, and you were reading them to him. Wouldn't it have been easier to put it in a memo and send it over to him, I guess?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I could have done that, yes, sir.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: Was there a reason why you didn't?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, there wasn't.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: And he never asked for it?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, he did not.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: Did that surprise you? Wouldn't policy usually be that you would send information over to have it to refer to, instead of just talking about it on the phone? You seem to be very thorough about everything you do. Didn't that surprise you that that type of information was not on paper?

SERGEANT GILBERT: My concern was to make sure that I got the information over, which I did. And I understand your concern about the paperwork, but my viewpoint was that the paperwork was there if anybody wanted it. If anybody wanted it to verify what I had done, I knew that I had it. So I was confident in that.

But my main concern was to make sure that whatever I did come across that was of significance, was to get it up my chain to Colonel Williams and to make sure that DAG Rover knew about it, because I know that he had people that he had to be responsible to, also.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: And he had been at a number of meetings where he discussed this with you there, in terms of statistics and so forth?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir. We had ongoing--

SENATOR GIRGENTI: So it was very clear that you had shared this information.

SERGEANT GILBERT: We had ongoing contact.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: All right.

Now, who brought to you the information about the Maryland suit? I think somebody-- You took it off the Internet or somebody brought it to you?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Actually, Joseph Brennan -- who was a captain at that point, he's now one of our majors -- he had seen that on the Internet, and he put that into my hands.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: And you took it upon yourself in a lot of cases to devise the comparisons and efforts like that? It seems like you were doing a lot of this. You were self-motivated, which I'm complimenting you on, but a lot of this was initiated by yourself?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, it was.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: Very impressive.

Now, when you get down the line and you're almost-- Well, the meeting that you had on Christmas Eve, was that a normal-- I don't believe that was a normal-type meeting. I think you said that this wasn't something that happened every day with you, obviously.

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, being a sergeant, that would be very unusual that I had not only one, but I had two occasions to be at the Attorney General's Office like that.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: And you-- At that time, it was Colonel Williams--

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: --who got you, and you went down to this meeting?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: And your feeling as to that meeting was everybody was on the same page in terms of the problems that were out there?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: And you left with that in your mind.

Then further, when we get down to the end -- and that's why I was saying that -- at the end, where we're seeing that at some point-- I don't know if they're saying -- that somebody in the AG's Office is saying this information was not shared with them?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: And what was your reaction to that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I was mildly upset.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: Does that make you think maybe -- going back to the lack of documentation--

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that there was a communication gap somewhere, and I don't believe that had anything to do with me.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: All right.

And so at that point, then, at the end of this, when you passed over this blue book with all of your data and information, that was on -- what was it, March 15th, 1997, or something along those--

SERGEANT GILBERT: Thereabouts, yes, sir.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: And that had all your data and files from Point A, from the beginning of all this, ongoing--

SERGEANT GILBERT: That had the statistical information. There were other files and other information that I subsequently also forwarded. That was basically the bulk of the statistical information.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: And your superiors -- the chain of command on the State Police side -- they were supportive of you, because they had seen a lot of this documentation and so forth throughout the years?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't think-- Well, Colonel Dunlop had seen some of it. I don't know what exactly Colonel Fedorko had seen, but I think that they took me at my word when I described to them the interaction that I had had with Mr. Rover, Mr. Fahy, and so forth. I don't think that they had any reason to doubt what I was saying.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: All right. Well, then, I just -- again, I just want to commend you for the job that you did under trying circumstances. I don't know if, in the end, the way this turned out that it looks like, you know, there even should be a discussion about whether that information was ever forthcoming, because from everything I have seen and most of the information that I have read, you certainly were doing a lot in this whole process in trying to correct the situation that was out there. So I just want to commend you. Thank you.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Thank you.

SENATOR GORMLEY: I'd like to compliment you, also, for your testimony. And I would again reiterate the statement I made at the end of the deposition, and that -- oh, I'm sorry.

Sergeant Lynch -- Sergeant Lynch, I apologize. (laughter) Senator Lynch.

SENATOR LYNCH: By your standards, that's a promotion for me.

Sergeant, Senator Girgenti was so complimentary, I was starting to believe that maybe he may have a problem, and he's making sure that he doesn't become a statistic on the Turnpike. (laughter)

Sergeant, when you were brought up to the Attorney General's Office in the late summer, early fall of 2000 to look through documents and identify which ones you had seen, did you see Attorney General documents that, in your mind, made it clear to you that the Attorney General's Office knew about your statistical analysis all along?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I did.

SENATOR LYNCH: And specifically, what documents did you see?

SERGEANT GILBERT: The memorandum that Deputy Attorney General Rover had prepared and submitted to Mr.--

SENATOR GORMLEY: Turn your red light on again. (referring to PA microphone)

SENATOR MARTIN: He anticipated leaving.

SERGEANT GILBERT: How's that?

The memorandum that George Rover had prepared, which laid out the comparison with Maryland and the issues that related to the Maryland statistics that had gone to Mr. Waugh. Also, there was a note -- and I believe that's part of the package -- that indicates some reference from the General to Mr. Waugh about whether a return trip to Washington was in order. And I also knew that--

SENATOR LYNCH: Subsequent to receiving the detailed information--

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR LYNCH: --about the audits?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR LYNCH: Have you personally been involved in any surveys or audits, post '97?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Conducting actual surveys?

SENATOR LYNCH: Yes.

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, I know, in collecting the information I collected, but in actually putting a survey together, I believe there was a recent effort to do that, but I wasn't personally involved in that, as far as a traffic survey.

SENATOR LYNCH: Are you aware of an ongoing audit process to monitor what's going on, particularly with regard to search data, subsequent to the spring of 1999?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that there are efforts under foot with both the Division and the Attorney General's Office to keep tabs on what is going on with search activity.

SENATOR LYNCH: Particularly, who's responsible for conducting those audits?

SERGEANT GILBERT: My understanding, it would -- it would most likely lie with our Office of Professional Standards, which formerly was Internal Affairs.

SENATOR LYNCH: And who's heading that now?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Major Brennan.

SENATOR LYNCH: And are you aware of audits that occurred in the year 2000?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, I'm not, sir.

SENATOR LYNCH: Have you seen or heard of any data, since the beginning of the year 2000, concerning audits of -- that reflect percentages of minorities that are involved in consent searches or probable cause searches?

SERGEANT GILBERT: The only thing that I've heard in general terms, through contact with the Division, would be that the numbers are generally running the same.

SENATOR LYNCH: They're generally running the same?

SERGEANT GILBERT: About the same as they did in the past.

SENATOR LYNCH: So there's ongoing audits, and the numbers remain the same?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe so, sir.

SENATOR LYNCH: In terms of the percentages, or in terms of the numbers of consent searches that actually occur?

SERGEANT GILBERT: It would be my understanding that it would be by the percentages.

SENATOR LYNCH: The percentages--

SERGEANT GILBERT: Of who's being stopped, who's being searched, and so forth.

SENATOR LYNCH: Are you aware that the numbers of consent searches have diminished, for instance, with regard to the southern half of the Turnpike?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I wouldn't be surprised at that, but I haven't seen the actual numbers.

SENATOR LYNCH: I'm sorry. You--

SERGEANT GILBERT: I would not be surprised at that, but I have not seen actual, hard numbers.

SENATOR LYNCH: So you suspect that there's probably a diminution in the number of consent searches on the southern half of the Turnpike?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR LYNCH: Why would that be?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that generally our activity has been -- has decreased somewhat, and that would be reflective of that decrease.

SENATOR LYNCH: Before getting back to the search issue for the moment, when you were in the fall -- late summer, early fall, 2000, to look at these documents at the Attorney General's Office, you said that some people from the DeCotiis firm were there?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR LYNCH: Who, particularly, Michael Cole?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Brian McLaughlin.

SENATOR LYNCH: Anyone else?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't -- the one I met was him, and another associate, but I don't remember what her name was.

SENATOR LYNCH: Were they -- did they discuss with you their reason for being there, and did they have questions for you?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Well, I was also involved in a civil matter that was heard back towards -- where I had to give depositions in, in the early part of December of last year. And the DeCotiis firm was my assigned counsel for that matter.

SENATOR LYNCH: In the case that Mr. Buckman was handling?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR LYNCH: And so you had -- they were there to discuss that case with you, or were they there to help you review these documents?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Actually I think the review of those documents tied in to what my probable deposition subject matter was going to be, so it actually involved going over a number of the documents that had been generated during my assignment with this issue.

SENATOR LYNCH: Why would the documents that you didn't already have that you generated and were in your own file -- why would they be relevant to your testimony in that *Baez* case?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I'm not really sure.

SENATOR LYNCH: From a historic perspective, when did consent forms originate -- consent to search forms?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Quite a while ago, because I know they were in existence when I first came in the State Police in 1982. I believe they were in existence at that point. I know that they had been around for a number of years, when I left the road in 1986. So I believe that they've been around for quite a while.

SENATOR LYNCH: Did the language in those consent forms change dramatically over the years?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't believe that it has. It has -- recently I think there's been some enhancements to the language, but I think up until recently the content pretty much stayed constant.

SENATOR LYNCH: From your work in the field, and more particularly with regard to the surveys and audits, is there a difference in the percentages of nonminorities who agree to sign a consent form, as opposed to minorities?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't know if that's ever been -- those numbers have ever been crunched out, sir. I'm not sure if there's been a statistical analysis done on that. I can't say, off the top of my head.

SENATOR LYNCH: And getting back to Senator Martin's line of inquiry, why would someone who's carrying a couple of kilos of coke in the trunk voluntarily sign a consent to search form and hand the keys to the investigating trooper?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Calculated risk.

SENATOR LYNCH: It doesn't sound like a risk to me. I mean, that -- you clearly have -- State Police, not you personally -- have discovered in the drug interdiction program significant quantities of drugs in the trunks of cars, particularly in the southern end of the Turnpike, that were seized as a result of consent to search cases, right?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR LYNCH: Have you ever heard anyone, during the course of your -- over the last four years, express a proactive concern that maybe the way to end all of this -- these investigations, the interaction with the

Department of Justice, and a lot of this litigation would be to abandon consent to search?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR LYNCH: When did you first hear that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: In discussions with the analytical group that had been constructed by Colonel Dunlop. Colonel Dunlop had reached the point where he was looking for guidance from the Attorney General's Office on where we should be going. Exactly as you just said, we're looking at a lot of litigation. We're looking at it increasing. Where should we go? And Colonel Dunlop, I believe, set forth in writing a number of options as to where the State Police could potentially go on this issue.

SENATOR LYNCH: What's the time frame?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe this would have been post the shooting, but I'm not exactly sure when that -- those recommendations were -- options were drafted.

SENATOR LYNCH: With regard to other recommendations, one of the things that you had discussed early on in post-*Soto* -- post the *Soto* committee initiation was the utilization of patrol logs and identification of race in those charts.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR LYNCH: My understanding from the record is that it took some two-and-a-half years before that was implemented?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct.

SENATOR LYNCH: Why was that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't know.

SENATOR LYNCH: And also with regard to your work that you were charged with doing when the *Soto* committee was formed, specifically with regard to the audits of the troopers that were involved in *Soto*, where you found some strong positive results in terms of percentages of minorities on arrests, as well as searches, one of the reasons that you were charged with the responsibility of doing these surveys and audits was for the Attorney General's Office to make a determination as to whether to continue with the *Soto* appeal, correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Well, I think that was one of the elements of the decision, but I don't think it was going to be the sole determinant in whether the appeal would go forward. But that was--

SENATOR LYNCH: But it was one of the reasons you were told as to why you were going to do that?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR LYNCH: Amongst others?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes.

SENATOR LYNCH: And you had retrieved and forwarded all this data along with regard to the statistics involving the troopers in the *Soto* case within a matter of months after you were charged with that responsibility in 1996.

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct, sir.

SENATOR LYNCH: Yet it was some three years later that the *Soto* appeal was abandoned?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I'm not sure of the exact date, but I think that's about right.

SENATOR LYNCH: Do you have an opinion as to why -- it's clear from your testimony and from the record that the Attorney General's Office didn't want you to reduce most of your surveys to writing and send it to them?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I'm not really sure, sir.

SENATOR LYNCH: But you know that's a fact?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That they wanted me not to reduce--

SENATOR LYNCH: Right.

SERGEANT GILBERT: --the information to writing?

SENATOR LYNCH: Well, not that you wouldn't reduce it to writing, but you wouldn't send a written memoranda to them setting forth the statistical analysis.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Well, it was their option if, in fact, they wanted those things from me. My understanding was -- is that they were -- believed that the information that I was passing to them verbally was accurate, and at that point in time, that they were satisfied with the way they were getting it.

SENATOR LYNCH: Were you ever told by anyone in the Attorney General's Office that they didn't want the information sent to them in writing, that you were communicating to them orally on the phone?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No. They didn't tell me that specifically, no.

SENATOR LYNCH: No one ever told you not to send over the written information?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No. The issue, as you're raising it, was not put to me in that way.

SENATOR LYNCH: Was it put to you in a way that made it clear to you that they didn't want it in writing?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No. It was put to me in a fashion that if they needed the information, that I had it in writing, I had conveyed it over. There was no effort made on their part to tell me, send the reports over.

SENATOR LYNCH: And you understand, of course, that they would have had some obligation, if they had that information, to pass it along as part of discovery in some of the litigation that they were involved in.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR LYNCH: Correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I understand that.

SENATOR LYNCH: As well as having deniability for purposes of proceedings such as this.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I do.

SENATOR LYNCH: Do you have any opinion as to whether the consent to search procedure should be abandoned?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I think that right now, with -- and we've taken steps in that direction. I think it is -- it's proven itself, over the years, to be a viable tool. I think that we just have to take steps to ensure that we continue to use it properly, and that we monitor the use of it, which I think are the steps that have been put into place now -- and that we train our people properly in its use.

I don't think that there's a need for it to be abandoned at this time, as long as those appropriate measuring tools are undertaken.

SENATOR LYNCH: How do you account for the fact that the characteristics that enter into a reasonable suspicion land on some 80 percent to 90 percent of being minorities?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I can't, sir. I don't have an answer for that.

SENATOR LYNCH: Doesn't that mean there's something wrong with the program?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I'm not really sure, and I don't think I'm in a position, really, to make a definitive statement on that.

SENATOR LYNCH: In terms of the consent search forms, over the years, through your training and through the training you may be familiar with of troopers that are involved in the drug interdiction program, are they given a training program as to how to convince people to sign a consent to search form?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I think what you're trying to do is to explain the form to the people, explain to them what their rights are, make sure that before you do that, that you have reason to be doing it in the first place, and that--

SENATOR LYNCH: But are they given a specific technique as to how to convince them that it's in their best interests to sign the form?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I think every individual trooper out there has their own individual ways of conveying that information to the people. But there are certain set priorities -- or parameters, I'm sorry -- that they're

given as to how they will do that. I don't think that there's any training protocol as far as trying to convince people to sign a consent to search form.

SENATOR LYNCH: Where it's such a significant tool, isn't that -- doesn't it cry out for a clear set of training tools, if you're going to use it at all--

SERGEANT GILBERT: Well, they--

SENATOR LYNCH: --to ensure that innocent motorists are not caused to have their vehicles searched?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I think that's where we've been moving to recently. I think one of the issues that I had raised several years ago, I think we're always in need of any training that we can have to augment our operations and make sure we're doing our job better.

I think that with the consent to search training that we are doing that now. I think that we've moved to that point, and I think that we're ensuring that our troopers balance constitutional rights with also the need to conduct effective law enforcement out on the highways.

SENATOR LYNCH: Based upon your statistical analysis and surveys, what percentage of consent searches come up negative?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that if you want to go back to a find rate, I think we were probably in the area of 25 percent to 30 percent.

SENATOR LYNCH: Twenty-five percent to thirty percent come up negative?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Come up positive.

SENATOR LYNCH: Come up positive?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR LYNCH: So that some 75 percent of the motorists who are subjected to a search have a negative finding with regard to drugs or contraband?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That would be accurate, yes, sir.

SENATOR LYNCH: Thank you, Sergeant.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Senator Furnari.

SENATOR FURNARI: Thank you.

Sergeant, I want to thank you for being so forthright in detailing all the information that you provided us today. I'm going to try not to be as long as some of my fellow colleagues.

I just want to get back to this one issue of the statistics not being sent to the Attorney General's Office. They were -- and as I understand your testimony and as I understand your deposition, you had regular contact with Mr. Rover, and you regularly provided this information and discussed this information and its different machinations as you came across, more or less, information. Is that correct?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR FURNARI: So there was never any question in your mind, throughout the entire process, that the Attorney General's Office was completely and fully aware of all of your activities and all of the varying machinations, whether it was statistics on consent or whether they were stops?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, I passed all that over to Mr. Rover.

SENATOR FURNARI: And just to be absolutely clear, but it also was your information that you were not to send anything to them in writing unless they requested it?

SERGEANT GILBERT: That's correct.

SENATOR FURNARI: And so there was never a time where it was your option, "Today I'll send them a memo; tomorrow I'll call." The answer was if they wanted it in writing, you'd give it to them in writing. Other than that--

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't think I received a specific directive in that form. It's just that I knew that they were -- when I was dealing with Mr. Rover, that I would give him the information. He knew that my materials were fully available to him over at the Division of State Police, and anytime he wanted any of that, they were fully available to him.

SENATOR FURNARI: Okay. Thank you very much.

SERGEANT GILBERT: You're welcome.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Thank you.

Senator O'Connor.

SENATOR O'CONNOR: Sergeant, after the *Soto* case, I know that some plans had been made to implement a four-hour training session on proper search and seizure procedures.

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR O'CONNOR: And am I correct that that was not implemented at the time?

SERGEANT GILBERT: You're correct, sir.

SENATOR O'CONNOR: And has it been implemented to date?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I think that, as time has moved forward, with the training that we've had since the implementation of the consent decree and the reports that have come out, I think we've even gone further

than that. And I know I've been -- personally been to training on these issues that I think -- training was recognized as a very important component of moving forward. And we have had substantial training, including specifically on those issues.

SENATOR O'CONNOR: Thank you. You testified, you know, at length today on the whole history of your involvement with this issue of racial profiling. And some of the events you seem to have a very clear recollection of, I guess because, for example, the Christmas Eve meeting was one that was, you know, sort of unique in that you'd only been twice to that office. And other events have more to do with documents and your analysis.

Are you testifying on those issues, if I can generalize them, from your memory, or from your memory which has been refreshed by looking at documents, or what?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I think it's all a combination of different factors. I mean, this is all meshed in together from so many different directions at this point. Some of it's from direct memory, some of it's from refreshing my memory and looking at the reports. It was an awful voluminous amount of work that I was involved in. It was on top of my other assignments. So I can't give you a definitive that any specific answer is coming from one place. It depends on the circumstances.

SENATOR O'CONNOR: Is your testimony in any way the product of discussions that you had with other members of the State Police?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No. It's a product of me being here today to be honest with you about what happened.

SENATOR O'CONNOR: And prior to your testimony here today, have you had the opportunity to review the various documents that we've all been provided with?

SERGEANT GILBERT: Yes, sir, I have.

SENATOR O'CONNOR: Just one last thing. I recall reading in one of our briefing memos that right after the *Soto* decision, I guess at a point in time when you were assigned to do the analysis -- the statistical analysis -- that one of the members of the State Police attributed the high percentages of minority stops to the knucklehead factor. Is that something that you recall?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe I'm familiar with that, yes, sir.

SENATOR O'CONNOR: That's your quote, the knucklehead factor?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, that's not my quote.

SENATOR O'CONNOR: That's Captain Blaker's quote?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I believe that would be accurate.

SENATOR O'CONNOR: And there was also some discussion about a belief that the statistics would fare better for the State Police, for want of a better term, if other portions of the State, such as the Parkway south, were checked, and parts of the central and northern part of the State. Were those numbers ever put together as part of your analysis?

SERGEANT GILBERT: There was some compliance audits that were done for the radio procedures, because one of the things, as we talked about earlier, we were trying to get the compliance rate up, not only on the Turnpike, but statewide for the troopers calling in their stops and what -- making sure they were calling in complete information.

And there was analysis done by Internal Affairs, which went out to various locations, throughout the State, to look at the compliance rate for the radio audit. So we did have that information that had come in from those stations.

And looking forward, what was going to be implemented in the near future, was the CAD system, which I mentioned earlier. And that was -- where we are now, where they can actually go into the system and extract that information out. We really didn't have the computerized capability to do that back then. We've reached that point now, today, where we do.

SENATOR O'CONNOR: So that I understand then, your final numbers, then, which indicated that the State Police were vulnerable, did they take in these overall numbers, or were they limited?

SERGEANT GILBERT: No, the numbers that I generated were from the Turnpike. However, I believe the issue of the letter had come up today that had the passage in there about the ongoing monitoring, about the Turnpike stations, and other stations in the State. That information was derived from information that I had passed on that's contained in those reports about the radio compliance audits.

SENATOR O'CONNOR: Thanks very much.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Counsel has one final question.

MR. CHERTOFF: Sergeant, I don't know if this was ever compiled, but did anybody ever put together the percentage of people who are asked to participate in a consent search and refused?

SERGEANT GILBERT: I don't think that there was, sir, because we didn't have it all computerized. I would think that now, with the way that

we're doing things, that that will be one of the -- I haven't been directly involved in developing the system that's in place now, but I would think that if it's not in place, the recommendation obviously could be forthcoming. But I think, very easily, from a review of the reports, you could come up with that.

MR. CHERTOFF: Thank you.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Now I'd like to thank you for your testimony. You have done a lot to make people proud of the title of sergeant. So I want to thank you very much for your testimony.

We will take a five-minute break.

(RECESS)

AFTER RECESS:

SENATOR GORMLEY: We'll begin with the next list -- we'll have three witnesses next, in a panel: Major Richard Touw, Major Joseph Brennan, and Captain David Blaker.

Have a seat for now. We'll wait for all the senators to get back in the room.

I'd ask that Major Touw, Major Brennan, and Captain Blaker stand to be administered the oath. Please raise your right hand.

(Oath administered)

Mr. Chertoff.

MR. CHERTOFF: If you would -- just each of you identify yourself and give your current employment.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Excuse me. Make sure the red light's on.
This is very confusing sometime. (referring to PA microphone)

MAJOR RICHARD TOUW: Retired Major Richard Touw. I'm currently employed at AAA-Midlantic Insurance.

CAPTAIN DAVID E. BLAKER: Retired Captain David E. Blaker.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Excuse me. Excuse me for one second.
Stop the interview in the rear, please. There's an interview going on. Would you please conclude the interview.

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Retired Captain David E. Blaker, currently the acting Camden County Prosecutor.

MAJOR JOSEPH BRENNAN: Major Joseph Brennan, Superintendent's Office, Supervisor, Professional Standards, Division of State Police.

MR. CHERTOFF: I'm going to just go, again, down the row.
Major Touw, you were with the State Police during the period 1995 until your retirement in when?

MAJOR TOUW: I retired in March of 1999.

MR. CHERTOFF: And so you were with the State Police during that period of time, right?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, I was.

MR. CHERTOFF: What was your assignment in the period 1995 through 1999?

MAJOR TOUW: From '95 I first was the Bureau Chief, Internal Affairs Bueau. I left the Bureau in October the 4th of 1996. I was transferred

to the Investigations Section, where I was the Assistant Investigations Officer. A year later I was promoted to major, and I served as the Investigations Officer until my retirement in 1999.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. Now, Prosecutor Blaker, you were -- what were your assignments from 1995 through your retirement?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: In 1995, I was the Assistant Station Commander at Bass River Station, on the Parkway. January 6th, 7th, or 8th of 1996, I was transferred to Division Headquarters, where I became the administrative assistant to Colonel Carl Williams. In October of '97 I became the Equal Employment Opportunity-Affirmative Action Bureau Chief, which varies from what I had said during my deposition, or interview. I think I said March of '98 I became the Bureau Chief of the EEO-AA Bureau. I was mistaken. After checking my calendar, it's actually October of '97.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right, so you're correcting your testimony?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And finally, Major Brennan, what was your -- what were your assignments from 1995 through 1999?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Sir, in 1995, I was a lieutenant assigned as the administrative assistant to Colonel Williams. In December of 1995, I was transferred to the EEO-AA, the Equal Employment Opportunity-Affirmative Action Bureau as the supervisor, promoted to captain. In September of 1997, I was transferred to the Training Bureau in Sea Girt, as the Commandant of the Academy. And in January of 2000 I was transferred to the superintendent's office as a captain and made responsible for being the Division Liaison with the consent decree negotiation and implementation, and

then organizing the new internal affairs function, currently the Office of Professional Standards, which I now supervise.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. Now let me go to you, Major Touw. In early 1996, you were with Internal Affairs?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, I was.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. And did there come a time you became aware of the decision in the Gloucester County case, before Judge Francis, called the *Soto* case?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, there was.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, were you assigned soon after that to be part of a committee that was set up by the superintendent to deal with the issue of racial profiling?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, I was.

MR. CHERTOFF: And if I could just do this rapidly, because we heard testimony this morning, am I correct that the committee included then Detective Gilbert, then Captain Brennan, Detective Reilly, and Trooper DiPatri, as well as Deputy Attorneys General Fahy and Susswein?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: And am I correct, also, Major Brennan, that you were part of that committee in 1996 as well?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now both you, Major Touw, and you, Major Brennan, attended meetings with the committee?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Yes, sir.

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: And are you familiar with the fact, Major Touw, that Detective Gilbert wrote memos or reports which included summaries of what happened at the meetings?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, I am.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you ever review those at the time that they were written or shortly thereafter?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, I have.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay.

And what about you, Major Brennan, did you have an opportunity to review those at the time or shortly thereafter?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Not at the time, sir, I believe I saw them for the first time during my earlier testimony for this proceeding in February.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, Captain Blaker, you were, at the time, at the Office of the Deputy Superintendent, correct?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And were these memos transmitted through you up to Colonel Williams?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: So you were familiar with them as well, right?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: Let me ask, going down the line here, Major Touw, do you have reason to doubt the general accuracy of the memos as they recount the meetings that you attended?

MAJOR TOUW: No, I have no reason.

MR. CHERTOFF: What about you, Major Brennan? To the extent you recall the meetings, are the -- is the version set forth in the various memos prepared by Sergeant Gilbert accurate?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, I want to direct your attention, first of all, to events in early 1996, Major Touw.

Did there come a period of time that you were made aware of an issue that had been raised in Moorestown by certain minority troopers concerning profiling?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, there was.

MR. CHERTOFF: How did that come to your attention?

MAJOR TOUW: I received a memo, to my recollection, with a special report from Lieutenant Gilbert. It also contained a -- Lieutenant Gilbert's report was-- Attached to that was a special report from Trooper Smith, who was a trooper at the Moorestown Station.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what-- Tell us in brief what these reports indicated to you when they came to your attention.

MAJOR TOUW: They indicated a concern by the minority troopers that the nonminority troopers were stopping more minorities than the minority troopers were.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you actually look at the statistics that had been developed?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, I'm going to put before you a document we saw earlier. It's W-30. It's actually right before you on the table, I think.

It's a memo to Peter Verniero from Alex Waugh, dated July 29, 1997, and it bears the letters OAG-975 at the bottom. If you could just get that.

Now, I take it the first page of this you didn't see at the time, right? The cover page.

MAJOR TOUW: I hadn't seen that, no.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right.

If you turn to the first page and you go into the body of the memo, you see there's a number of documents. First of all, there's a report to you from Lieutenant Hinkle.

MAJOR TOUW: That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: Who's Lieutenant Hinkle?

MAJOR TOUW: He was the Inspection Officer for Internal Affairs.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, do you know how this report, dated September 24, 1996, came to be prepared?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes. I directed him to prepare this report.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what was the reason for that?

MAJOR TOUW: This was done as a result of the concerns that were generated by Lieutenant Gilbert and the minority members at the Moorestown Station.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what was the purpose of having him prepare this report?

MAJOR TOUW: Would you repeat that, please?

MR. CHERTOFF: What was the purpose of having him prepare this report -- Lieutenant Hinkle?

MAJOR TOUW: Basically, I wanted a better understanding of the circumstances that were going on at the station. I wanted to know whether the information that Lieutenant Gilbert had given was accurate.

MR. CHERTOFF: And as you go through the package you see that, for example, towards the end -- going further back -- you have a document to you from Major Fedorko, dated June 13, 1996. Is that something that you would receive that led you to generate this review by Lieutenant Hinkle?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes. I generated this document after receiving Hinkle's report.

MR. CHERTOFF: And as we go further back in the document, going in reverse chronological order, are these the various original complaints and reports that came to your attention that led you to generate Lieutenant Hinkle's study?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right.

I want to take you to the very last page in this group. It is a page from a special report continuation, dated April 15th, 1996, from Lieutenant Gilbert, and actually, the final two pages is a statistical review of the Moorestown Station criminal activities and personnel facts for the year 1995.

Do you see that?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you remember getting this in 1996?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, I do.

MR. CHERTOFF: And you see at the top of the page, it says here that it makes reference to the Gloucester County decision, and you understand that to be the *Soto* case.

MAJOR TOUW: That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right.

Now, as you review this set of statistics put together by Lieutenant Gilbert, it indicates, for example, on the last page, "consent searches conducted: 89 minority driver consent searches. That's 62 percent of 144. And 55 nonminority -- that's 38 percent of 144."

Do you remember that statistic among others?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, I do.

MR. CHERTOFF: In your mind at the time, did you have a reaction to that statistic or to these statistics in general?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: What was that reaction?

MAJOR TOUW: I was concerned that they were high.

MR. CHERTOFF: And of course, this is April '96, so this is within a matter of a few weeks after the *Soto* decision, correct?

MAJOR TOUW: I believe so, yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: And you were familiar with that decision?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, I was somewhat familiar with it, yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you also form a reaction when you got the report back from Lieutenant Hinkle about the percentages of stops that

Lieutenant Hinkle identified that were of both white and nonwhite or minority or nonminority?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: What was your reaction to that?

MAJOR TOUW: I was also concerned, again, because those figures were higher than what were stated in the *Soto* decision.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you, in fact, communicate that fact to Major Fedorko?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: And you did that in a memo?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, let me ask you--

Before I continue with you-- Major Brennan, was there a point in time when you became aware of these statistics that are contained in this document?

MAJOR BRENNAN: I had received a copy of a transmittal of the Lieutenant B. Gilbert memo, sir, with the report by SFC James Smith. So I did have knowledge and did work with that document.

MR. CHERTOFF: And again, focusing your attention on the consent search issue, did you have a reaction to the statistics presented on the last page regarding consent searches?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Yes, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: What was that reaction?

MAJOR BRENNAN: I thought they were high.

MR. CHERTOFF: And again, when you say you thought they were high, can you explain a little bit about the context of that?

MAJOR BRENNAN: I did not study these statistics carefully. At this point, from my assignments, I was already of the conclusion that the division needed to be going in a different direction, and the materials that I saw, I looked at, and backed up my impression. I did not go through them.

My response was I believed we needed a competent statistician. Lieutenant Gilbert, probably a fine station commander, but in order to actually-- If the statistics were even needed to go further in this issue, we needed a survey, or research done by a scientific institution, that could look at that material.

MR. CHERTOFF: Captain Blaker, was there a point in time you saw these statistics?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And do you remember how that came to be?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Through the course of my employment as the superintendent's administrative assistant.

MR. CHERTOFF: And did you have a reaction to the statistics on the last page regarding consent searches?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: I did, sir. As I recall, the percentages were somewhere in the vicinity of 62 percent minorities--

MR. CHERTOFF: That's correct.

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Bear with me a second.

I thought the numbers were high, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you remember ever having a discussion with that fact with the superintendent?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: I don't recall a specific discussion.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, Major Touw or Major Brennan, you sat on the committee related to post-*Soto* racial profiling issues, correct?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, that's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: Major Touw, do you remember discussing this particular issue, these Moorestown statistics, at the committee meeting?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: And do you remember approximately when that would have been?

MAJOR TOUW: It would have been the next meeting subsequent to the date of the report.

MR. CHERTOFF: That would have been in October, or would it have been after the April meeting?

MAJOR TOUW: The last meeting I attended was October the 4th, 1996.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you discuss it at the last meeting, or did you discuss it at an earlier meeting?

MAJOR TOUW: My recollection is, I would have discussed it at the last meeting. I may have discussed it sooner. I note that Lieutenant Hinkle's report is dated September the 24th of '96.

MR. CHERTOFF: And do you remember anything about the discussion as it occurred at that meeting concerning this issue?

MAJOR TOUW: I think everybody was concerned about the high numbers that were generated as a result of the report.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, let me ask you again, during your period of service on this committee, which I guess ran from about April of '96 through October of '96, was there discussion on the committee in general about audits?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, there was.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what was that discussion?

MAJOR TOUW: Basically, I believe I may have brought it up. I had a thought of the way we should be doing audits, to audit the stops of our troopers.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what was the suggestion that you made?

MAJOR TOUW: Well, I suggested that the Inspection Unit -- in fact, my recollection is I may have even had the Inspection Unit conduct one of these audits in the Washington and Perryville Stations in early 1996.

However, what my thought was, was to obtain the stopping information of a given trooper or given troopers and compare that against other troopers on the same squad, other troopers at the same station, other troopers working on the same roadway, maybe at a different station, to see if the stopping patterns were unacceptable.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, you said something about a Perryville audit. Do you remember specifically that in early 1996 there was an audit of the Perryville Station in Hunterdon County?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, there was, as the result of a complaint from an individual, and as follow-up, a story in *The Star-Ledger* with regard to troopers stopping individuals because they were black at those stations.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, I'm going to show you what we've marked -- and it's before you in the pile of papers -- G-5. It's a memo from Detective Gilbert through, among others, Sergeant Blaker up to Colonel Littles, dated April 24, '96, and it talks about the Perryville audit arrest information.

Is this the audit you were referring to as the one that was conducted in Perryville?

MAJOR TOUW: This is not the report that I'm familiar with.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you remember what report you -- what your report was or the report you are thinking of was?

MAJOR TOUW: My report was conducted by Lieutenant Hinkle from the Inspection Unit.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right.

Can you tell us what you recall of that audit, the Perryville audit? What was the subject matter, and what were the results?

MAJOR TOUW: Again, the subject matter was the fact that an individual had complained, in behalf of her brother, I believe, that the troopers at those two stations -- are actually on Interstate 78 -- were stopping individuals because of their race only.

The data that was able to be collected was insufficient to draw a real accurate conclusion. There were stops that weren't documented as to the race of the individual, numerous stops. So, from what data we had available, we were unable to substantiate the allegation.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right.

That was an internal audit of summonses, is that what it would be?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, it was.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. Now, what I've shown you, which is the exhibit G-5, that's a separate, a different analysis that was done for Perryville having to do with arrests. Do you remember seeing this?

MAJOR TOUW: I don't think I have. This came from the Traffic and Records Unit in the R and I Section.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right.

Now, let me direct your attention, Major Touw, to April 12th of 1996. I want to, again, put before you an exhibit we've marked as G-4, OAG-4197. And let me ask you to take a look at that for a second, because I want to ask you about that meeting.

MAJOR TOUW: I've seen this before.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, do you remember attending this meeting?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, I was in attendance.

MR. CHERTOFF: And I want to, first of all, direct your attention to the paragraph that says, "Gloucester County appeal." It indicates that there was discussion at the meeting concerning the need to review the actual cases by the 19 -- the 19 Moorestown cases that were the subject of the Gloucester County appeal to determine whether, in fact, if the appeal were successful by the State and the case went back for further fact-finding, whether there would be potential negative issues regarding the actual troopers.

And it concludes by saying, "If this review uncovers substantial problems, it would be recommended that additional thought be given to proceeding with the appeal."

Do you remember that discussion?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, I do.

MR. CHERTOFF: And again, is it correct, as the memo indicates, that Mr. Fahy and Mr. Susswein were present?

MAJOR TOUW: I believe they were.

MR. CHERTOFF: What was the gist of the discussion that you remember about this issue?

MAJOR TOUW: Can you be more clear with your question?

MR. CHERTOFF: Basically, what was the conversation concerning the Gloucester County appeal and the need to review the actual underlying cases?

MAJOR TOUW: Well, the basic feeling that I got from this was that we needed to have more accurate data to determine whether we should conduct an appeal.

MR. CHERTOFF: And when you say more accurate data, you mean underlying data regarding the actual cases and the troopers whose investigations were the subject of the appeal?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, those and the overall activities of the stations at Moorestown.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was it clear to you in that meeting that there was going to be an analysis undertaken, a statistical analysis undertaken, of the activities at Moorestown Station for the period of 1995 and 1996?

MAJOR TOUW: By way of an inspection audit?

MR. CHERTOFF: Or by way of any kind of an analysis by Detective Gilbert.

MAJOR TOUW: No, it wasn't clear to me, no.

MR. CHERTOFF: Well, what was the understanding you had concerning what was going to be reviewed at Moorestown?

MAJOR TOUW: My understanding is that we were going to do an inspection audit of the Moorestown Station.

MR. CHERTOFF: And was that done?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, it was.

MR. CHERTOFF: When was that done?

MAJOR TOUW: When was it done?

MR. CHERTOFF: Yes.

MAJOR TOUW: It would have been in the summer, I believe, or early spring of 1996.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, was it clear to everybody-- Was it made clear at the meeting at which Mr. Fahy and Mr. Susswein attended, therefore, that there was going to be a statistical audit or an inspection audit of Moorestown Station that would yield information concerning stops at that station?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: And, Major Brennan, do you have the same recollection that was discussed at the meeting?

MAJOR BRENNAN: My recollection is different, Mr. Chertoff, from the perspective of, I believe it was the first time that it was made clear to me that even if we succeeded in the appeal, DAG Fahy was explaining to us that each individual case, in and of itself, would still have suppression motions per case, as opposed to a class. And it was important to get that information up to our superiors with regard to whether this appeal should continue to be

prosecuted, especially if there were other discrepancies with the troopers involved in the arrests.

So I don't recall discussions of an audit, and I had no follow-up expecting an audit to come back, but I think the main concern was the amount of work that laid ahead should we even win the appeal.

MR. CHERTOFF: Well, let me ask you this then: Is it fair to say you certainly remember that Mr. Fahy expressed the importance -- in terms of deciding whether to proceed with the appeal or continue with the appeal, the importance of getting an understanding of the underlying facts about what was going on at Moorestown?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Other than, sir, the appeal may have already been decided at higher levels that it was going forward, but DAG Fahy was making it clear to us, in my recollection, that that wasn't the end of it, that we had better be certain that we had the information we needed for each individual case, much less the class aspect of *Soto*.

MR. CHERTOFF: And, Major Touw, you recall it actually going so far as to be a discussion of undertaking some kind of inspection audit, right?

MAJOR TOUW: That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, is it also fair to say, again, looking at this memo, that there was discussion about the fact that there were issues, similar issues to the Gloucester case, in other parts of the State, and that therefore there would have to be a need to deal with getting statistical evidence together in other parts of the State as well?

MAJOR TOUW: That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: And in particular, was it your understanding that there was going to be a statistical overview at the Perryville Station and that that was discussed in this April meeting?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, we were going to do a Perryville audit, also.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay, and is that the summons audit you talked about, or is that the arrest audit that I showed you a few moments ago?

MAJOR TOUW: That would have been the summons audit.

MR. CHERTOFF: And again, that was discussed with Deputy Attorney General Fahy and Mr. Susswein present, right?

MAJOR TOUW: If this report indicates that they were there.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you remember if they were there?

MAJOR TOUW: At this point, I don't really recall.

MR. CHERTOFF: You don't have any reason to doubt the memo that says that they were there, correct?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, it says they were there. I would agree with it, yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: And again, Major Brennan, do you have a recollection that it was generally discussed that there would have to be other statistical work with respect to these other cases?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, let me ask you this, Major Touw: Stepping back and looking at your entire service on the committee, was there an understanding that the State Police, through your unit, would be conducting some inspection audits going forward to develop some sense of, statistically, what was going on with respect to stops?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: And was that made clear at the committee meetings?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, it was.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, I want to show you what we've also looked at earlier today -- CW-6 -- which has GC-3983 at the bottom. And it's a kind of a superintendent's action memo on the top, and then it's got an interoffice communication from May 21, 1996, regarding the May 16th committee meeting.

I want to ask you if you recognize that?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right.

Now, if you look at that document, there's a-- Do you remember attending this particular meeting?

MAJOR TOUW: I don't have any independent recollection of it, no.

MR. CHERTOFF: Well, I'm going to refresh your memory. If you see the first paragraph, it says there was a meeting with Lieutenant Colonel Littles, Captain Touw, Captain Brennan, Sergeant Blaker, Detective Gilbert, Trooper DiPatri, and Attorneys General Susswein and Fahy.

Do you have a reason to doubt that?

MAJOR TOUW: No.

MR. CHERTOFF: Major Brennan, do you remember attending that meeting?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Sir, I remember the committee work, and I think I attended each meeting, but specifically which one, I don't have an independent recollection of what happened at what meeting.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay.

Captain Blaker, do you remember being at this meeting?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Yes, I do, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, there's discussion at the very last page. It talks about, "the Gloucester County appeal is proceeding as planned. The Records and Identification Section has prepared an analysis of the arrest statistics for those troopers whose cases are subject to the appeal."

Now is that refer in your mind to that discussion you had had that we talked about in your April meeting about the need to do a review of the Moorestown cases? Remember, in the April memo we showed you a few moments ago, it indicated that there was going to be an analysis or inspection audit of the Moorestown cases.

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, I remember that, yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right.

It also talks about "A preliminary analysis of enforcement activity for the I-78 Perryville Station for the period 10/94 to 10/95 has also been completed." Was that essentially true as of this point in time?

MAJOR TOUW: I believe so, yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you remember at any point in 1996, Major Touw, if you had discussion with anybody concerning either the results of the Moorestown inspection audit or the results of the Perryville analysis?

MAJOR TOUW: I discussed those findings at the different meetings that we had.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what was the gist of those findings in terms of proportionality of minorities to nonminorities being stopped at Moorestown and at Perryville?

MAJOR TOUW: At Moorestown they were alarming. I was concerned. They were high. My recollection of Perryville was that it was not quite as bad.

MR. CHERTOFF: And this was discussed at these committee meetings?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was there any secret at the committee meetings that there were audits and statistical reviews being conducted?

MAJOR TOUW: No.

MR. CHERTOFF: In fact, is it fair to say that one of your main points at the committee meetings was the importance of conducting audits?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, it was.

MR. CHERTOFF: You didn't keep that a secret from anybody at the committee?

MAJOR TOUW: No.

MR. CHERTOFF: What about you, Major Brennan, do you remember discussion concerning the results of the Moorestown audits or the Perryville analysis with anybody?

MAJOR BRENNAN: I remember general discussions in the courses of the committee meetings about the data being as alarming or as high as it was.

MR. CHERTOFF: And was there any-- Is there any doubt in your mind that the fact that there were these analyses and statistical reviews going on was something that was made clear to everybody on the committee?

MAJOR BRENNAN: The committee was well aware of it, yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: And that would include Mr. Fahy and Mr. Susswein?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: What about you, Captain Blaker, do you remember this subject generally coming up during the committee meetings you attended?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Yes, I do.

MR. CHERTOFF: And again, is there any doubt in your mind that it was made clear to the people of the committee, including the people from the Office of the Attorney General, that there were statistical analyses and reviews going on?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: There is not, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And was it also clear that the numbers were high?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: The numbers were high, yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, let me ask you, Major Touw, did there come a point in time in mid-1996 that you accompanied Mr. Fahy to a

meeting with a prosecutor from Hunterdon County concerning these Hunterdon County cases?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, I did.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what was the purpose of the meeting?

MAJOR TOUW: To educate the prosecutor on the inspection audit program that we had initiated in the State Police.

MR. CHERTOFF: And why was that relevant to what was going on with the Hunterdon County prosecutor? Why did she have to know about this?

MAJOR TOUW: Because there were some actions by the Public Defender's Office against the State Police to -- based on racial profiling.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you come to learn, either in that meeting or later, that something happened with respect to a couple of cases in Hunterdon County?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, I believe that it was two cases where some of the serious -- most serious -- charges were dropped.

MR. CHERTOFF: What was the reason for that?

MAJOR TOUW: Because of the concerns of the possible racial profiling that the Hunterdon County prosecutor had.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you remember who made the decision that those should be dropped? Was it the Hunterdon County prosecutor, or was it basically an instruction came down from Mr. Fahy?

MAJOR TOUW: I don't really recall.

MR. CHERTOFF: Is it fair to say that having to drop major narcotics charges because of problems of profiling was a significant event and a serious event, as far as you were concerned?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: And was it-- Do you recall whether the Hunterdon County prosecutor was concerned or displeased about the need to do this?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, I think she was troubled by it.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was the motivation for doing this, if you recall, to avoid having to get into court and litigate the underlying facts?

MAJOR TOUW: I don't really recall the-- My motivation was to advise the Hunterdon County prosecutor of our new inspection audit program.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you remember the Hunterdon County Prosecutor's Office being uncomfortable with pleading the cases out, due to the fact that the first-degree crimes charged were being charged because of the type and amount of drugs involved?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, I do recall that.

MR. CHERTOFF: Were the cases ultimately pled out on reduced charges?

MAJOR TOUW: I believe they were.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you have a conversation with Mr. Fahy about this fact?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, I spoke to him about it. I don't have any independent recollection of what our conversation was, but I'm sure -- I'm confident that I spoke to him about it.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you remember anything at all about the conversation?

MAJOR TOUW: Basically, we talked about the inspection audit. I believe Mr. Fahy was-- There was also a Mercer County issue that was going on, and he was going to go to Mercer County and address that issue.

MR. CHERTOFF: And was it the same problem, an issue of perhaps having to drop cases or plead them to reduced charges, because of problems with the underlying facts involving the issue of the stops?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes. Yes, it was.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now again, in trying to put into perspective the importance of these issues to people involved in law enforcement, would you agree with me that when problems with an investigative technique reach the level that it's necessary to talk about throwing out major criminal cases, because you don't want to have to deal with the underlying investigation, that that generally is considered a very serious problem?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, it is.

MR. CHERTOFF: And is it fair to say that from your discussions in the committee and from your discussions with Mr. Fahy, that others that you were dealing with regarded this as a serious problem?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now I want to-- You left, then, in October of 1996. You left your position with IAB, and you moved someplace else, right?

MAJOR TOUW: That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: And did that essentially end your direct involvement with racial profiling?

MAJOR TOUW: Yes, it did.

MR. CHERTOFF: And again, with respect to you, Major Brennan, as of late 1996, were you still involved with the issue of racial profiling?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Only insofar as the assignment to the committee was concerned, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you remember, did there come a point in time the committee kind of tailed off or stopped meeting?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Yes. I have a recollection of three, possibly four meetings, and that's the extent of it.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you know why that was?

MAJOR BRENNAN: No, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: During the time, Major Touw, that you were there, and during the time you were there, Major Brennan, involved with the committee, this was before there was any notion of a Federal civil rights investigation getting started, correct?

MAJOR TOUW: Correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: Is that also correct for you, Major Brennan?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Well, I had not heard of any investigation, but based on the track that the *Soto* decision had taken, I assumed that it was only a matter of time before something along that line would occur. And I believe at the meeting -- at these meetings -- that issue was voiced.

MR. CHERTOFF: About a possible civil rights violation -- investigation?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Yes. Yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: Why did you believe it was likely to come about?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Well, the impact of the *Soto* decision, the nature of it, the way Judge Francis laid out his determination, created a road map to focus on law enforcement, in my view, not just the State Police, and I believed that it might-- My personal feeling was it would generate interest on the part of the Justice Department, or other defendants -- defense attorneys would be moving toward the Justice Department in order to aid their clients if they couldn't get relief at the State level, so I felt it was just a matter of time that we would face that.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you voice this opinion at these committee meetings?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did there come a time you learned that there was a Maryland State Police case that had been settled with a consent decree?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: How did you find that out?

MAJOR BRENNAN: I don't recall the issue of why I went onto the Internet in my other role in the EEO-AA Bureau. I just don't recall the details. But when I found the ACLU case, what struck me was the fact that the individual troopers in Maryland, their names, their locations, were listed on the Internet for all to see. And I felt that that would be extremely critical to the people who were working on this, that perhaps someone who saw their outcome might stand up and look at where we could end up if we didn't take some significant action.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you communicate about this realization to anybody else?

MAJOR BRENNAN: To Tom Gilbert.

MR. CHERTOFF: Why did you communicate it to him?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Because I knew from the committee work that Detective Gilbert and Sergeant Blaker, at the time, had opened a channel of communication with the superintendent, who at the time -- Colonel Williams was extremely chain-of-command oriented. And the committee recommendations that we had been involved with, I had not yet see come to fruition at that time.

I knew that Tom Gilbert, through his efforts, and Sergeant Blaker had brought this information through which, I believe, around the chain of command, to Colonel Williams, and that he was interested in the information to the point that he was authorizing Detective Gilbert to bring this information out to the road stations to look more carefully at how we were conducting business.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you ever have a conversation with Sergeant Gilbert about a comparison he made between consent to search numbers in New Jersey and those in Maryland?

MAJOR BRENNAN: I think it was a few days later or some short time period later, he contacted me back and advised that our statistics were either equal to or possibly worse than Maryland's.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what did you say?

MAJOR BRENNAN: I just basically told him I anticipated something along that line.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did he indicate to you at any point in time -- that is, Sergeant Gilbert -- that he had communicated about this comparison between Maryland and New Jersey to anybody else?

MAJOR BRENNAN: My recollection is, he was speaking to Sergeant Blaker and Colonel Williams about these issues.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did he say he had spoken to anybody else?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Not that I recall.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay.

Captain Blaker, now, so the question then becomes, do you remember being told by Sergeant Gilbert about this comparison between the New Jersey consent to search figures and the Maryland figures?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Yes, I do, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And how did that come about?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: I don't remember how it came about other than the normal work-a-day activity that we had. I was his supervisor. He discussed things with me. I assigned him to do the case, and as everyone's seen, he did a great job. And we gave the information to the Colonel, and the numbers weren't good. They were very bad. They weren't parallel. They were very close.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you see an undated memorandum he prepared that laid this all out?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: I did see the undated memorandum.

MR. CHERTOFF: It's G-13. I don't think you have it in front of you. I'm going to show you G-13 in a minute. This is the undated memo we talked about.

Do you remember seeing that document?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: I do remember seeing it at some point.

MR. CHERTOFF: And did Sergeant Gilbert give that to you and indicate he was passing it up to Colonel Williams?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: I don't recall whether Sergeant Gilbert gave it to me. I just recall that I had seen it before.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you ever discuss this document with Colonel Williams or the content of the document with Colonel Williams?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: We certainly discussed the content at different times. I don't know that we did it in connection with this particular document.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what was-- Let me talk about two parts of the content. There is part of the content that has to do with consent to search data in New Jersey-Maryland, and part of it has to do with the underlying analysis of the stops at Moorestown Station.

Do you remember whether you discussed both parts of that with Colonel Williams?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: I don't have an independent recollection, but I probably would have.

MR. CHERTOFF: But you specifically remember talking about the consent to search data with him?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: As I sit here now, I don't specifically recall the content of our conversation.

MR. CHERTOFF: Let me ask you this: In your conversations with Colonel Williams, do you recall if he expressed concern to you or if you

expressed concern to him that the consent to search numbers being so close to those in Maryland, that it was exposure to the State Police in terms of litigation with the Department of Justice?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: We were both concerned that the numbers were high. I don't know that he expressed it in terms of a lawsuit, a potential lawsuit, but we knew it was going to impact us. And the information had been turned -- would have been turned over to the Attorney General's Office.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you have discussions with Sergeant Gilbert-- Now, first of all, you were his superior in the chain of command?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right.

So you obviously had the responsibility for supervising him and making sure he did what he was supposed to do, is that fair to say?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: That's fair, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did he tell you that the content of this document, not the document itself, but that the content of this document had been shared with anybody from the Attorney General's Office?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Tommy generally-- Sergeant Gilbert generally represented to me that he turned everything that he got, with respect to his investigation into this matter, over to his contact in the Attorney General's Office.

MR. CHERTOFF: And at the time -- point in time we're talking about, which is early 1997, was his contact George Rover?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Yes, it was.

MR. CHERTOFF: Would you agree with me that Gilbert represented to you that Rover had all the information that Gilbert had compiled?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Yes, I would.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was it your understanding that Sergeant Gilbert was in regular contact with Mr. Rover, passing on information that he was developing with respect to statistics to Mr. Rover?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was that part of Sergeant Gilbert's assignment?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Yes, it was.

MR. CHERTOFF: Were you, in fact, aware that there was an order from Colonel Williams to Sergeant Gilbert to make sure this information was getting over to Mr. Rover?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: I don't know if I was aware of it then.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you become aware of it later?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: I've heard it either today or at some point during other procedures reference this committee.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you, yourself, have conversations with Mr.-- You knew Mr. Rover personally, right?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you, yourself, have conversations with Mr. Rover in 1997, where he indicated to you an awareness that the Moorestown and Cranbury statistics were bad numbers in terms of the position of the State Police?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. Tell us about that -- that conversation.

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Occasionally, I would meet George Rover at the gas pump -- not plan it, we just happened to be gassing up at the same time, our vehicles -- and we would just talk about how the numbers were bad, not in-depth conversations, but enough for me to know that George Rover was aware of the numbers.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, there actually came a time you attended a meeting regarding the issue of the Maryland statistics, correct, in the Attorney General's Office?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: May 20th, 1997.

MR. CHERTOFF: That's the day.

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: You remember that.

CAPTAIN BLAKER: I do.

MR. CHERTOFF: How did you come to attend the meeting? How did it get generated?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: As I recall, Sergeant Gilbert received a fax from someone at the Office of the Attorney General, possibly George Rover. He brought it into the office. I don't know whether I saw it first or the Colonel saw it first, but the Colonel advised me that I was going to go to the Office of the Attorney General with he and Tommy Gilbert.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, I'm going to show you W-29, which is a copy of the interoffice memo setting forth the agenda -- GC-2210. It should

be in front of you. It's actually three versions of the same document with some handwriting on it.

Do you have that?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: I don't have it, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. We'll give it to you.

It's headed, Department of Law and Public Safety, Office of the Attorney General, Interoffice Memorandum, and it's dated May 20th, 1997.

You have it?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: I do, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Is that the document that was faxed over to Sergeant Gilbert? I don't mean with the handwriting on it.

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Sergeant Gilbert represented to me that this is the information that was faxed to him, yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And did you, in fact, attend the meeting?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: I did, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now the top-- There are three copies of the typed agenda in this exhibit with -- each one has different handwriting. The top one, marked Page GC-2210, whose handwriting is on that, except for where it says Alex Waugh?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: That's my printing, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you basically take some notes during the course of the meeting?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: I wrote this down after we left the meeting and we went back to Division Headquarters, which is approximately a 10-minute drive.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. We'll come to that in a second.

Where did the meeting take place?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: In the Attorney General's Office.

MR. CHERTOFF: And who was there?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: To the best of my recollection, there was Attorney General Verniero; DAG Fahy; DAG Rover; Colonel Williams; I believe the executive assistant, Alex Waugh; Sergeant Gilbert; and I was, also.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, with respect to the agenda items, let me focus your attention on the agenda item marked "production of consent to search documents."

But first let me ask you, in general, who did most of the talking at the meeting?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: My impression was that George Rover did most of the talking.

MR. CHERTOFF: And with respect to this item, "production of consent to search documents," what was the conversation with respect to that?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: As I stated in my taped interview in February, sir, I don't remember much of what was talked about at this meeting, other than the fact that there was a recitation by George Rover of statistics that had been provided to him by Sergeant Gilbert.

MR. CHERTOFF: And were these the statistics that were compared to the Maryland statistics?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: So is it fair to say that Mr. Rover summarized the information he had gotten from Sergeant Gilbert comparing the Maryland statistics and the New Jersey statistics?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what-- After he summarized that-- Let me withdraw the question.

In the course of that summary, was it made clear that the statistics in New Jersey were essentially on a par or even slightly worse than the Maryland statistics?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was it made clear in the meeting that the Maryland statistics had led to the imposition of a consent decree?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was there anybody at the meeting who expressed concern about whether these consent to search statistics for New Jersey would expose the State Police to the risk of a similar type of court order?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: I'm sure there was, sir, I just don't have an independent recollection of that part of it.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, you do remember the Attorney General addressing the issue of a consent decree, whether he would go along with one or not, right?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: That's why I'm sure there must have been conversation about it, yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: What did the Attorney General say, as you later recorded it in your notes, on the agenda item?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Well, with respect to signing the consent decree, he stated that, they'd have to tie me to a track and drag me along -- tie me to a train and drag me along the track before I'd sign a decree.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what was your reaction to that?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: I was delighted.

MR. CHERTOFF: In your drive back on the way to West Trenton, did Colonel Williams or anybody else express a reaction to that?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: I think Colonel Williams and Sergeant Gilbert did, as did I. I don't remember the exact content, but we were pleased that we were going to be given an opportunity -- we being the Division of State Police -- an opportunity to cure whatever ills we were experiencing within the State Police at that time.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, let me ask you this then: After-- And apart from the discussion about the consent to search statistics in New Jersey and Maryland and the issue of a consent decree, did there come any point in the meeting where there was discussion about how you would actually go about curing the problem?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: In the meeting of May 20th?

MR. CHERTOFF: Right.

CAPTAIN BLAKER: I don't recall that there was, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did anybody in the meeting suggest that the State Police go behind the numbers, the statistics on consent to search, and actually investigate the underlying files?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Not that I recall.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you remember anybody turning to Colonel Williams in the meeting, and saying, point-blank, "Is there racial profiling going on?"

CAPTAIN BLAKER: I don't remember that, no.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did anybody, in your recollection of the meeting, ask questions of any of the State Police representatives there about the underlying facts or underlying statistics with a view to determining whether there was a real problem or not?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: If there were questions posed to the members of the State Police, they would have been posed to Tom Gilbert, because he was the repository of all our knowledge, or most of it, at that point. But I don't remember Sergeant Gilbert saying more than -- he may have, but I don't remember him saying more than a dozen words, if that.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did anybody at the meeting say, in substance -- I don't mean exact words -- all right, putting aside what we're going to do in the litigation or in dealing with the Federal government, as managers, what do we need to do to make sure we don't have a real problem here? Was there anything along that line that was expressed?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Not to my recollection, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Were you given any mandate or any orders, that you recall, walking out of the meeting either to do further investigation of the underlying facts or to take some specific steps to address the problem in the future?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: No, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did anybody at the meeting say to you or to any other State Police that they wanted you to report back within a certain period of time about what steps had been taken to cure the problem or if the problem was still persistent?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: No, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Is there anything else about the meeting you can remember, besides what we've elicited here in the testimony?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: No, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, after this meeting-- I'm going to show you what's been marked as G-25, GC-2172, and then I'm going to ask you a couple questions about it, and we're almost through. It's a memo dated July 10, 1997, to Colonel Williams from Sergeant Gilbert, through you.

Do you have that document?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: I do, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you remember seeing this?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, were you familiar with what this document reflected, what it was supposed to address?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: It addressed the consent to search data for Moorestown and Cranbury Stations.

MR. CHERTOFF: And did you understand that as of this point in time, in terms of negotiating with the Department of Justice in Washington, they were requesting that information related to certain dates be turned over -- certain sample dates -- and that this was basically Sergeant Gilbert's analysis

of what those -- what the statistics would show if someone looked at those dates?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: These were the 30 randomly selected dates, yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And did you look at this before you passed it up to Colonel Williams?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: I'm certain that I did, but I don't have a recollection as to when I would have handed him or if I handed it to him.

MR. CHERTOFF: Would you agree with me that in the normal course, you would have passed it up to him?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Absolutely.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was it your understanding from Sergeant Gilbert that he had conveyed the content of this information to Mr. Rover?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was it your understanding that after the main meeting in 1997, Sergeant Gilbert continued to regularly pass on whatever significant statistical information he had to Mr. Rover?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: To your knowledge, was there ever a decision by anybody in the hierarchy of the State Police to deliberately limit information that was turned over to the Office of the Attorney General?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: There was not, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was there, in fact, a general mandate or requirement, as you understood it, that Sergeant Gilbert keep his contact at the Office of the Attorney General informed about anything of significance?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: By the way, as you look at this exhibit of this July 10th memo, is it fair to say that the statistical proportions between minority and nonminority consent searches and arrests show a high number for minorities?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Show what, sir?

MR. CHERTOFF: A high number for minorities.

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Absolutely.

MR. CHERTOFF: And would you agree it was a number that was, again, explicitly compared to the Maryland number and found to be at least as high if not higher than the Maryland?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: So this would be consistent with a continuing concern along the lines of what you would see with respect to Sergeant Gilbert's earlier analysis?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, I want to close up by asking you, were you involved in the preparation of the interim report?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: No, I was not, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you ultimately get a chance to read the final version?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: I did, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: I want to direct your attention to a portion of a draft of the report that was produced on April 7, 1999. And I want to say,

in fairness, this was significantly changed after April 7th. I guess it's fair to say it was substantially watered down.

But I want to give you an opportunity to comment directly on an assertion that was made, at least as of April 7th, by the authors of this report. It's in Page 2, and the last paragraph says: "We feel constrained to comment that some of the statistical information we rely upon, including particularly revealing data concerning the consent searches, were only recently disclosed by the State Police to the Office of the Attorney General. Certain internal studies and audits prepared at the request of the superintendent were not made known to the Deputy Attorneys General who were representing the State in the *Soto* litigation. This circumstance has seriously compromised the State's litigation posture and has also needlessly delayed initiating appropriate remedies and reforms."

I have to ask you, Captain Blaker, to your understanding, having worked with Sergeant Gilbert and having worked on this during the period of time of '96 on, is this an accurate statement here? That certain -- that the statistical information that's relied upon was only recently disclosed by the State Police and that internal studies and audits were not made known to the Deputy Attorneys General?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: When I initially suggested that Sergeant Gilbert be assigned to do this job, I did it because he was honest, thorough, and he always followed my number one mandate, which was to always let the cards fall where they may.

This is shocking. The State Police does not operate that way. No one in the State Police would condone it, and it's just ludicrous. This is not

our-- Tommy Gilbert does not operate the way this suggests, nor does anyone else in the State Police.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right.

Let me ask you this question: In 1999, in March, April, May or thereafter, did anybody ever come to investigate whether there was any kind of misconduct by the State Police in the way they turned over documents to the Office of the Attorney General?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: I'm not aware of any investigation or allegation. The first I saw was in Colonel Dunlop's interview, which was posted on the Internet.

MR. CHERTOFF: I think that's-- I have no further questions.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Jo.

Somebody turn off a red light. (referring to PA microphone)

MS. GLADING: Good afternoon, gentlemen.

Captain Blaker, going back to the May 20th, 1997 meeting, is there any reason for you to believe that anyone in that room was not aware of the similarity between the Maryland numbers and the New Jersey numbers?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: No. No, ma'am.

MS. GLADING: Okay.

So, from what you recall of that meeting and the discussion during it, it appeared to you that everyone in that room knew what Sergeant Gilbert's numbers were showing at that point?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: That's correct.

MS. GLADING: You testified earlier that there was no discussion about how to cure the problem, that you recall, and you don't recall leaving

with any mandate to address the problem. During your interview a couple of weeks ago, your testimony was a little bit different.

You said, in reference to the handwritten remark at the bottom of the agenda: "I thought at the time, as did the three people at that meeting -- Colonel Williams, Tom Gilbert, and I -- that we were going to be able to determine the problem, the extent of the problem, and then how to correct it, by Verniero's statement that he wasn't going to sign a consent decree. I mean, certainly there were issues, there were problems, but you just can't go off half-cocked. You have to do an investigation. You have to see what you find."

So I'm trying to square that with your testimony today.

CAPTAIN BLAKER: How did it differ?

MS. GLADING: It sounds-- That testimony I took to mean that you were glad that he was not going to sign a consent decree, because the State Police was going to have an opportunity to clean its own house if there was a problem.

CAPTAIN BLAKER: That's correct.

MS. GLADING: Okay.

Was there any action subsequent to the May 20th meeting, in your mind, that were actions by the Attorney General's Office and the State Police to clean their own house?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: There were continuing reforms, which would allow us to address the issues involved with the high numbers that we were seeing, absolutely.

MS. GLADING: Okay.

And were there ongoing efforts to determine whether or not there was a problem, an ongoing statistical analysis to determine whether there was a problem?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: There was an-- To my knowledge, there was, yes.

MS. GLADING: To your knowledge, were those being shared with the Office of the Attorney General?

CAPTAIN BLAKER: Yes.

MS. GLADING: Major Touw, in your October 4th memo, where you referred to the numbers being excessively or being above the levels reported in *Soto*. Do you know-- To your knowledge, who was that memo shared with?

CAPTAIN TOUW: That memo -- excuse me (coughs) -- that memo went to -- I believe it went to the committee, and it also went through the chain of command, which would have been the section supervisor at that time, then up to Colonel Littles and Colonel Williams.

MS. GLADING: And would it have been shared with Sergeant Gilbert, as a member of the committee?

CAPTAIN TOUW: Yes.

MS. GLADING: To your knowledge, did Sergeant Gilbert share that information with the Attorney General's Office?

CAPTAIN TOUW: I have no knowledge of that.

MS. GLADING: In your testimony, you indicated that-- You talked about a discussion during one of the committee meetings where you said that you felt that our people were probably stopping minorities more than they

should be because of their race. I mean, there's just too many complaints coming in. And then you say, "And I remember that it was quiet when I said that in the meeting, and that I believe that at that time I composed this audit." Do you recall that discussion during one of these committee meetings?

CAPTAIN TOUW: Yes, I do.

MS. GLADING: What do you recall about the reaction from the representatives from the Attorney General's Office?

CAPTAIN TOUW: I don't have any independent recollection of their reaction to it.

MS. GLADING: Did Mr. Fahy support the idea of conducting ongoing audits?

CAPTAIN TOUW: Yes, he was supportive of them.

MS. GLADING: And your superior at this time was who?

CAPTAIN TOUW: Major Fedorko.

MS. GLADING: And was he supportive of the idea of ongoing audits?

CAPTAIN TOUW: Oh, yes.

MS. GLADING: When you met with Prosecutor Ransavage and Mr. Fahy, the-- There's a memo from Mr. Fahy to now Judge Ciancia, indicating that at that meeting he was going to provide him with some statistical information concerning the arresting officers in the two Hunterdon cases. And there's a reference in another document, one of Sergeant Gilbert's memos about the Littles committee, referring to the records of two officers, one having a significant IAB history. Do you recall discussing the records of those two officers at that meeting?

CAPTAIN TOUW: I believe we did.

MS. GLADING: As a result of the records of the officers, was the decision made to then plead those cases out?

CAPTAIN TOUW: Yes, that was a significant part of it.

MS. GLADING: When you conducted an audit -- or the final document is dated September 19, 1996, and there's referenced-- I think you testified for this in your interview. There's reference to your concerns about the Trooper of the Year Program. Can you explain why you conducted that audit?

CAPTAIN TOUW: If my memory is correct, there was a -- two troopers who were being nominated for Trooper of the Year. I was concerned that they may have a high stopping patterns -- records for minorities. We conducted an audit. They, in fact, did. That information was passed on to the superintendent, and he elected to go with another individual for Trooper of the Year that year.

MS. GLADING: And why was that, because of the high minority arrest rates?

CAPTAIN TOUW: Yes.

MS. GLADING: Was one of those troopers Trooper Hogan?

CAPTAIN TOUW: Yes, it was.

MS. GLADING: Major Brennan, let me give you a copy of what is marked--

Scott?

MR. WEBER (Assistant Special Counsel to the Committee):
SJC-2.

MS. GLADING: Major Brennan, before I ask you about this document, I wonder if I could ask you something else. Sergeant Gilbert testified that as a part of this committee that was chaired by Colonel Little there were discussions, and ultimately a plan was put in place to create a four-hour training block on search and seizure techniques. Do you recall those discussions?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Yes.

MS. GLADING: Sergeant Brennan also testified that at that time that plan never was implemented. Was that your recollection as well?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Sergeant Gilbert?

MS. GLADING: Sergeant Gilbert, I'm sorry, yeah.

MAJOR BRENNAN: I do not recall individualized or targeted training on those areas.

MS. GLADING: And when did you go to the academy as commandant?

MAJOR BRENNAN: In, roughly, September of '97.

MS. GLADING: Okay. So, if the targeted training had been put in place, would you have been aware of it by virtue of your position by -- in 1997 as commandant?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Most likely, but if it was taken out to the Turnpike for training by trainers at the Troop D level, I might not have known about it.

MS. GLADING: I assume you're familiar with this document that I've put in front of you.

MAJOR BRENNAN: Yes.

MS. GLADING: Okay. The cover memo is dated October 26th, 2000, and it's a memo from Lieutenant Sachetti to you?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Yes.

MS. GLADING: And it's concerning the synopsis of the Troop D audit. Can you tell me why-- My understanding from other witnesses is that the Troop D audit was actually closed down in June of 1999. Can you tell me why this was generated at this time, nearly a year and a half later?

MAJOR BRENNAN: To the best of my understanding, when Colonel Dunbar took over, there was confusion, where I was to some degree working for him and organizing the Office of Professional Standards, which includes the Internal Affairs Bureau, as to the status of serious cases that came out of the Troop D audit that Lieutenant Sachetti was in charge of. I became aware at that time, Captain Van Tassel, who had been in charge of IAB, indicated that either eight to ten cases of troopers involved in stop patterns that would fall into question, whether or not race was a factor, had been sent down to the Division of Criminal Justice for review for possible criminal charges.

We were awaiting-- At this time, I was transferred up there in January of 2000, and I was briefed that we were awaiting action from the Attorney General's Office on how to proceed with these eight to ten cases, whether we were going criminal or whether they would be returned to us for further internal investigation and handling as an administrative matter if any rules and regulations violations came to pass.

MS. GLADING: What period of time was this?

MAJOR BRENNAN: This is between January and I believe right through until May or June of 2000.

MS. GLADING: So, to your understanding, when were those cases sent back from the Attorney General's Office?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Sometime-- To my understanding, one or two of the cases had been sent back earlier, prior to my transfer, and had resulted in completed internal investigations. The remaining cases were sent back to us -- I would -- sometime between April and June to handle as administrative matters.

MS. GLADING: April, June of 2000?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Yes.

MS. GLADING: And two cases had already been sent back, more than two?

MAJOR BRENNAN: I believe one or two had been fully investigated and were completed at the time that I had -- possibly three that I can think of that clearly didn't have any patterns of race involvement, but showed significant rule and reg violations by the troopers involved.

MS. GLADING: Were there transmittal documents attached to the transfer of these cases back to the State Police?

MAJOR BRENNAN: I'm sure there are.

MS. GLADING: Lieutenant Colonel Dunlop testified that the cases were actually sent back while he was still there at some point in the late summer or early fall of 1999. The cases were sent back from the AG's Office. Your testimony is different than that, right?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Yes. I don't know how to rectify that other than Colonel Dunbar upon assuming the position of superintendent on November 1st of 1999, very possibly sent them back to the Attorney General's Office to ensure that they had been looked at properly. Now, there was also some interest and confusion on my part, because I was aware that of the audit that was done, there were as many as 158 troopers involved with from one rule and regulation violation to substantially more. It was almost the entire Troop D complement had at least one -- what might have been, upon investigation, a simple typographical error or an error in transposing something. They took the audit to the detail. And from my perspective, all of those cases had to be investigated and adjudicated in an equal fashion, if they didn't relate to race issues.

MS. GLADING: I'm not sure I understood your testimony a minute ago. Was it that the cases had been sent back to State Police and that Colonel Dunbar sent them back to Law and Public Safety?

MAJOR BRENNAN: That's my belief. I'm not certain of that. Colonel Dunbar was up there for approximately two months while I was still assigned to the academy, and I have a definite recollection of declination of prosecution letters coming back on either a group of them or the eight to ten troopers that were involved.

I was also concerned by the fact that, when he briefed on this issue, Captain Van Tassel advised-- I asked him, how did you distinguish between what cases were sent down for criminal investigation or investigated as a significant matter and which were not investigated and basically held back -- most of them represented in this package you just put before me. And his

response was, it was just a line that was drawn after the top eight or ten with the most discrepancies as a result of the audit, which indicated to me and confirmed that the remaining cases had not yet been investigated or looked into.

MS. GLADING: So what's the status of these cases currently?

MAJOR BRENNAN: The status of the cases currently--

MS. GLADING: Let me back up a second. How many cases are we talking about in all, including the ones that maybe approached criminal levels and then ultimately did not -- were sent back?

MAJOR BRENNAN: The cases are approximately 100 cases that we are going to investigate at this time.

MS. GLADING: And these cases have been back in State Police since when?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Well, the more significant cases I recall coming back sometime in the spring or early summer. There was also an issue that the new Office of State Police Affairs, directed by Martin Cronin, that was established as a result of the consent decree, were asked to review these cases as well by Colonel Dunbar, so that Director Cronin and his staff, charged with oversight of the State Police, could possibly argue with the Division of Criminal Justice as to whether or not these cases should go back on a criminal track or should come back to the State Police as administrative matters.

MS. GLADING: Okay. Just so we're clear on the time, though, the cases may have come back to State Police, and Colonel Dunbar may have sent them back to CJ when he got to State Police.

MAJOR BRENNAN: That's my belief, yes.

MS. GLADING: And then they came back, and you recall the declination of prosecution letters that came back when?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Sometime in the late spring or early summer of 2000.

MS. GLADING: Okay. And you had testified earlier that we're going to investigate these cases. Are those investigations under way now?

MAJOR BRENNAN: There have been-- In getting the investigations under way, there were delays as a result of Judge Barisonek's orders. We have tens of thousands of documents stored at Division Headquarters, and we are not allowed to access them without a court order for individual documents. So Lieutenant Sachetti and my investigators have to go up one at a time and ask for specific documents. Also, one of the delays was in determining how to proceed with what could be argued to be fewer discrepancies than the top 10 cases, the concept of investigating every discrepancy from each phase of the audit. We needed to get that information, and that information was provided by Lieutenant Sachetti's unit after review and approval by Mr. Cronin's office, I believe, around this date of -- sometime in October--

MS. GLADING: Okay.

MAJOR BRENNAN: --was the first time we had a full list of the troopers who had been identified in the audit.

MS. GLADING: And is it correct that Colonel Dunbar, at some point, established a 5 percent rule?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Yes.

MS. GLADING: The cutoff point in the cases in which more than -- there was a discrepancy of more than 5 percent of a trooper's activity, those cases warranted further internal investigations?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Provided that there were no indicia of discrepancies that could be -- intentionally be created to cover up any improper conduct about race. So there will be cases where discrepancies -- one failure, one improper recordation of race will be an investigation, whereas the reason there was a 5 percent rule applied was that the CAD system was not operable on the Turnpike during this period of 1998, and the troopers calling in the stops were handled by a shift supervisor recording the stops. So there was an understanding or belief that it was difficult for these troopers to make all the calls that they were required of during this time. Nonetheless, I personally, along with Lieutenant Sachetti's staff, along with Colonel Dunbar, reviewed every single discrepancy and determined whether or not people who fell below the 5 percent rule should still be investigated to rule out any improper conduct related to race.

MS. GLADING: And when did that review take place?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Those reviews started in earnest in October and continued up until, I believe, January.

MS. GLADING: And is it correct that four detectives were just assigned to this detail two weeks ago to try to augment this work?

MAJOR BRENNAN: To augment my staff of 23 investigators, we requested the assignment of 10 additional investigators for the duration to work on this project. And that was something that we had tried to put in place some time ago, and now they are assigned to us.

MS. GLADING: Okay. Just a couple more quick questions. If you look at OAG-2207, it's in the middle of the Sachetti audits -- actually, 9207, I apologize.

MAJOR BRENNAN: Yes.

MS. GLADING: Then look to where 9208 is. It looks as though there's a page missing there, and it covers part of Case No. 33 and part of Case No. 34. Is there anything significant in your recollection about Case No. 33 and Case No. 34?

MAJOR BRENNAN: No, ma'am.

MS. GLADING: Okay. And if you could, look at OAG-9200, in which the discussion of Case No. 23 takes place. It indicates that 146 discrepancies remain to be investigated after the preliminary review in Phase II. Was that a high -- that appeared to be a high number on my review of this audit result. Was that a high number in your mind?

MAJOR BRENNAN: I'm on Page OAG-9200.

MS. GLADING: Correct.

MAJOR BRENNAN: And where on the page are you, Ms. Glading?

MS. GLADING: Under Phase II. Phase II of this audit revealed the following: "After preliminary review by Sergeant Nessler, it was determined that a total of 146 discrepancies remain to be investigated."

MAJOR BRENNAN: Yes. While that number, in and of itself, would trigger an investigation under the way we're approaching, it is just a fact that there's a -- 10 instances of alleged undocumented searches would be enough to investigate this.

MS. GLADING: In your mind, do you know if that rises to near the level of the offenses committed by Troopers Hogan and Kenna, for which they were indicted?

MAJOR BRENNAN: I was not in Internal Affairs at that time, ma'am, and I'm not familiar with the statistics.

MS. GLADING: Has Lieutenant Sachetti ever represented to you that he's concerned about some of these cases, or at least one of these cases, because it did rise to a level that was comparable?

MAJOR BRENNAN: I believe that there were more than one case that we were concerned about.

MS. GLADING: Okay. And did Lieutenant Sachetti express concerns with you about the incompleteness of this audit and the resulting fact that some troopers would not be -- that some troopers would be punished for discrepancies while other troopers would not be caught at discrepancies?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Yes.

MS. GLADING: And do you share his concerns about that?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Yes, from the perspective of a disciplinary matter, internally, the troopers who were subject to the audit should be treated uniformly with whatever response the Division determines.

MS. GLADING: Did you request Lieutenant Sachetti to forward this incomplete -- well, what appears to be an incomplete product to you?

MAJOR BRENNAN: Well, I think I got a complete product. I'm not certain, but-- Yes, we had requested this document in order to develop an investigative plan.

MS. GLADING: Let me rephrase, an unfinished product?

MAJOR BRENNAN: By unfinished, I--

MS. GLADING: By Lieutenant Sachetti's view?

MAJOR BRENNAN: In that the--

MS. GLADING: Audit was not--

MAJOR BRENNAN: --Phase III was completed, yes. Yes, I did request this.

MS. GLADING: Correct. Okay.

I don't have any other questions.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Questions from members of the Committee? (no response)

Senator Lynch, any questions?

SENATOR LYNCH: No questions.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Thank you for your testimony.

We'll take a two-minute break.

(RECESS)

AFTER RECESS:

SENATOR GORMLEY: The next two witnesses--

Everybody get their seats, please.

Lieutenant Colonel Robert Dunlop, Lieutenant Colonel Michael Fedorko, would you please raise your right hands?

(Oath administered)

SENATOR GORMLEY: Mr. Chertoff.

MR. CHERTOFF: Just for the record, Colonel Fedorko, are you represented by anybody here?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL MICHAEL FEDORKO:

No, I'm not, Mr. Chertoff.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. Colonel Dunlop, are you represented by somebody here?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL ROBERT DUNLOP: I am, yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: And can you just identify your counsel for the record?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Mike Reilly, sitting behind me.

MR. CHERTOFF: You need to turn your red lights on. (referring to PA microphone)

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: How's that?

MR. CHERTOFF: All right.

Now, Colonel Dunlop, how long were you with the State Police?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Thirty and a half years, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And when did you retire?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I retired July 1st of 2000.

MR. CHERTOFF: What was your rank on retirement?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Lieutenant Colonel, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what was your last position at retirement?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I was the Executive Officer and also the Acting Deputy Superintendent.

MR. CHERTOFF: Colonel Fedorko, you were with the State Police for how long?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: Thirty-one years.

MR. CHERTOFF: And when did you retire?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: November the 1st of 1999.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what was your final position on retirement?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: Acting Superintendent.

MR. CHERTOFF: And you're currently a member of the Casino Control Commission?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: And Colonel Dunlop, what's your current occupation?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I'm retired, and I'm doing some investigative work.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. Colonel Dunlop, I'd like to start with you. In April 1998, you assumed a new position, correct?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: In 1998?

MR. CHERTOFF: Yeah, April. Approximately April or early 1998, did you assume a new position as Executive Officer?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, but it was back in February, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: I'm sorry. Back in February. And what was that position?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That position was as Executive Officer of the State Police.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what does the Executive Officer do, and where is it located in the hierarchy of the State Police?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I would be third in command, and I had command of the Field Operations Section, which is all the uniformed troopers; the Investigations Section; the Intelligence Section; and the Emergency Management Section.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, who was the other lieutenant colonel at the time you assumed your position?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Lieutenant Colonel Fedorko.

MR. CHERTOFF: And who was the superintendent?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That would have been Colonel Carl Williams.

MR. CHERTOFF: And who did you report to?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Lieutenant Colonel Fedorko was the Chief of Staff. I would report to him, and I would also report to Colonel Williams. On most issues, I would report through Colonel Fedorko.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, did there come a time you became familiar with Sergeant Thomas Gilbert?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: There was.

MR. CHERTOFF: And how did that come about?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Oh, right after I assumed the position of Executive Officer, in sometime in March, Sergeant Gilbert

provided me with some documents in reference to *Soto* and where we were there on the appeal.

MR. CHERTOFF: I'm going to mark -- ask you to mark as SJC-3 a package of documents which reflects copies of a red binder that Sergeant Gilbert gave to you.

Do you have a copy for the witness, the original?

MR. WEBER: We asked the witness' counsel to have the witness bring the original.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you have the original of this red binder?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I believe I do, with me, yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. If we could just get a copy.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I can see if counsel has it.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. This is a red binder that Sergeant Gilbert gave to you in early 1998?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And how did he come to give that to you?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I think he wanted to bring me up to speed on where we stood on this in the *Pedro Soto* case and in the areas of our stop rates and consent searches.

MR. CHERTOFF: And why was that a concern to you when you took this position?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, I think it was just one of the issues that was on the table. Not specifically related to me, but I think he was trying to give me a general background of what we had pending.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did there come a point in time that you reviewed the material in that red notebook?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir, there was.

MR. CHERTOFF: And when was that?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: It would have been sometime after the shooting on the Turnpike, which was April 23rd of 1998.

MR. CHERTOFF: And when you're talking about the shooting, you mean the shooting which led to the charges against Troopers Hogan and Kenna?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That is correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Why is it that after that shooting, you came to review this material?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Because of the allegations of racial profiling that were being raised. I know it was very important to look through this and see where we stood and what allegations had been raised in the *Pedro Soto* case.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, did you also understand at this time that there was an inquiry, or some kind of a review, by the Civil Rights Division at the Department of Justice regarding racial profiling?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I was after I had been briefed and looked at this book, yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: So, is it fair to say until after the shooting, you were not really involved in this issue?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct, yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: I'm going to cover some things with respect to '98 later, but I want to jump ahead.

First of all, when you reviewed this material, did you see certain documents or numbers that related to consents to search and statistics for minorities, such as nonminorities being asked to consent to search?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what was your reaction to it?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, the reactions were that the numbers, in and of themselves, were high.

MR. CHERTOFF: Can you explain what you mean by that or how you came to feel that way?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, if you look at just the numbers themselves, our minority consent to search rates were higher than they were for nonminority people. And I don't remember the specifics unless I look through, but I would say they were well in excess of 50 percent, 60 percent.

MR. CHERTOFF: Were there any particular documents in the red binder you remembered looking at that caused you to focus on this issue?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: If I'd may, I'd like to just glance at it.

MR. CHERTOFF: Yeah, take a look. I don't mean to rush you. Take a moment to look through it. And then if you can tell us -- maybe identify in some way the documents.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, initially, in one of the first ones that's in this binder is the consent to search rates and also for Moorestown and Cranbury, and also the stop rates.

MR. CHERTOFF: And that would be for the periods of time in 1997?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct, yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Anything else?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: One of the things, I did read the *Pedro Soto* decision from Judge Francis, and I knew that there would be stop rates there. According to the court documents or the decision that was rendered -- was it should have been somewhere in the area of maybe 15 percent for a stop rate of minorities.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you also become familiar with the fact that there had been a comparison made by Sergeant Gilbert between the consent to search rates in New Jersey and the consent to search rates in Maryland back in 1997 -- they were comparable?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct, yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what was your understanding of the significance of that?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That the Maryland State Police were forced into a consent decree based mainly on consent search numbers, I believe, plus some other factors.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, I want to jump ahead a little bit. But did there come a time that you had occasion to ask Sergeant Gilbert whether these

consent to search numbers had ever been discussed with the Office of the Attorney General?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir, it did.

MR. CHERTOFF: And when was that discussed first with Sergeant Gilbert?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I think after the shooting, at some point in time, we had an audit of the New Jersey Turnpike, the Troop D audit, and there would have been a conversation in reference to these documents.

MR. CHERTOFF: And in connection with which documents?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I think the consent search rates and the stop data.

MR. CHERTOFF: At that point in time, and this would put it in sometime around May of 1998, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: This conversation?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes. Or even maybe later than that. Maybe later on into the year.

MR. CHERTOFF: At that point, what did Sergeant Gilbert tell you about whether he had shared the consent to search information and data with the Office of the Attorney General?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, it was my impression, from my conversations with Gilbert, whenever I had them, was that everything was being turned over, and they were well aware of it. Counsel

was representing us in this matter, and they were aware of what our figures were.

MR. CHERTOFF: And when you say they, you mean people in the Office of the Attorney General?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir, I am.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was he specific at that time about who he was dealing with?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I don't-- I can't say specifically at that time, but I did come to understand later on as to who his liaison with the Attorney General's Office was.

MR. CHERTOFF: And who was that?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: It was George Rover, and also Fahy was involved in the *Soto* appeal.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you also have conversations with Captain Blaker about whether this information about consent searches and statistics had been shared with the Office of the Attorney General?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I don't think I had any conversation with Captain Blaker until maybe into 1999.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what did he tell you in 1999?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, the specific question I asked Captain Blaker was if he had had a conversation, or was there a meeting on May 20th of 1997, in which consent search rates were discussed with the Attorney General?

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. Let's-- I'm going to jump ahead, but I think I want to cut to the chase. How did this come up, this issue of whether

there was a May 20th meeting? Let me focus your attention, first of all, in the period of February-March of 1999. In February-March of 1999, were there certain events with respect to a State Police Review?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: The State Police Review, as I recall, was announced February 10th of 1999, yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: And how did you come to have a discussion with Captain Blaker and with Sergeant Gilbert about this May 20th, 1997 meeting? How did that come about?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, I believe that my conversations with Sergeant Gilbert were earlier on. But what brought this to light again was, I would say this was sometime in -- perhaps it may have been April, around the time that this interim report was coming out, sir. And I had been receiving information or I had through -- information was coming up into my office that the Attorney General's Office was considering -- was looking to discredit the New Jersey State Police and specifically Colonel Williams. They were even considering possible criminal sanctions against Colonel Williams for failing to turn over documents to the Office of Attorney General.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now again, to put it in context, on February 10th, this review team is announced, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: When does Colonel Williams leave as the superintendent?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I believe it was February 28th of 1999.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, in March 1999, did you receive a request to turn over documents related to racial profiling to the First Assistant Attorney General Mr. Zoubek?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I did, yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And did you, in fact, do that?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, we did, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you do that in a meeting?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Tell us about that.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, originally, Colonel Fedorko and I-- I believe Colonel Fedorko was with me. I originally had gone down on February the 11th to the Attorney General's Office. At that point in time, I was going to give him some recommendations in reference to how we could change some policies and make some changes within the Division on how we were specifically conducting ourselves as to highway interdiction, drug interdiction. At that time, he mentioned to us that he wanted the production of documents.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was this February 11th or March 11th?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: This was March 11th. I'm sorry. Were you taking me back until February? I misunderstood you. Were you taking me back to February?

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. I'll start at the beginning so we're clear. February 10th, the State Police Review Team is announced.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And then February 28th, approximately, is when Colonel Williams leaves. With those as kind of milestones, when do you have your first meeting with Mr. Zoubek about turning over documents?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I believe that was at the March 11th meeting. Now, he may have requested documents from us, but not-- I remember specifically he was requesting certain documents on March the 11th.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, was that at a face-to-face meeting?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And who was present at the meeting?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I remember I was. I think Colonel Fedorko, and I don't remember who else was at that meeting at that time.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what was the conversation with Mr. Zoubek?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I think he was telling us where he was going in reference to this review team and that he needed certain documents. And it was my understanding he would probably follow it up with a memorandum or a letter to us explaining exactly what he wanted.

MR. CHERTOFF: So did you go back obtaining the documents he had requested?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes. We put the word out that it was-- You know, it was given to the people who had the responsibility for those records that we needed to collect them. And also, at the point in time, we decided that we would have our management review team be the one

that actually handled these documents so that they could properly document them. A lot of the documents you'll see have bar codes on them. We wanted to make sure that every document that left the Division of State Police was accounted for.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, a few days later, on March 15th, did you go back and meet with Mr. Zoubek or with Sergeant Gilbert?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I did, yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And did Sergeant Gilbert have something with him that was responsive to Mr. Zoubek's earlier request for documents?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That is correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: What was that?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: It was a blue binder.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, was the content of the blue binder similar to the content of the red binder he had given you the year before?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: It had some of the material -- the same substance type of material, yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: And did you look at the blue binder?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: After he presented it to Paul Zoubek, I asked him to give me a copy so I could see what was in it. Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was there anything in the blue binder you were unfamiliar with from the previous year?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, there were documents that I had never seen before. Yes, sir. But basically, I didn't see any real revelations in what we were turning over.

MR. CHERTOFF: Is it fair to say that although there might have been individual documents you hadn't seen, the essential content, the core substance, was stuff you had seen before when you had gotten the red notebook?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: What was Mr. Zoubek's reaction when he got this blue binder from Sergeant Gilbert?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: At that meeting, I don't think there was any reaction whatsoever. I later on-- I did hear from Paul Zoubek in reference to the turning over of documents.

MR. CHERTOFF: What did you hear from him?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I received a phone call. I'm sure it was a phone call. I thought about this since I gave depositions. I don't think it was in person at all. It was a phone call, at which time he seemed very upset and emphasized the fact that we must turn over all documents to him.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what was your response?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I was a little taken aback, given the circumstances of the prior month, February into March. I was taken aback. I really believed that this material-- We weren't holding back anything. There was no one in the State Police who was holding back any material, and I was a little bit taken aback at his accusations and his demeanor.

MR. CHERTOFF: When you said accusations, did he in some sense indicate or suggest his belief that the State Police had withheld information from the Office of the Attorney General?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: No. Maybe that was an unfair characterization. I'm going to say I was a little taken aback by his demeanor. I had a good working relationship with Paul Zoubek. I think he knew that we wouldn't hold anything purposely back on him. And as soon as I came back from our March 11th meeting, I remembered making sure that we had all these documents. Whatever we had, we were going to be delivering to the Office of the Attorney General.

MR. CHERTOFF: So the response to this callback from Mr. Zoubek, which you got after the blue binder was developed -- what did you do?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I'm sure I had further conversation with Sergeant Gilbert to ascertain, you know, what is this all about.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what did he tell you concerning his having furnished documents and any information -- the substance of the information over the years to Mr. Rover?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That the Attorney General's Office was fully aware of the substance of what was turned over in that binder.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, you mentioned earlier-- We got into this because you mentioned a discussion about a May 20th meeting. Did there come a time that you had a conversation with Mr. Zoubek that led to your asking about this May 20th meeting?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, there was.

MR. CHERTOFF: Tell us about that conversation.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: This is where I started to hear information, and I had heard this before, that they were looking into discrediting the -- not only the State Police, but specifically the superintendent of State Police. But when this particular moment happened, the information came back in to me again. I think it was in the morning. I got on the phone with Paul Zoubek, and I basically told him that I was hearing this -- rumors that they were thinking about either charging Colonel Williams with obstruction of the administrative law or some type of criminal statute, possibly charging or indicting. I told Mr. Zoubek at that point in time, Paul, I wouldn't go there. You know, Attorney General Verniero had this information.

And I told him about this May 20th, 1997 meeting where Colonel Williams, Captain Blaker, and Sergeant Gilbert had gone down to the Office of the Attorney General, had briefed the Attorney General specifically about the State Police concern that our consent rates were as high as or higher than the Maryland State Police consent rates.

MR. CHERTOFF: How did you know-- When you had conversation with Mr. Zoubek, how did you know about that May 20th meeting?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I had a previous conversation with Sergeant Gilbert in reference to that.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what about with Captain Blaker?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: And did both of them confirm to you that they had-- Well, I don't want to put words in your mouth.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: No.

MR. CHERTOFF: What did both of them tell you about this May 20th meeting?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Specifically, I got more information from Sergeant Gilbert, because I wanted to know what was there. And he had advised me that the Attorney General had been briefed at this meeting of May 20th. I had no physical evidence in front of me to say that that was, other than what I was getting from Sergeant Gilbert. At some point in time, I did ask Captain Blaker if there was a meeting. And also what was very concerned to me was the fact that Sergeant Gilbert had mentioned that there was a statement made by the Attorney General that they would not enter into a consent decree. At the time, as I remember him saying, it was something about it would be drug down the Turnpike or something of this nature. My specific questions to Captain Blaker was, is that true? Did he make those comments? And was there that meeting? And he confirmed it.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what did Captain Blaker tell you concerning -- had been discussed at the meeting concerning the Maryland statistics and the consent to search issue?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I didn't get into that with him. I was more interested in finding out if, in fact, there had been a meeting and if those comments had been made.

MR. CHERTOFF: And did he confirm to you in general that the consent to search issue had been disclosed at the meeting -- Captain Blaker?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes. Yes. The Maryland State Police issue was discussed. Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, with this information you got from Captain Blaker and Sergeant Gilbert, that's when you made your call to Mr. Zoubek?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I had that information prior to my calling Paul Zoubek. That was what I based my conversation with Paul Zoubek on, the information that I had originally obtained from Gilbert and eventually confirmed with Blaker, yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what did Mr. Zoubek say to you after you told him about this May 20th meeting?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, there was silence on the phone. I think this is the first time he was hearing about this. In fact, I originally didn't tell him about the comments which General Verniero had made. But after, I wasn't sure he was convinced that what I was telling him was accurate, and so I mentioned to him that there was even a comment made by the Attorney General in reference to not signing a consent decree, that he'd be drug down the Turnpike. I didn't have the exact wording. That's when there was some silence on the phone. He said, "I'll get back to you."

MR. CHERTOFF: Did he get back to you?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: He did, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: About how much later?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: This is a morning call. He was back-- I was guessing at maybe a half an hour to an hour. It could have been a little bit longer.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what did he say to you?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That he had checked with the Attorney General, and the Attorney General had checked with the people that would have been in the meeting, meaning the Deputy Attorney Generals, and it was my impression when I got off the phone that the Attorney General had no recollection of the meeting, let alone the verbage that was used.

MR. CHERTOFF: How was it left then in connection with Colonel Williams?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, at that point in time, Paul Zoubek told me that they weren't going there with Colonel Williams.

MR. CHERTOFF: Meaning what?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, to me, my impression was that it may have been true what I was hearing, that they were considering to either charge or indict or in some way discredit.

MR. CHERTOFF: But they had decided not to do that?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I think it was obvious after I had got off the phone call that that was not going to happen.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, I want to step back for a second. This is an issue of some interest. Was it your understanding going into this call at this period in time that there was some -- that Mr. Zoubek was of the belief-- Let me just step back for a second. Mr. Zoubek was not involved in this issue of racial profiling, as far as you know, back in '99 and '98, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Ninety-seven and ninety-eight, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Not to my knowledge, no.

MR. CHERTOFF: So, as far as you know, he was new -- coming into it basically new in the early part of '99, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was it your understanding that Mr. Zoubek was of the belief that the information in the blue notebook was new information? I don't mean the documents, but the actual core substance was new information that had not been previously given to the lawyers and the Attorney General's Office?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I'm going to ask you to repeat that one more time.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was it your belief-- I'm going to try it again. It's late. Was it your understanding that Mr. Zoubek believed the information in the blue notebook -- the content had not previously been disclosed to the Office of the Attorney General?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I can't say I was. I didn't have faith that he did not know.

MR. CHERTOFF: You didn't know whether Mr. Zoubek knew or didn't know about that earlier disclosure.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I think the assumption I had is that he probably would have known in the position that he was in, but I could have been very well wrong also.

MR. CHERTOFF: But in any case, the position that was being taken was that this material hadn't been turned over earlier, correct?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: And your position was that it had been turned over, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, after talking to Sergeant Gilbert, yes, I was convinced that had all been, over a period of time, disclosed to the Attorney General's Office.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, let me ask you this: Would it be a serious matter if on something of significance the State Police withheld information from the Attorney General's Office?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Absolutely.

MR. CHERTOFF: I mean, that would be -- essentially be a violation of civilian control over the State Police, wouldn't it?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I'm sorry, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: That would essentially amount to a violation of civilian control over the State Police, wouldn't it--

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: --that the State Police held things back deliberately?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And I take it it is understood that it's a fundamental obligation of the State Police that they have to report up the chain of the command and be under the ultimate supervision of the Attorney General, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That is correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, after this conversation with Mr. Zoubek about Colonel Williams, did you have any further conversations with him

about what information was passed to the Attorney General's Office and when it got passed?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: The only other conversation I remember having is, we had a meeting, and he showed us -- and I think Colonel Fedorko was with me -- he showed us the book and asked us if we had ever seen some of the material in there or we had ever seen that material before. I don't believe at that time, when that meeting occurred, that I had gotten a copy from Gilbert, but I'm not sure.

MR. CHERTOFF: When was this conversation with Mr. Zoubek where he asked you if you had seen the material in the book?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: It was shortly after delivery of that -- of those documents.

MR. CHERTOFF: And do you remember what you answered him?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I had not seen some of the material that was in there, no.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you tell him that in general you were familiar with the content?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I didn't. In fact, as I recall, the question was put to us very quickly. I don't even remember looking through the book other than just to maybe glance over it.

MR. CHERTOFF: So you weren't able to form an opinion at that point as to whether you'd seen the material before, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: No, some of the material I think I had seen. I had seen the Hinkle audit and some other material, but there was some documents in there that I had not seen.

MR. CHERTOFF: Well, what did you say to Mr. Zoubek?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I really don't recall what I said to him.

MR. CHERTOFF: Again, I want to be quite clear on this. Was there a point in time when you had an opportunity to look at the documents in the blue notebook and to conclude that, whether you had seen every document, essentially you were -- had been told about the substance of it in the previous year?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes. Yes, sir. I can't say that I was told about the substance of everything, but I was under the understanding from Sergeant Gilbert that the consent search rates, the stop rates, these things had all been discussed with the Attorney General's Office.

MR. CHERTOFF: And you had heard about this stuff in '98, right -- about the consent rates and things of that sort?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes. Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, in fact, did you have discussions yourself with Mr. Zoubek over a period of time about consent search rates?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I did, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And during what period of time would that be?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: We had started an audit on the Troop D, New Jersey Turnpike, and we were looking at a lot of issues, but I think that we knew that our drug interdiction program was causing us

problems, as it relates to consent searches, and also the pending *Soto* case, also. So there was conversations back and forth with Paul Zoubek in reference to a lot of items, not just consent searches, but stop rates, consent searches, how we were conducting our patrol activities on the Turnpike.

MR. CHERTOFF: And that would have been in 1998 as well as 1999?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct. Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, let me turn to you, Colonel Fedorko. Do you recall being asked by Mr. Zoubek for documents relating to racial profiling?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: To give him documents or--

MR. CHERTOFF: Yeah. Or to obtain documents for him relating to racial profiling.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: When I was acting superintendent, yeah.

MR. CHERTOFF: And did you ever have conversations with Mr. Zoubek or were you present during conversations with Mr. Zoubek concerning whether the State Police had withheld information about the statistics from the Attorney General's Office before 1999?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: I don't remember being present. I don't know where I -- at what point I heard that. I don't know if I heard it from him or from Colonel Dunlop.

MR. CHERTOFF: What do you remember hearing about this issue?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: That there was a concern that we weren't giving the Attorney General's Office what they were asking for.

MR. CHERTOFF: And did you do anything in response to that concern?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: I told him that anything he asked for, as far as I was concerned, he would get.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you ever look into the question or try to find out whether anybody had withheld information from the Attorney General's Office?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: No, because it's such a broad statement. I mean, I'd have to ask every trooper, you know, did you ever not give something to the Attorney General's Office that they asked for. No, I didn't do that.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you ever talk to Sergeant Gilbert about it?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: No.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you talk to Captain Blaker about it?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: No.

MR. CHERTOFF: As between the two of you, just to understand the situation at the time, who would have been principally responsible for dealing with the Attorney General's Office on this issue, you or Colonel Dunlop?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: Well, Colonel Dunlop was in charge of the audit, if that's what you're talking about.

MR. CHERTOFF: So he was the person you would have looked to, to basically deal with the issue of these statistics and when they were turned over?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: I think that's accurate.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, you mentioned, Colonel Dunlop, something about a Troop D audit. Would you explain what the Troop D audit was?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir. Shortly after the shooting, we, as a matter of routine looking into the actual shooting case itself, we would look at the patrol activities of the troopers that were involved, which we initiated through the Internal Affairs Bureau. From there, we made a decision that not only were we going to look at those troopers that were involved in the actual shooting, but that given the allegations that were being made and some of the information that we were developing, that we also wanted to look at the patrol activities of-- We started out with the Cranbury Station.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, when you say patrol activities, was this particularly related to the allegation of falsification of racial identification on the patrol logs and/or the radio logs.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes. The audit was based -- or what we were trying to determine in reference to the audit was that if there was any selective enforcement which was based on race or on ethnicity being performed on the New Jersey Turnpike.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was the audit designed generally to compare statistics, or was it more narrowly focused on the issue of falsification, trying to see if people were actually falsifying forms?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Right, statistics played some part in it to identify-- It was used as an indicator as to some of the area that we should look at, but more specifically it was looking at falsification of reports, which would be patrol logs, radio logs, summonses, warnings, and that type of thing.

MR. CHERTOFF: Who made the decision to initiate this audit?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That was my decision.

MR. CHERTOFF: And why did you make that decision?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I thought it was something that had to be done. I also had conversations with Paul Zoubek, and I know that he was interested in the *Pedro Soto* appeal as to -- if the representations that were being made to the court were accurate.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, who did you assign to be the point person on this audit?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That would have been Lieutenant Sachetti.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what were his instructions?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, first of all, we had a couple discussions as to methodology, how would we properly go about that. And the reason I picked Lieutenant Sachetti was because he had experience out on the New Jersey Turnpike in Troop D, and his character and integrity were unquestionable. So I knew he could get to the bottom of this and that he

could figure out a good methodology that we could utilize. And he did this in conjunction with the people in the Internal Affairs Bureau.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what was the plan or the methodology that was set up to do this audit?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: We broke it into three phases. The first phase would be to go -- and we initiated this audit at Cranbury Station. Phase I would be to go look and pull all the records, all the patrol charts, as I said, the radio logs, compare them against summonses issued, warnings issued, the warning issue log, the summons issue log, the daily activity logs, and to see if there was any information that showed discrepancies.

MR. CHERTOFF: And when you say discrepancies, you mean the radio log might say someone was White and the patrol log would say they were not White or something of that sort?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Along with anything else. It could be that a summons was issued, but it's on the patrol log, but it's not on the summons issued log. It was any type of discrepancy between any of the patrol related documents that we had available to us, yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. That was Phase I, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Phase I, yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: What was Phase II?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Phase II, any troopers that we identified that had discrepancies that met a certain benchmark, we would then go out and conduct an investigation, which would include actually going out and talking to the motorist that was stopped, asking them -- first of all, confirming the race, finding out if they were indeed stopped on the New Jersey

Turnpike, was a consent search asked for, all the specific questions that we needed to verify what was on the documentation -- the patrol activity documentation of the trooper.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what was Phase III?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Phase III, the Internal Affairs Bureau came to us and Lieutenant Sachetti and said, "We really need a way to make sure that nobody fell through the cracks." In other words, from Phase I and Phase II, did we miss any troopers that we shouldn't have missed by just -- the looking at documentations. In other words, was there anybody out there that was so good at maybe misrepresenting the facts in the patrol logs and radio logs that we may have missed them. So the suggestion was made to use a firm that dealt in statistics, specifically. And we found a firm by the name of Eco-Stat out of Metuchen, who gave us a statistically valid way that we could conduct these audits that wouldn't be quite as time consuming as what they were doing on Phase II.

MR. CHERTOFF: Is it fair to say that Phase I and Phase II were directed at finding situations where you can actually catch a discrepancy between the documents, whereas Phase III was designed to catch people who may be falsifying, but they're good at it, so they're consistent when they falsify?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: No, sir. That would have been Phase III.

MR. CHERTOFF: That's right. That's Phase III.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, Phase III. Phase II was to go out and actually conduct an investigation.

MR. CHERTOFF: Off of Phase I?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Off of Phase I, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: So Phase III is the one that's designed to broaden out and capture people who may be very good at falsifying and therefore can falsify consistently?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now also, did you, at a point in time, move from Cranbury to include Moorestown as well.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: We did. Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Approximately when was that?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I'm going to say within several months we moved from Cranbury to Moorestown.

MR. CHERTOFF: And did this audit -- this Troop D audit commence sometime in the summer of 1998?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct. Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Were you getting regular updates?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir, I was.

MR. CHERTOFF: How regular?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I would say in the beginning on a weekly basis, and then after that it slowed down.

MR. CHERTOFF: Were you communicating with Mr. Zoubek about that -- about the updates?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir. We were.

MR. CHERTOFF: How did you do that? In person or by telephone?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Mostly by telephone. We did have, as I remember, there was two specific meetings where we gave them a thorough briefing as to where we stood.

MR. CHERTOFF: Yeah. We'll come to that in a second. But I just wanted to ask you this: Was this Troop D audit separate and apart from the investigation of falsification by Troopers Hogan and Kenna?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: It was, yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did there come a point in time that in September of 1998 that you attended a meeting at which Lieutenant Sachetti identified at least some individual troopers as to where there were discrepancies in the paperwork?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what was the decision made about how to handle that?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Now, are we talking about gross -- what we looked at as possibly gross violations--

MR. CHERTOFF: Yeah.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: --or discrepancies. That we were to continue with a complete and thorough investigation, and it would be turned over to the Attorney General's Office for review.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did there come a point again in this September meeting that a decision was made to pursue any significant cases of discrepancies by doing a more focused investigation with respect to those troopers?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: This is September of '98?

MR. CHERTOFF: Yeah.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I can't say specifically it was September of '98. At some point in time, we knew we had to look at these additional troopers, yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, you said there was a meeting with -- a couple of meetings with Mr. Zoubek you remembered. Was there a meeting in December of 1998?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I don't remember any meeting in December of '98. I'm not saying that there could not have been. I remember, from looking at my calendar, there was one in October, and I think it was October 29th. And we also provided him a briefing on, I know, on February 10th which was more comprehensive.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. Tell us about the October 29th meeting. Where was it and who attended?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: This would have been down at the Division of Criminal Justice.

I'd like to look at my calendar just to make sure, if I could?

MR. CHERTOFF: Sure, go ahead.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: On my calendar, I have a meeting listed with Deputy Director Debbie Stone, Prosecutor Jim Gerrow, Chuck Grinnell, reference Hogan and Kenna. I can't say specifically if Paul Zoubek was there on that particular meeting. And that may have sent it more so in the Hogan and Kenna case than the Troop A -- Troop D audit.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. That would have been in October of 1998.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct. Yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: And the individuals you identified, Stone, Grinnell, and Gerrow, were prosecutors involved in the Hogan and Kenna case, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct. Yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you have a meeting in December of '98 with respect to the audits?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: No, sir. I have no indication on my calendar that I had a meeting scheduled in reference to this.

MR. CHERTOFF: Well, let me refresh your memory. On Page 137 of your deposition, a question was asked about whether you remember meeting on December 4th with Colonel Williams and others in the State Police about the audit in early December '98. And then the question is: "And they were provided to who at the Attorney General's Office?" And you answered: "Well, we had several briefings with Paul Zoubek as to where we were with the audit. I remember on one specific meeting where Paul Zoubek, I think it was Debbie Stone, Meddis, and Sachetti, and there were other people present, where we discussed where we were with audits. The audits were taking a lot longer than I think some people wanted them to take, but they had to be done." Do you remember giving that answer?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Absolutely. Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Does that remind you that you had more than one meeting with Mr. Zoubek about this issue?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And is it also fair to say, to kind of set the time frame, that you had a meeting on February 10th, which was your last meeting about this issue with Mr. Zoubek?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct. On February 10th, I think, is when we actually turned over some documents to Paul Zoubek.

MR. CHERTOFF: So is it fair to say that there was at least one meeting earlier than February 10th, where you would have talked about the audits with him?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct. Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And again, was there-- What was the nature of that discussion in that earlier meeting?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: It would have been a briefing as to where we were in the Troop D audit. And at that point in time-- It may have been at that point in time, when we had mentioned that we had additional people that we wanted to look at.

MR. CHERTOFF: When you say additional people, you mean potential subjects of investigation for misconduct -- for falsification.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct. And if I used the date December 4th before I testified, I would have reviewed my documents, and somewhere, that date would have come out, I'm sure. And I'm sure, if it's important, I can still look through and try to find out that specific date.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. Well, let's put that to one side.

You'd agree with me anyway that sometime before February, and before you completed your work, you had a conversation with Mr. Zoubek where you talked about where the audit was, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And in the course of the conversation, I think you said a moment ago, there were other people that had to be looked at in connection with discrepancies, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct, yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: When you say other, you mean other than Hogan and Kenna.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: And did you tell Mr. Zoubek at this point that the State Police was conducting an internal review of other cases to see whether there were other people who should be reviewed for possible criminal investigation?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir. He was well aware of that from my conversations in telephone updates that we were continuing this audit and what we were coming up with.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, was there any, in this earlier meeting -- any urgency or any request that came from Mr. Zoubek to do it as quickly as possible?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Not that I recall. I think we all wanted to do it as thoroughly as we could, and we weren't going to rush this thing to get it done.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, in February of '99 -- February 10th, by coincidence, you actually turned over some results of the audit to Mr. Zoubek, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct. And I'm just going to refer-- May I just refer--

MR. CHERTOFF: Sure.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: --to make sure that that's-- Yes, sir, that's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: And by coincidence, that's the same date that the State Police Review Team was announced.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct. I believe ours was in the morning, and later on, we learned of the review team.

MR. CHERTOFF: So when you went in in the morning, was there any discussion about this State Police Review Team that was going to be announced in the afternoon?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: No, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: What was the discussion on February 10th where you handed over this material?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: The discussion was where we were in reference to the Troop D audit, that we still had a lot more to go. When I left that meeting, I was under the impression that they were very satisfied with the way the audit was being conducted, the methodology, the thoroughness of it, and that we were going to continue with the audit.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, did there-- Now, when you say you were going to continue with the audit, at this point you were under way with the audit in Cranbury and Moorestown, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you remember what phase you were at in Cranbury?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I don't. I'm pretty sure we probably completed Phase II. We had probably started Phase III. And then we wanted to move on to Moorestown.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, in March, did you make a decision you wanted to now move on to Newark, which is the third barracks?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir. I think that was always our plan. We wanted to do it incrementally, so -- because of the resources that we had.

MR. CHERTOFF: And did you assign additional people in March of 1999 to expand the amount of investigative resources that would be expended on this Troop D audit?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: We did, yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And again, this is an audit principally focused on falsification, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Is it also fair to say that at some point along the line, you actually told Lieutenant Sachetti that you wanted to make sure he kept his focus on discrepancies that had to do with racial profiling rather than getting meshed in other kinds of discrepancies that might be more trivial?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct. That happened at a meeting in Colonel Fedorko's office with IAB. And I can see it was starting to go off on a tangent. And we were going to lose valuable resources of what we needed to focus on.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, also in this period in early '99, did there come a point that a decision was made to refer over to the Division of Criminal Justice approximately 10 cases of troopers where there was suspected falsification of records?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I'm just going to have to ask you to begin-- I don't understand the date.

MR. CHERTOFF: I'm sorry. Sometime in early '99--

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: --was a referral made from Internal Affairs to the Division of Criminal Justice of approximately 10 cases relating to troopers who had allegedly falsified records?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: To my understanding, that's correct. But I did not have the Internal Affairs Bureau, so that would have come under Colonel Fedorko. But I had information, yes, that it was being sent down to the Attorney General's Office for criminal review.

MR. CHERTOFF: Well, Colonel Fedorko, do you recall, again in this time period in early '99, that approximately 10 cases, identified through the audit, had been sent down to Criminal Justice for intentional criminal investigation review based on discrepancies that had been found in the audit?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: We-- I remember that we had sent 10 names down to the Attorney General's Office, and they were going to take a look at it and decide what to do.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, those are 10 names in addition to Hogan and Kenna, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: I'm not sure.

MR. CHERTOFF: Do you know, Colonel Dunlop, whether the 10 include or exclude Hogan and Kenna?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I do not know.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: I thought it included them, but I'm not positive.

MR. CHERTOFF: Well, now, let me ask you this, just so we understand the process: The way it would typically work is the audit would identify discrepancies, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And then there would be an investigation -- a more specific, focused investigation internally to see if it rose to the level that would require referral over to Criminal Justice, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir, but also to uncover administrative problems that we may have, also.

MR. CHERTOFF: And then if, after this focused investigation, you seem to rise to the level of possible criminal misconduct, you would send it over to the Attorney General's Office, and they would do an investigation and make a judgment about whether this warranted an indictment, correct?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir. They would make a prosecutorial review of that case.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. So I want to just establish a state of affairs as of, approximately, March of 1999. Is it fair to say approximately 10 cases have been referred over involving falsification for possible criminal prosecution, correct?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir. The only thing I would not like you to hold me to is the exact date. I don't know the exact date, and I can't say, specifically, if it was March of '99.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. Is that-- Would it be -- have been by March of 1999, do you think?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I believe so, but I don't like to go into this supposition if we could actually have the actual dates. It would be on record with Internal Affairs as to the exact date that they were transmitted over to Internal Affairs.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. Putting aside the date, you remember the transmission over, correct?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes. I knew that they were sending them down. Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Also, as of March, you had expanded the scope of Lieutenant Sachetti's audit, and he had 30 troopers, approximately, who were going to be working on the Troop D audit, including Newark, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, did there come a point in time from March that you learned from Lieutenant Sachetti that he wasn't sure what he should do next?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir, there did.

MR. CHERTOFF: Tell us about that.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: There came a point in time in the spring of '99 where he came to me and also to Lieutenant Colonel Fedorko and said that his people just didn't have enough work to do to justify them being there.

MR. CHERTOFF: Well, was it your understanding that there wasn't enough work to be done in completing the audits to use up the manpower you had assigned to it?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: No, I think what it was, was he was looking for direction as to where we should go with these audits.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what-- Did he come and talk to you about it?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: He did. We also had a meeting about it in Lieutenant Colonel Fedorko's office, also, at some point in time.

MR. CHERTOFF: What direction did you give Lieutenant Sachetti?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: When I was asked this at deposition, I didn't have a lot of recollection of it, but I have given it a lot of thought since that time. And I remember that the people from IAB were in -- at a meeting with us. And we were discussing this. And the fact was brought

up that we have these people that really didn't have enough work to do, where were we heading with this thing.

I guess the big question was, are we going to continue with Phase III with Cranbury, Moorestown, and then also go into Newark with our Phase III. And at that time, I had discussions with Lieutenant Colonel Fedorko, and we were going to check with the Attorney General's Office as to where this should go.

MR. CHERTOFF: Who checked with the Attorney General's Office, you or Colonel Fedorko?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That would have been Colonel Fedorko.

MR. CHERTOFF: Colonel Fedorko, did you check with the Attorney General's Office?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: I believe I talked to Mr. Zoubek on that.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what did he say to you?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: I think, initially, he told us-- He told me to hold off for a while, which we did. And then at some point, I think within a month, we sent the troopers back in increments.

MR. CHERTOFF: Well, when was this brought up, Colonel Dunlop? Is it fair to say it was brought up in May of 1999, this question by Lieutenant Sachetti about what he should do with these 30 people?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: It was in the spring. I would say, probably April or May, somewhere in that vicinity.

MR. CHERTOFF: Actually, wasn't there a specific conversation you had on May 20th with Lieutenant Sachetti at the gym where you both work out where he said to you, "I'm not sure where we're going with this. I need some guidance."

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir. At that time, I think I stipulated to the date. I can't say with great certainty that it was that certain date, but if he says that that was the date, then I'm sure it was.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was it before or after the interim report, which was issued on April 20th -- was issued?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: It was after the interim report.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. So the interim report had been issued, correct?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you know the interim report, by the way, made reference to the fact that there was going to be -- or there was an ongoing audit with respect to falsification?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Okay. So that was actually something that was in the interim report, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: But as of your conversation with Lieutenant Sachetti in April or May, after the report came out, the Troop D audit was in suspense. Is that fair to say?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's fair to say.

MR. CHERTOFF: It was awaiting further instructions, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, the calls that we were making on Phase III -- we weren't getting responses back to -- at one of the stations. I don't even remember if it was Cranbury or whatever. But either Phase II or Phase III-- When we were sending letters out, we just weren't getting responses back.

MR. CHERTOFF: Well, here's my question: Did you believe that the audit ought to be completed?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And did you say that to Lieutenant Colonel Fedorko -- that it should be completed?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I don't think I specifically said that it should be completed. I think that what we were waiting to hear from is the direction that the Attorney General's Office wanted us to go. The interim report had been released. I think it was obvious to myself, and I don't want to speak for Lieutenant Colonel Fedorko, but I think it was obvious that -- to me, at least, that in a matter such as what we were doing, that we needed to run this past the Attorney General's Office.

MR. CHERTOFF: So we understand it, you have-- You believe-- You initiated this order, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: You-- Going into 1999, you expected that there would be three phases and that it would cover all the barracks of Troop D, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: You assigned additional resources in March to allow the order to be completed, correct?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: Sometime after the interim report is issued, you're approached by Lieutenant Sachetti, who tells you he's not sure what direction to go in -- whether he should continue with the audit, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: You then have a--

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Not that he shouldn't-- But where should we go next. Where are we going next?

MR. CHERTOFF: But the audit was not completed at that point.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: No, it was not. No, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: So you say you're going to get further guidance for him, correct?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That initial one-- I think I had already spoken to Colonel Fedorko in reference to this, because he had-- I believe he had even mentioned to me, earlier on-- And I think there was some dialogue, too, if I'm not mistaken, with Colonel Fedorko and his IAB people with reference to the same matter. I believe that he was handling -- you know, he was discussing this with the Attorney General's Office -- as to where we were going to go.

And one of my discussions with Colonel Fedorko was that we're going to see what the Attorney General's Office -- where they want us to go.

MR. CHERTOFF: Well, Colonel Fedorko, what did you hear from the Attorney General's Office about what -- where they wanted you to go with this?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: Well, I think what was said to me by Mr. Zoubek was that-- I had asked him, "We have these 30 troopers who are sitting around doing nothing, and what's the next step here?" I told them that the majors of the other sections are asking for their people back. And he said, "Well, just hold off a little while, and I'll let you know."

MR. CHERTOFF: Did he tell you why he wanted you to hold off?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: No.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, were you also aware of the fact that in the interim report, there's a specific discussion about the fact that there's an ongoing examination of the issue of falsification?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: I think I remember.

MR. CHERTOFF: And that's, of course, the Troop D audit we're talking about, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: Right. Correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: So a little bit of time goes by, and you finally get guidance from Mr. Zoubek, correct?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: Correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: What does he tell you?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: About the Troop D audit?

MR. CHERTOFF: Yeah.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: Now, I'm a little confused here. Are you talking about after the phone call?

MR. CHERTOFF: After he told you, "Wait for a while, I'll get back to you," does he get back to you?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: We had talked about it at some point, and I believe he told me to start sending the troopers back.

MR. CHERTOFF: And did you understand that to mean, basically, suspend the audit permanently?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: Yeah. Yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you tell that to Colonel Dunlop?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: I believe I did. Yeah.

MR. CHERTOFF: And, Colonel Dunlop, did you start sending the people back?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: We did start to send people back, yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, at this point, were there ongoing-- Within this order, were there ongoing examinations of the discrepancies that had to be finished up and a conclusion reached about?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, the discrepancies were going to be handled by the Internal Affairs Bureau to conduct an investigation of the discrepancies.

Understand, what our purpose of that, originally, was to see if there was selective enforcement or racial profiling, if you would like to say, in regards to the patrol activities of the New Jersey Turnpike. We knew, at the time, that we would probably come up with some administrative violations.

A lot of these cases were administrative violations -- violations of the rules and regulations and SOPs of the Division.

Other ones that we sent down to the Attorney General's Office, subsequently, focused more on possible discrepancies with regard to race.

MR. CHERTOFF: Well, let me ask you this: When you're-- When were you finally told to send troopers home?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I think we were told to send the people that we had augmented to the IAB sometime in May, I would think.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right. And that's May of 1999, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct, yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: And was anything further done for the rest of the year with respect to the Troop D audit?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Not to my knowledge. I really backed off of this thing, because now it was an IAB -- more of an IAB operation, strictly.

MR. CHERTOFF: Well, were any conclusions drawn? Did you get a report or something that kind of reported on the results of what had been done since February?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: No, sir. In fact, earlier on, I remember-- There was a discussion I had with Sachetti about a final report. And I think he asked me, you know, "Should I do a final report?" My answer to him was no, because we weren't done at that point in time.

MR. CHERTOFF: You weren't done, but you had been told not to continue.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you ever have any discussion with anybody from the Office of the Attorney General as to why they just suspended it without it being completed?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, I think once Paul Zoubek became the acting attorney general, I didn't have much conversation with him. That would have been through Colonel Fedorko, who, when he was the first assistant, I had a lot of conversations -- a lot of back-and-forth. But I think protocol-- I just felt that I should back off this thing and let most of the dialogue go through the acting superintendent.

MR. CHERTOFF: What about you, Colonel Fedorko? Did you talk to Mr. Zoubek afterwards about, you know, the need to achieve some closure with respect to this Troop D audit?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: No, I didn't.

MR. CHERTOFF: Why not?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: Well, he was the attorney general. I didn't question it. If he told me to do something, I did it.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, would you agree with me--

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: That's not to say--

Excuse me for a minute.

It's not to say if I thought something was wrong I wouldn't have said something to him. I would have, but-- This issue was a done deal.

MR. CHERTOFF: Well, is it-- Did there ever come a point in time that either of you know of a further report, or final report, was filed or submitted by Lieutenant Sachetti?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: I don't remember.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: As of my retirement, there had not been.

MR. CHERTOFF: You-- As of October 2000, you were both gone, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: Yes.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: In '99 I was gone.

MR. CHERTOFF: So, if I were to tell you that finally, in October of 2000, something was submitted, you would not have any firsthand knowledge, because you would have been gone by then, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: Correct.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: And you'd have no way of explaining why there would be a year delay in doing that, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: Correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, let me ask you this, Colonel Dunlop: Would you agree with me that also as of May of 1999, when the Troop D audit was suspended, there were a lot of administrative violations out there that were basically left hanging without a clear and decisive answer?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That is correct.

MR. CHERTOFF: And when you say-- These would be administrative violations relating to individual troopers, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Now, would you agree with me that that presents kind of a problem, because you have some troopers who are being administratively disciplined for doing things wrong, you have investigations of other troopers for potential problems, but you never achieve closure on the open cases. So some people are getting administratively disciplined for things that other people aren't getting administratively disciplined.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct. It was a large problem.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did any-- Did either of you ever raise that issue with Mr. Zoubek and say, "Look. We've got to achieve closure."

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, if I can speak on that. If you remember, the selection for a superintendent had started almost immediately after Colonel Williams had been terminated. I think we were under the impression that we would have a new superintendent fairly quickly. It didn't happen. In fact, we didn't get one until November. But I think in our discussions that I had with Colonel Fedorko is that the proper thing to do with this is to allow the new superintendent to make a decision as to where he wants to go forward.

MR. CHERTOFF: I'm just going to-- I want to make sure I understand, and then I'm going to move on to something else.

The way that the situation with the audits operates is, as of March you enhanced the audits. Mr. Zoubek had told you that the -- he was pleased with the work that had been done in February. There's then a pause where there doesn't seem there's any direction. Lieutenant Sachetti asks for direction. Ultimately, you wind up getting direction from the Attorney

General's Office to suspend the work on Troop D -- on the Troop D audits and send the augmented troopers back to their duties.

Is that a fair summary of what happened?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: That's my recollection.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: Whatever happened to those cases -- those 10 cases that were referred over to Criminal Justice? Did any of those, to your knowledge, get -- result in indictment, or were they sent back for administrative discipline?

Colonel Dunlop.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: To my knowledge, they were sent back. Specifically, I think Colonel Fedorko could answer that better.

MR. CHERTOFF: Colonel Fedorko, do you know were they sent back or was anybody indicted?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: I don't think anybody was indicted, but my understanding was, and this is-- I think I was retired by then, but somewhere along the line, I had heard that they had come back to the State Police to be handled administratively.

MR. CHERTOFF: Is it fair to say then that the only cases involving falsification relating to racial profiling, as far as you know, were ultimately prosecuted were Hogan and Kenna?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Let me turn to one last thing -- two last things.

In November 1998, Colonel Dunlop, were you present at a meeting regarding whether certain documents should be turned over to the Department of Justice?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir, I was.

MR. CHERTOFF: Who was at that meeting?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: It was Colonel Williams, myself, Colonel Fedorko, as I recall, Sergeant Gilbert, and DAG George Rover.

MR. CHERTOFF: And was the question about a request by the Department of Justice to get certain audit data?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's my understanding.
Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did Colonel Williams express a position about whether that ought to be turned over?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, originally, when you asked me this at deposition, I didn't have a real clear recollection, but I can tell you now that I do remember some of the substance of that meeting. And one of them was in reference to a request that was being made by the Department of Justice for certain materials. I don't have a clear recollection as to what that material was.

MR. CHERTOFF: What was the decision that was made at the meeting about turning it over?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I don't have a-- I can't say I have a very clear recollection on that. I know there were some decisions or -- there was some decision not to turn certain material over, and that counsel was going to take it back to the Attorney General's Office.

MR. CHERTOFF: Was that Mr. Rover?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: All right.

Now, finally, let me ask you, with respect to the interim report, were you involved in the preparation of the interim report?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: No, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: Were you given an opportunity to weigh in on the interim report?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: No, sir, I wasn't. Although, I would say the interim report was released, if I'm not mistaken, on--

MR. CHERTOFF: April the 20th.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: --the 20th. On the 16th, which was a Friday--

If I can back up one more day, I believe it was Thursday the 15th, I had received information that the interim report was going to go out. I didn't know the specific date, but it was -- it looked like it was going to be very quickly or imminent.

I called Paul Zoubek, because we had a team together made up from our intelligence analysts, our Records and Identifications Section, and our Investigation Section, plus some other people including Tom Gilbert -- Sergeant Tom Gilbert -- that were looking at the statistics and trying to do a statistically valid review of consent searches as they related to 1997 and 1998. And when I heard that this was going out, and we hadn't completed that study yet, I wanted to make sure that we could give Paul Zoubek an overview of what we had so far.

MR. CHERTOFF: And what was his response to that?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, originally, when I had the telephone conversation, he told me it was too late.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did he tell you why it was too late?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: No, he did not. No, sir. The impression I had was because this was, in fact, going out very quickly.

MR. CHERTOFF: And was there any change in that? Did you eventually get your data into the report?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, we went down on a Friday. And I remember this conversation was, "Well, then you better get down here first thing tomorrow morning."

So I called over to intelligence, and I spoke with the intelligence officer and told him that we have a meeting scheduled with Paul Zoubek tomorrow, and it's probably going to be first thing in the morning. And I had been told that they weren't ready yet, but they would work through the night to try to get something together for a briefing for Paul Zoubek.

MR. CHERTOFF: And then what happened?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: The next day-- The next morning, we did go down. I went down with-- I went down with Sergeant Serrao, myself. I don't want to speak out of turn, but I think Colonel Fedorko may have been with me. And in the meeting was Paul Zoubek and also Ron Susswein from the Attorney General's Office.

MR. CHERTOFF: And did you make a presentation?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: We did. Sergeant Serrao presented a PowerPoint presentation to him.

MR. CHERTOFF: What years was the data covering?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: It would have been '97 and '98. And I don't think we had completed '98 thoroughly yet.

MR. CHERTOFF: It was through this computerized assisted dispatch system?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Some of it was CAD. Other stuff, in reference to the actual consent searches-- We were concerned with the validity of the data which was being sent down. Sergeant Gilbert was putting this stuff together by himself and doing a good job, but we were really concerned about the validity of the data which was down there. In other words, this stuff was hand collected. There could be a lot of error, especially in the documents which you saw, that were contained in this red book where it was an analysis of Cranbury and Moorestown.

So we wanted somebody that had knowledge in how to do this correctly -- take a look at it.

MR. CHERTOFF: So, after you made this presentation, what did they do?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, Ron Susswein mentioned to me that he'd be working throughout the weekend on this thing -- with this new information that we gave. But eventually, when I saw that the interim report came out on the 20th, all they did was footnote that information.

MR. CHERTOFF: You say, footnoted the information.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct. It was listed in a footnote.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did anybody ever tell you why there was a huge rush to get this out on April 20th?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: No, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: In your mind, had you suggested that a delay of a few weeks to allow your information to be analyzed and compared with Sergeant Gilbert's and maybe, ultimately, refined-- Did you suggest that that might be a worthwhile thing to do?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, I didn't suggest that. And I don't think it would have done any good. I mean, from the position that I saw that the Attorney General's Office was taking, it wouldn't -- my recommendation was something that wouldn't have mattered. This thing was going forward.

MR. CHERTOFF: You thought it was going forward?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: It was going to go forward.

MR. CHERTOFF: And you believed it was going to go forward by a certain deadline, regardless of what you presented.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's right. I did not know what the deadline was. It wasn't until the next couple of days had elapsed that I realized what was going on.

MR. CHERTOFF: What was going on? What do you think was going on? (laughter)

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, the fact that on April the 19th, they indict Hogan and Kenna -- make the announcement of the indictment. The next day they release the interim report. And then my

conversation with Zoubek was that they had -- were just about 16 hours ahead of Justice of filing a complaint in Federal court.

MR. CHERTOFF: I'm sorry. Could you repeat that? You said you had a conversation with Mr. Zoubek where someone indicated that these actions were taken 16 hours before the Federal government was going to file a complaint?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: No, sir. Let me make this perfectly clear--

MR. CHERTOFF: Yeah, be clear.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: --so that there's no more misunderstanding.

I had a conversation with Zoubek -- with Paul Zoubek where he indicated to me that these things were moved forward, and at one time he told me that they were about 16 hours ahead of Justice filing a complaint. Yes, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: When you say Justice, you mean in -- the Justice Department in Washington.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: The Department of Justice filing a civil action complaint against them.

MR. CHERTOFF: Did you-- So is it your understanding from that -- the reason these things were moved forward quickly was to try to avert an actual civil case being filed by the Federal government in the Justice Department?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, I think you're asking for my opinion.

MR. CHERTOFF: Is that your understanding of what Mr. Zoubek told you?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes.

MR. CHERTOFF: You don't actually know one way or the other what the Department of Justice was going to do, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I have no idea. No, sir.

MR. CHERTOFF: I have no further questions.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Jo.

MS. GLADING: Mr. Zoubek-- Mr. Zoubek--

Mr. Dunlop, when you went down to the meeting with Mr. Zoubek and the others from the Attorney General's Office in February, did Mr. Zoubek seem satisfied with the progress of Mr. Sachetti's audit at that point?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: This would have been the February 10th meeting?

MS. GLADING: Yeah.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, ma'am.

MS. GLADING: Was he fully apprised at that meeting of the methodology that Lieutenant Sachetti was using?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir -- yes, ma'am. I believe even before that meeting he was aware of our methodology. I had discussed this with Mr. Zoubek on many occasions.

MS. GLADING: So he knew that you were doing a series of phone calls and then certified mail if that didn't work?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, I believe that he was aware of the -- that we were doing that type of work. I don't know if he knew

how it was broken down into the three phases, but I think he knew how thorough the investigation was being conducted.

MS. GLADING: Did you think that the Sachetti audit, at some point, should have been expanded to cover the entire State Police force?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, I had made a suggestion to him that we go somewhere outside of Troop D also. Yes, I had made a recommendation to him that maybe we should look somewhere else, like the Parkway or some other station. Yes.

MS. GLADING: What was your view on the findings that Lieutenant Sachetti was coming up with in terms of the value of them to the State Police?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I think they were important to us to identify the administrative problems that we were having. I think what was more important is that we weren't finding selective enforcement based on race, that it was systemic throughout the Turnpike or Troop D.

We had several cases that were still pending that we needed to really look at, and they were the ones that were eventually sent down to Criminal Justice.

MS. GLADING: Do you mean that you weren't finding race falsification?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct. Not that race may not have been misrepresented, but after the investigation was conducted, we found out the reasons for that.

MS. GLADING: Were-- To your knowledge, were some of the-- Were there some serious cases in which there were a larger number of discrepancies?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes. I believe there were several cases where there was serious misrepresentation. Yes.

MS. GLADING: To your knowledge, did the misrepresentation-- Did the discrepancies in those cases come close to the level, or reached the level, that Hogan and Kenna had reached?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, I don't think it would be appropriate for me to discuss that here.

MS. GLADING: In the February meeting at the Attorney General's Office, who was present there?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I'm sorry, which date?

MS. GLADING: The February meeting with the Attorney General's Office on the progress of the audits.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: It would have been, and I'm not taking this-- I might have it on my calendar, but as I recall, it would have been Paul Zoubek, Debbie Stone, myself, the people from IAB, which would have included Al Sachetti -- Lieutenant Al Sachetti. I believe that Detective Sergeant Cuzzupe may have been there and other people that were necessary to provide a proper briefing on the audits. And we also provided a briefing on the status of the Hogan and Kenna investigation, also.

MS. GLADING: Was it your understanding that Detective Sergeant Cuzzupe was involved -- was the lead investigator in the Hogan-Kenna case?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: He was, yes.

MS. GLADING: Okay. What was your understanding of the-- Was the-- Did you have an understanding that the timing of Lieutenant Sachetti's work was related to the separate investigation that was proceeding concerning the falsification of records by Troopers Hogan and Kenna?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I'm going to ask you to please repeat that.

MS. GLADING: Was there a relationship, to your knowledge, between -- in the timing of the work that Lieutenant Sachetti was doing and the completion of the investigation into Troopers Hogan and Kenna regarding records falsification? Did they need to know Lieutenant Sachetti's results for the purposes--

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I think, yes. Yes. I think that was relevant to the investigation in regards to Hogan and Kenna.

MS. GLADING: What was your understanding of the relevance?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: You know, I can't say specifically, from a prosecutorial standpoint, what they thought their relevance was. And I may be talking out of line.

MS. GLADING: Okay.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: You may want to best get that from the prosecutors themselves.

MS. GLADING: When the decision was made to-- Well, when Lieutenant Sachetti's troopers-- And I guess his detail was up to over 30 guys at this point.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, ma'am.

MS. GLADING: When they were on hiatus, was it your understanding that he wanted to complete the audit?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, ma'am, I think he did. And I wouldn't use the word hiatus. I mean, we're at a point where they're not being productive.

MS. GLADING: But it was your understanding that he thought the audit should be finished?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, ma'am.

MS. GLADING: Okay.

Colonel Fedorko, did-- Was that your understanding, also?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: What?

MS. GLADING: That Lieutenant Sachetti believed the audit should be completed?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: I believe so, yes.

MS. GLADING: So the direction to the ultimate decision that was made in June of 1999 to stop the audit-- Whose decision was that?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: I believe it was Mr. Zoubek's.

MS. GLADING: Do you know what he based that decision on?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: My recollection is that we weren't finding the kinds of problems in Cranbury -- I'm sorry -- in Moorestown and Newark that we had found in Cranbury.

MS. GLADING: Colonel Fedorko, did you have an understanding that the timing of Lieutenant Sachetti's work was related to the work on the Hogan-Kenna records falsification investigation?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: I really wasn't involved in that.

MS. GLADING: Colonel Fedorko, what was your knowledge about the Attorney General's decision to release the interim report at the pace that it did? And by that, I mean, at the speeded up pace, as opposed to completing the entire review team's work in June.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: Just that they were doing it fairly quickly.

MS. GLADING: Do you know why?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: No.

MS. GLADING: The data that was contained in Sergeant Gilbert's red book that he gave you-- Did you ever discuss that data with Colonel Fedorko?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I don't believe I did.

MS. GLADING: At the time, in March, when the Attorney General's Office received this information, did Colonel Fedorko know that you were bringing that material down with Sergeant Gilbert -- on March 15th when you brought it down?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I don't know. You'd have to ask him.

MS. GLADING: Colonel Fedorko, you testified that documents didn't leave the State Police unless they went through you, since you were at the top of the chain of command. Did you know that Sergeant Gilbert was bringing that material down to the meeting on the 15th?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: No, but if it dealt with the audit or with what Tom Gilbert was doing-- I mean, I was not involved in what Tom Gilbert was doing, so--

MS. GLADING: Did you have familiarity with what kind of audit activity was going on in the Department?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: The Troop D audit?

MS. GLADING: No, audit activity other than the Troop D audit.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: No, I mean, only by the information that they were requesting. And I don't remember specifically what it was. I mean, it had to do with traffic stops and summonses and those kind of things.

MS. GLADING: Do you have a copy of Lieutenant -- Sergeant Gilbert's notebook in front of you? Oh, yeah, you do.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Is this the one that was turned over to Paul Zoubek?

MS. GLADING: The copied one.

I beg your pardon?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: This one?

MS. GLADING: Colonel Fedorko, that's right.

If you could go a couple of pages into that, there's a-- There's a memo from 1998 from Major Sparano, via you, to Colonel Williams.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: What's the date?

MS. GLADING: Well, the first digit is cut off, but it says 20/98 -- just a few pages into it.

It's the fifth page in the document.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: Fifth?

MS. GLADING: Fifth, right.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: This is from-- The fifth one is from Lieutenant Hinkle to Captain Touw.

MS. GLADING: I think you might have a different version.

Do you recall seeing that document?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: No.

MS. GLADING: You don't.

It did pass through you, though, didn't it?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: Right. But these are-- As I mentioned in my deposition, reports would go through my office, and if I wasn't there, my assistant would initial them. And these are his initials.

MS. GLADING: Okay. That document reflects that it's a six-month audit of activity on the southern part of the Turnpike, I believe. And it was written by Major Sparano. Is that right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: Right. It's from Major Sparano to Colonel Williams.

MS. GLADING: Were you aware that these kinds of audits were ongoing by the Division?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: Yes.

MS. GLADING: And to your-- And you knew that this is an area that Tom Gilbert was working on?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: No, I knew that these audits were being done.

MS. GLADING: Okay. This document is contained in Tom Gilbert's -- Sergeant Gilbert's notebook. Why do you think that would have been? Why would he have been collecting this audit information?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: I don't know.

MS. GLADING: Colonel Dunlop, when you had the conversation around the time of the release of the interim report with Mr. Zoubek concerning what you had heard about Colonel Williams and recounting to him the details of the May 20th meeting in 1997, did Paul Zoubek ever indicate to you that that was just a baseless rumor, that they were planning to take steps to indict, potentially?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: No. All he said was we're not going that way. We're not going there--

MS. GLADING: Okay. He never used--

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: --with Colonel Williams.

MS. GLADING: To your recollection, he never used the word rumor in that conversation or suggested to you that this was just a baseless rumor that was circulating around?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: No, absolutely not.

MS. GLADING: And he didn't say we're not going that way until he called you -- we're not going to go there -- until he called you back. Is that correct?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's is correct.

MS. GLADING: Okay. When did Mr. Zoubek first learn of the work that Sergeant Serrao had undertaken -- the audit activity that he had undertaken?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I can't give you a specific date.

MS. GLADING: When did that audit work begin?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: It began sometime in February. I'm going to say February 23rd, maybe. That seems to ring a bell. February 23rd of 1999.

MS. GLADING: Did you have pretty regular communication with Mr. Zoubek during this period of time?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I did.

MS. GLADING: Would you have told him when something like that began right about the time that it began?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes.

MS. GLADING: Okay. So it would not have come as a surprise in April that this audit activity was under way. Is that right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: It should not have.

MS. GLADING: Okay. Is it correct that Lieutenant Sachetti's audit around the time of the shooting actually began with an audit involving Troopers Hogan and Kenna?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: We were looking-- We conducted an audit of the patrol activities of Hogan and Kenna immediately following the shooting, yes -- within a short period of time of the shooting.

MS. GLADING: Okay. And after the February meeting with Mr. Zoubek, and others from the Attorney General's Office, the detail was subsequently increased to 30 troopers, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct, yes.

MS. GLADING: That took place in March, didn't it?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: The meeting occurred February 10th.

MS. GLADING: The increase of the detail to more than 30 troopers.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct.

MS. GLADING: Okay. And was that detail increased because there was some urgency to finish this work?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I think, yes. We wanted to get it to complete it, yes.

MS. GLADING: To your knowledge, and you may have been gone before this took place-- Were the-- Well, let me ask you this: When you left-- When you retired, the cases-- The 10 cases had been referred back from CJ. Is that correct?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct.

MS. GLADING: To the knowledge of either of you gentlemen, were those cases ever sent back to CJ by Colonel Dunbar?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I do not know that. I know I had conversations with Colonel Dunbar and had expressed my concerns that this was going to be a problem.

MS. GLADING: And as this work was going on by Lieutenant Sachetti, were both of you being apprised of it on a regular basis -- of the progress of this work?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I was, yes.

MS. GLADING: Colonel Fedorko?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: I was being apprised of it weekly. I would meet with IAB weekly, and they would -- on other issues, and somehow, this would work itself into the conversation just to let me know what was going on.

MS. GLADING: Were you satisfied with the way the work was progressing and the methodology he was using?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: (indiscernible)

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes. Yes, ma'am.

MS. GLADING: Colonel Dunlop, some of the players in this series of events have gone on to bigger things. Alexander Waugh became a judge, Colonel Fedorko went on to the Casino Control Commission, Captain Blaker became a prosecutor. Was anything ever offered to you -- any kind of position or job ever offered to you?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I was offered a job, yes.

MS. GLADING: By whom?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: More than one job.

MS. GLADING: More than one job.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes.

MS. GLADING: By whom?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, I had a conversation with Attorney General Farmer in reference to possible employment.

MS. GLADING: Was there any--

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: And from another Department within the State of New Jersey.

MS. GLADING: With another Department within the State of New Jersey?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes.

MS. GLADING: Did you have any thoughts about why you were being offered positions?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes.

MS. GLADING: What were those thoughts?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, I would like to think it was because I'm -- of my capabilities. But in lieu of what had all transpired, I was very leery in reference to the job offer.

MS. GLADING: Why were you leery?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Excuse me?

MS. GLADING: Why were you leery?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: My relationship with the Attorney General's Office was not good after October the 9th -- after a banquet where I had given a speech in reference to retirees. And in fact, I think from that point forward, my relationship with the Attorney General's Office wasn't what it was, especially with Paul Zoubek -- was not what it was prior to--

MS. GLADING: Was there something in the content of that speech that-- What year was that speech?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That was given October the 9th, 1999.

MS. GLADING: What content of the speech would -- do you think would have been -- was found disturbing?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, the purpose of my speech-- The morale was absolutely at the lowest I had ever seen it. We had-- I forget the exact number, but I'm going to guess around 80-some people retiring, and I wanted them to go out-- And I also wanted the road troopers that were still on the road-- I wanted to try to build up their morale also, because as many of you know, poor morale can lead to injuries and poor performance.

So I gave the troopers and the retirees a speech at the banquet in October down in Atlantic City. And subsequent to that, I was called in and reprimanded, I would say.

MS. GLADING: What was the essence of the speech you gave?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Basically, that sometimes we, as troopers, or people that are involved either in military -- troopers can feel that they've been abandoned by the political process, and that I was trying to stress for them to continue on -- that after all the political rhetoric was done, that their actions would speak louder than their words. In there, I mentioned that certain -- that I knew that they felt that certain political leaders had abandoned them.

MS. GLADING: I beg your pardon?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I felt-- The troopers felt that the political process, and some of the political leaders in Trenton, had abandoned them when they needed them most.

MS. GLADING: What kind of feedback did you get after that speech from people outside the State Police?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I think it was well taken. It was taken for what it was meant to do.

MS. GLADING: Did it upset anyone, to your knowledge?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, it did.

MS. GLADING: Who?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, at a meeting that I had with-- Carson Dunbar came in -- I think it was in October. I can't remember the exact date. I was the acting superintendent as of October 1st until Colonel Dunbar came on board. And at that meeting, where we first met Colonel Dunbar down at the Attorney General's Office, Attorney General Farmer asked me to come into his office, where he questioned me in reference to-- He told me it was at the direction of the Governor, and he questioned me in reference to my speech.

MS. GLADING: What did you say?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, I like to think that our conversation was confidential, but I-- Basically, that the purpose of the speech was discussed with him. And the words that I said were to stand.

MS. GLADING: I beg your-- I'm sorry?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: And the verbiage that I used was not something that I put together haphazardly. The meaning that I used was what I felt.

MS. GLADING: The verbiage you used in the speech, you meant?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct, ma'am.

MS. GLADING: And so, after the series of events--
You retired when?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I retired July 1st of 2000.

MS. GLADING: Okay. So what was your relationship like with the Attorney General's Office from that point forward?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I had no problem with the Attorney General's Office. I don't think that-- I think that I was maybe considered as an instructor.

MS. GLADING: So, when you were offered two jobs, why were you-- What did you think the reasons were, aside from your talents?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, I was suspect, to be perfectly frank. I was -- had announced my retirement. They knew it was July 1st. I received no phone call from Paul Zoubek whatsoever. We had a very good working relationship prior to that period of time.

MS. GLADING: When did your relationship with Mr. Zoubek deteriorate?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I believe it was after the speech that I gave in Atlantic City.

MS. GLADING: So, after the interim report, it was still okay.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: It was-- I would say it was strained, but we were still professionals working together, yes.

MS. GLADING: So you were suspect that the job had been offered, why?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, I think a lot of the troopers felt that there were a lot of people that were offered jobs, and maybe that the hierarchy of both the Attorney General's Office and the State Police --

were selling them out. And I didn't think it was proper for me to take it at that point in time.

MS. GLADING: Did you think you had information that could be damaging or that could be embarrassing?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I think that-- I think if the truth came out in a form such as this, I think that prudent people would ask questions that a reasonable person would be able to make some conclusions from, yes.

MS. GLADING: Just to clarify, when exactly were these job offers made to you?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: The exact date that I--

MS. GLADING: Not the exact date, the month and year is fine.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, originally, I was supposed to meet with the Attorney General I think in June, but we canceled it to early July, and the other one was subsequent to that.

MS. GLADING: This is 2000?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: This would have been 2000. Yes, ma'am.

MS. GLADING: Okay. I think that's all I got.

SENATOR LYNCH: Can I follow that line of questioning?

Colonel Dunlop, the other job offer was when?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: It was subsequent to that. I don't really remember.

SENATOR LYNCH: Subsequent to July of 2000.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct. Shortly after my retirement, but after July of 2000, I believe it was.

SENATOR LYNCH: So it was sometime in the summer or early fall of 2000.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I'm going to say it was probably right around the same time.

SENATOR LYNCH: All right. Who offered you that job?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I'd rather not say, because it was another Department, and I think it was based on my merit, on my competence.

SENATOR LYNCH: Did you ever have a conversation with Zoubek about another job?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I did not. I think Paul Zoubek-- I had told Paul Zoubek that I was probably going to be moving, also, out of the state.

SENATOR LYNCH: One of the reasons that you were suspicious of -- to some extent of the job offer was because of the flurry of activity you had seen occurring in February of '99 leading through June of '99 and what you considered to be -- I guess, as part of your speech of the politicization of the process--

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I think there's a lot to it. It's just not one or two things. I think that, from what I was seeing, I was up close and personal to this thing from the beginning. To rush to get an indictment against Hogan and Kenna for falsification before the other grand jury came out-- It's just a litany of things that was going on at the time.

SENATOR LYNCH: The rush to get the interim report out.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes. The fact that in the final report-- These reports-- I think any of us that had been in law enforcement knew how damaging these reports could be. It was like a second-party confession against the New Jersey State Police that we were racially profiling and that we showed disparate treatment towards our own members.

There was a rush to get this interim report done. I don't think it was done properly. There were errors in these reports, both these reports, including the final report, where, in fact, one of the graphs -- and it was in reference to the 95th class -- reported that -- I believe it was 49 minorities entered the academy and none graduated, when, in fact, I believe we had as many as 29 graduate. So there was gross errors. And I brought this to the attention--

In fact, I had a conversation with Al Ramey. And the position was, that's behind us. We're moving forward. But I knew the ramifications of what they did. I knew-- And in fact, I told Paul Zoubek. I said, "What every defense attorney in this state is going to do is throw your confession down, and they're going to move to have their cases dismissed."

SENATOR LYNCH: Did the shutting down, temporarily, of the first instance of the Sachetti audit also concern you?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I don't think it concerned me as much as some other things.

SENATOR LYNCH: Wasn't it significant, however, that the -- at least from Lieutenant Sachetti's vantage point, that the Phase III of the audit, which was never completed, was a significant portion of the audit, because it

would have, in effect, through statistical sampling, gotten to violators who were able to escape through Phases I and II?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Absolutely. If we were going to do this right, we should have went all the way through, not to say that we would have come up with what we needed from Phase III, because quite a bit of time had elapsed. This was now a year after some of these violations occurred. And from what I was getting from Lieutenant Sachetti was some of these violators really didn't remember facts. And I don't know how productive we would have been. A lot of people weren't answering our requests for interviews, that type of thing.

SENATOR LYNCH: But it was Lieutenant Sachetti's position that if you're really going to be fair to the troopers who were in some way penalized for having been caught in Phases I and II, you really have to do Phase III, because they may be more significant violators, and why should they be able to escape that kind of a review?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct.

SENATOR LYNCH: Colonel Fedorko, you weren't kept abreast of what Lieutenant Sachetti was doing on a weekly basis?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: On a weekly basis, yes, Senator, I was. But through another-- I had weekly meetings with IAB, which I had done since I was promoted to Lieutenant Colonel. And during the course of the meeting, they would just bring this in -- just let me know what was going on.

SENATOR LYNCH: Lieutenant Sachetti testified in the interview that you, in fact, had told him to put his -- 30 people on hold sometime in

May of 1999 and not to go forward with the rest of the Phase III audit until he heard back from you, and that you were waiting for instructions from the Attorney General's Office. Is that correct?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: That's my recollection.

SENATOR LYNCH: Is that what you told them?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: Yes.

SENATOR LYNCH: And then he ultimately said that after all the profile hearings and confirmation hearings were concluded, that he was told to shut down the review.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: I believe that was the instructions I got from Mr. Zoubek.

SENATOR LYNCH: And that would have been sometime in June of '99.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: It may have even been later than that -- summertime.

SENATOR LYNCH: And you're-- At that point, you're the--

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: Acting superintendent.

SENATOR LYNCH: --acting superintendent.

Was it significant to you that Sachetti file a formal final report, at least to the point where he had gotten?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: I had retired not too long after that, Senator, so I don't know what--

SENATOR LYNCH: Colonel Dunlop, in terms of your skepticism about the job offer from the Attorney General, did you take into consideration, anecdotally -- while there may be no connection that people in the hierarchy

of the Attorney General's Office and the State Police somehow received various promotions or other jobs -- a couple people winding up in the cabinet, people becoming a judge, Colonel Fedorko going to Casino Control, at least one other high-ranking person in the State Police getting a major promotion, ultimately, Lieutenant -- Captain Blaker winding up as the acting prosecutor in Cape May, Roberson and his brother becoming the assistant commissioner of Transportation, and that all these things were happening in a period around -- from '98 through 2000? Was that part of why you were concerned about this job offer?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Sir, I'm not saying that they didn't get that on their credibility. I just thought that by my taking the job at that point in time, with my relationship with the Attorney General's Office, that I was risking my credibility.

SENATOR LYNCH: You were risking your credibility if you took a job.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's right. That's correct.

SENATOR LYNCH: Well, was the fact that all these other circumstances were evolving, including these new jobs -- newfound jobs and so forth that others wound up in-- Was that part of the decision making by you?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Not to take that job?

SENATOR LYNCH: Yes.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I would say it had some bearing, yes.

SENATOR LYNCH: No further questions.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Okay. Well, we first have Senator Zane, then Senator Furnari, and then Senator Martin.

SENATOR ZANE: Colonel Dunlop, if I followed your earlier testimony, and tried to, very carefully and very attentively, you indicated that rumors were about that then Superintendent Williams-- There was possible criminal charges coming. You also testified that you heard that there was efforts to -- that you were concerned that there were efforts to discredit him. Then there were allegations that the State Police and had not provided data pertaining to racial profiling, and that was represented to you, I think, by Paul Zoubek. And then data was provided to Paul Zoubek. And after that, you were told, in essence, that they were -- that no one was really going to be proceeding against Williams. Is that accurate, what I'm saying?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I don't think it is.

SENATOR ZANE: Okay.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I think it's a little to convoluted. I think--

There had been rumors going around, and I'm not saying that these rumors-- They were just that. And many times, the rumors we heard were not factual whatsoever. But there was an underlying current that the Attorney General's Office, and I'm not saying it's specifically one person -- but that they were going to try to discredit the New Jersey State Police and also discredit Colonel Williams. And this is prior to the issuance of the interim report and final report, to the best of my knowledge.

Somewhere-- And maybe the interim report had been released. I can't pinpoint the time. But that rumor surfaced again, which made me

make a phone call to Paul Zoubek. I think it was even-- That was a little bit stronger than-- I believe, previously, I heard rumors that they were hoping -- they were looking to discredit him. This particular rumor that came to my attention was that they were actually considering possible criminal charges or indictment. At that point in time is when I called Zoubek.

SENATOR ZANE: Colonel, when you say they, just to make it clear, are you talking about the Attorney General's Office?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Attorney General's Office, yes, sir.

SENATOR ZANE: And that is based primarily on a feeling you had. Am I correct?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct.

SENATOR ZANE: Was--

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: And, sir, if I may.

SENATOR ZANE: Sure.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Remember, the main purpose of this call was to notify Director Zoubek that there had been a May 20th, 1997 meeting in which the consent decree information was discussed. So the fact that you're trying to say that the Attorney General's Office was not provided with information is not factual, according to the information I had.

SENATOR ZANE: Do you have any idea or recollection as to how long Zoubek had been in his position at that time?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I do not. I don't think he was there long as the first assistant.

SENATOR ZANE: You indicated earlier, I think, and correct me with this, that-- Well, let me ask you this way. Did you get a sense that Zoubek had been told that the information had not been provided, or did you have a sense that he did know that information had been provided, but he was trying to-- I don't know what-- I got to--

When you had testified before to Mr. Chertoff's question in that area, I got a sense that you were saying you felt he knew but that he was going through some sort of a charade with you that--

You're shaking your head. Should I stop--

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: No, no. You're fine. I'm just trying to stay with you, that's all.

SENATOR ZANE: And that you had the sense that he knew what -- that we were going through something that just didn't make sense to you because you felt, and knew, that he knew. Am I correct?

Let me ask you this way: Did you believe, at the time you had that conversation with Paul Zoubek, that he knew that the State Police, through Sergeant Gilbert, had, in fact, provided the information?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: No, I don't think he did know. From my conversation with him, when he said he was going to go in and talk to the General-- Then he came back. In my second conversation, I don't think he knew anything about that meeting.

SENATOR ZANE: Did you have a sense that he had been told that the Attorney General's Office did not have that information?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I only can go with what he said to--

SENATOR ZANE: Okay.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That the Attorney General said to him -- that he had no recollection of this.

But I think we're getting a little confused here. I think we're getting mixed up with my conversation in reference to the May 20th, 1997 meeting where the rumors were that they were going to try to discredit him. And my only purpose of that was to say, "Don't go there, Paul. Your Attorney General -- your office knew about that data, our consent search rates, back in May 20th of 1997."

The second issue was, when we turned documents over to him, after he had requested it on March the 11th -- and March 15th I went down to Gilbert, and he delivered this blue binder of documents, which the Senate has. And I think at that point in time is when I got a subsequent call from him, Senator, where he said, "I need all these documents. You can't withhold documents from us. We need all these documents." That's when I became really skeptical, because I had had conversations with Sergeant Gilbert, and he assured me that the Attorney General's Office had all the knowledge that he had.

SENATOR ZANE: Did you say that after giving additional data -- or the data to Zoubek, that he indicated, in a subsequent conversation, I don't know that you said how it came up, but that they would not be proceeding against Williams?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That was my conversation in reference to the May 20th, 1997 meeting with Colonel Williams and Verniero.

SENATOR ZANE: Did you see any correlation between the giving of that information and the comments by Zoubek that they would not be proceeding against Williams in a criminal nature?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: My impression when I got off that phone call was that my telephone conversation, in regards to that May 20th meeting, were-- I was basically reminding the Attorney General that there was such a meeting and that consent searches had been discussed -- put an end to it. I can't say specifically. Paul Zoubek would have to address that.

SENATOR ZANE: Okay. It's clear to you that the Attorney General's Office, through Zoubek, was making representations. Plus, I think you indicated that you had heard it elsewhere, that the State Police had withheld information regarding racial profiling, correct?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes.

SENATOR ZANE: Okay.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Sir, I'm going to ask you to repeat that.

SENATOR ZANE: Yeah. I wrote a note here, when you were testifying before, to ask you, do you have an opinion as to why the Attorney General's Office would suggest that the State Police withheld data pertaining to racial profiling? You had a-- I think you testified that Zoubek's call to you would suggest that they were clearly going -- more than suggest it-- They were saying that there was information they did not have that the State Police had about racial profiling, correct?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct.

SENATOR ZANE: Okay. That took place when? That is-- Is that March?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That would have been sometime, I believe, in March.

SENATOR ZANE: Do you have an opinion as to why that happened?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: At the time, we -- they were appealing the *Pedro Soto* case. I think that, and this is just an opinion-- I think they were looking for some reason to be able to say we're not going to go further on the *Pedro Soto* case, and this would have been a prime reason not to do that. "Here's the new revelations that we just received from the New Jersey State Police that we didn't have prior to, so therefore, we're going to back out on the *Pedro Soto* appeal." That's an opinion, sir.

SENATOR ZANE: Colonel, two other-- I understand.

Two other questions. You chose not to discuss one job offer because it was from another Department after you had left and retired from the State Police. And when you said to Senator Lynch's question that you were afraid it would affect your credibility, can you elaborate on that? How would your credibility have been affected by taking a position, in your mind?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I think my credibility with the troopers -- both former and current troopers would have been affected. I just felt that people would look at it as if I was -- sold them out.

SENATOR ZANE: In your opinion, do you feel the credibility of those who got jobs during that period of time -- that something was amiss after that with their credibility--

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: No, sir.

SENATOR ZANE: --among troopers.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: No, sir, I do not.

SENATOR ZANE: Why do you--

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I can't say that. I just don't think-- I think that-- Let me withdraw that. Do I think--

Would you repeat that?

SENATOR ZANE: Yeah. Other people then-- If you were going to be affected in the minds of fellow troopers if you had taken a position-- I'm asking you, do you feel that those that took positions -- those that Senator Lynch enumerated, and others here-- Do you feel that their credibility fell in the eyes of those same troopers that you were concerned about?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I don't think that's a fair question for me to answer.

SENATOR ZANE: Okay. When you made your speech of October the 9th, 2000 -- October 9th, 1999-- Am I right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir.

SENATOR ZANE: When you made that speech, you made reference to the politicians have abandoned the State Police.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I used the analogy. I had just given a speech before the Jewish War Veterans Association up in North Jersey. And the parallel that I made was I saw those soldiers from World War II, Korea, some of them winning some of the highest decorations that could be awarded. And some of them were -- still showed scars of their injuries from war.

And at that point in time, the discussion up there was the fact that the VA hospitals were being shut down, that they weren't getting the services from the VA hospitals. And they really felt abandoned by the political process. I was trying to make that parallel in my speech down to the troopers that, you know, these troopers were -- dedicated 25 or 30 years of their lives, some of them sacrificing an awful lot for the citizens of New Jersey -- and that they should never hang their heads in reference to this, that this would work its way out, and that they should still be proud to be New Jersey State Troopers. And my purpose was to not only give the retirees a proper send-off, but also to send a message to the troopers to try to raise their morale in some way.

SENATOR ZANE: But you were suggesting that politicians had abandoned them.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I was suggesting that some may have-- It could be perceived as abandoning them. Yes. And that is in light of the fact that the information that was put out, and the way the interim report was put out, and the final report was put out, and the way they were going about also the changes for the -- I would say the changes that were going to occur within the Division of State Police.

SENATOR ZANE: Thank you.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Senator Furnari.

SENATOR FURNARI: Colonels, I'm not really sure. I think the question is probably appropriate for either of you, but I'm just trying to get a reference.

We know that there was the Hogan and Kenna audit, for want of a better word, as to their reports and the like. And we know that there was the

Sachetti audit, which I assume -- were making the same kind of evaluations, whether or not the reports are being filled out accurately, whether there's other deceptive practices that are going on in the filling out of the reports--

Were there any other audits going on relating to those kinds of activities in the Division during, let's say, a year prior to that, that we're aware of?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes. I can't say a year prior, but we did have other audits. I don't think-- Nothing to the extent of which we did -- starting in 1998. But there had been internal complaints made, either by civilian motorists or even within our Division, by members -- minorities within our Division that did result in audits being conducted. Yes, sir.

SENATOR FURNARI: Now, the ordinary procedure would be once they're -- these audits were conducted, information was passed up the chain of command for action, if need be. In other words, when you did an audit, there must have been a time where someone was disappointed as a result.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, I believe that-- The one I'm thinking of, specifically, was done by Lieutenant Hinkle in the Inspection Staff Unit of the Internal Affairs Bureau. I think the purpose of that was to go out to see if there was validity to allegations that were being made at the time, not necessarily that there had to be disciplinary action, but to see if there was validity to claims being made.

SENATOR FURNARI: Well, to your knowledge, was any trooper ever disciplined for failure to -- or for falsifying his documents or things like that prior to the--

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes. I would say-- Understand that I was not assigned to the Internal Affairs Bureau, and they didn't come under my command, and I didn't really move into an area, until 1998, where I became the executive officer. But just from general knowledge, there had been other investigations regarding falsification, misrepresentations on reports. And yes, there had been disciplinary action, to my knowledge, in reference to those.

SENATOR FURNARI: And that normally would pass up the line of command to the -- I guess at times to the superintendent, if it was severe enough.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir.

SENATOR FURNARI: To your knowledge, were there ever indictments as a result of this kind of activity on troopers?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I don't have that knowledge.

SENATOR FURNARI: Now, if the matters were so severe that they would be passed up on to the superintendent-- If there was going to be an indictment, then the superintendent would pass the matter over to the Attorney General's Office for evaluation.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: If I understand the question-- If it wasn't-- If it didn't involve criminality, and it was going to be handled within the Division of State Police--

SENATOR FURNARI: Then it would stay in State Police.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Then it would stay in the State Police.

If there was going to be disciplinary proceedings, for instance like a summary disciplinary hearing or general disciplinary hearing, especially at a general-- Then someone from the Attorney General's Office would represent the State Police in the matter.

SENATOR FURNARI: Okay. So now I'm getting to the Hogan and Kenna situation.

At the time that they were indicted, you were, effectively, the number one and number two men within the Division of State Police.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct.

SENATOR FURNARI: Were there discussions from the Attorney General's Office with either of the -- you gentlemen that they believe that the conduct of Hogan and Kenna warranted action by a grand jury -- again, just dealing with their conduct of the, for want of a better word, administrative things, falsification of reports, etc.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, I don't think we should go there, sir, since it's a pending -- since there's pending litigation. I just don't think it would be proper to go there.

SENATOR FURNARI: Well, I'm only interested -- not in the details of it. I'm interested in whether or not the number one and number two men in the State Police were, at some point, involved in these discussions. I'm not going to go into the details about it.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I think to answer your question, the decision whether or not to present that to the grand jury and when it was going to be presented was not a decision-- At least, I had no decision in making it.

SENATOR FURNARI: Or knowledge of it at all.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct. I knew the investigation was going forward. I knew what the findings of the investigations were revealing, or what was being revealed in the investigations. But as far as to the timing and, in fact, if it was going to be presented to the grand jury, that was not our decision.

SENATOR FURNARI: Or even the discussion about whether or not that was the appropriate course of conduct.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct, not with me.

SENATOR FURNARI: And did the Attorney General's Office have conversations with the superintendent's office regarding those issues as to whether it was appropriate, whether this was peculiar, or in the regular course of business, or whether or not there are any recommendations from the State Police at all.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Are you asking me?

SENATOR FURNARI: No, I was asking--

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: On what, Hogan and Kenna?

SENATOR FURNARI: Yes.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: I never had any discussions with the Attorney General's Office on Hogan and Kenna once it was in the court system -- once it was in the grand jury.

SENATOR FURNARI: Okay. Well--

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: I never had any discussions about what to do. That's something that, clearly, lawyers handle. I'm not an attorney.

SENATOR FURNARI: Well, what I'm suggesting is that there were two grand juries, right? There was one that was investigating some conduct of the officers, and another one that was just dealing with their procedural deficiencies, as those kinds of activities we were discussing before, that would be in the Sachetti reports.

Now, you were getting reports about what was going on with the audits and the officers' conduct. But the Attorney General's Office never had any discussion with you as to whether or not you thought or felt it was appropriate to move on and indict them at this time?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: No, not with Hogan and Kenna.

SENATOR FURNARI: And there were no discussions about whether Hogan and Kenna's deviations, for want of a better word, were any different than any of the officers that may have been discovered through the Sachetti audit? Was there ever a discussion--

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: That information was given to them.

SENATOR FURNARI: The information was provided to them.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: With regard to Hogan and Kenna and the other troopers, yes.

SENATOR FURNARI: And as I understand it, some of the other officers may very well have identical or similar deficiencies as Hogan and Kenna.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: As I recall, yes.

SENATOR FURNARI: And there was never any, from a policy standpoint, a discussion with the State Police as to whether or not that would warrant going forward with criminal charges instead of the process that was moving along?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: Not while I was there, but again, I left not too long after that, so--

SENATOR FURNARI: Okay. Thank you.

SENATOR MARTIN: I think I was next.

I had a couple of questions.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Sir, can you speak up just a little bit, please?

SENATOR MARTIN: You testified earlier about, Colonel Dunlop, the fact that you were given a very short time to produce some important statistics if they were going to be included in the interim report that was issued on April 20th, 1999. Is that correct?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Sir, I wasn't given any specific deadline. We initiated that February 23rd with the understanding that we would be able to get it completed, having no idea that the interim report was going to be released as quickly as it was.

SENATOR MARTIN: But if I understood your testimony, I guess it would have been April 19th, you were advised that if you -- if it were going to be included in the interim report, you would have to work -- you would have to have it by the next morning, which is why your staff was directed to work, or at least they volunteered to work around the clock that evening in order to be able to have that -- what do you call it -- point--

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: PowerPoint, sir.

SENATOR MARTIN: --presentation on the morning of April 20th?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: No, sir. The dates are wrong, sir.

SENATOR MARTIN: Oh, I got the wrong dates.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Can I correct the dates for you?

SENATOR MARTIN: Yeah.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: All right. On the 15th -- on April 15th is when I called Paul Zoubek and told him that we had this data -- that we had to look at it. And he said, "Well, you better get back down here the first thing tomorrow morning, because--" Well, first of all, if it was-- It was too late, but I insisted that he had to see this data. On the 16th is the day we went down and provided the-- The very next day, which was a Friday, we provided him with the PowerPoint presentation, plus some other data that he had requested earlier.

SENATOR MARTIN: So he gave you to the 16th, and apparently, he was trying to assemble this together, either through his own

direction or through some other policy decision, which ultimately produced the interim report four days later on April 20th.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct, yes, sir.

SENATOR MARTIN: I'm interested in a series of events. Our booklet lists a number of activities, all of which were of some import to us, in that time frame. And you suggested that the only information you had received as a rationale for getting this done was that you were aware that the Department of Justice was, at least, suggesting that they were going to file a civil suit if some remedial action wasn't taken. That was, at least, one explanation or rationale why you would have to do this rush job.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Sir, I don't think it had anything to do with remedial action or whatever. I think-- And the way this came about was, I think it was general knowledge that we knew that Justice was conducting an inquiry. And if I could just refer to my chronologies just for a minute, I think it would help.

And I had given this at deposition, but what I had said at deposition, also, is that there was a lot of things that were happening in February into March that, I think, changed the complexion of the way we were doing our audits and the rush to get the interim report out. And I testified as to what I thought -- or the events which had transpired, which I thought had led up to the rush to get this interim report out when it did.

SENATOR MARTIN: Well, there were, at least as I count them -- at least four other events shortly after that April 16th, in addition to the fact that there was some indication that there was any pending, or at least the possibility of a civil suit filed by the Department of Justice. And what I'm

talking about is that on April 19th, as Senator Furnari was referring to earlier, there was-- The indictment came down regarding the falsification or tampering of records.

On April 20th, New Jersey decided to withdraw its appeal in the *Soto* case. On April 26th, Mr. Zoubek and General Verniero testified before this committee on racial profiling. And on April 5th and 6th, (sic) the Attorney General testified regarding his nomination to be a justice of the New Jersey Supreme Court.

My question is, all of those events-- Was there any indication to you that would suggest that they -- any of those events was putting some pressure on you to get your report and get the interim report out prior to those events, which followed almost on a daily basis?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: No, sir. I didn't have any explicit conversation with anybody in regards to that other than my one conversation. After the interim report-- After the indictments of Hogan occurred on the 19th, the interim report came out on the 20th. And there -- very shortly thereafter, I would say within days -- a day or two, the fact that I had a conversation with Paul Zoubek that mentioned that they were only ahead of the Department of Justice by 16 hours--

SENATOR MARTIN: You definitely felt that with more time, you could put together better data that could be assembled into this interim report, which would be the guideline for the Division as to how it was handling this issue of racial profiling.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, sir, I was convinced that the methodology we were using, by using our analyst -- our professional

analyst, was going to give us a lot better product and understanding of the data that was going to go into the interim report. What came out of the interim report-- And I told Paul Zoubek at the time -- and Ron Susswein was -- we were questioning the validity of that data. I don't think that data had ever been verified. And that's what we were doing. We were trying to verify the data before we released it, because we knew the importance of it.

If it would have substantially changed the data that was being referred to back in '94 or '95, I don't know. But I don't think that-- I don't think it was properly looked at, and I don't think it was properly validated.

SENATOR MARTIN: One other question.

There was-- At the time the interim report was released on April 20th, there's an indication that the Attorney General at that time basically indicated, at least according to our brief notes, that -- AG Verniero says that he had called for this portion of the State Police Review Team's report on racial profiling on the Turnpike to be expedited in order to allow the State to better assess its position in *State versus Soto*.

Your indication, however, from what you've told us-- I just want to clarify a point that was, at least, important to me, that despite sort of a representation that this interim report included a big piece that was going to continue the operations you had talked about with these 30 troopers carrying on various types of audits and investigations, that shortly thereafter, this effort seemed to dissipate for some period of time. Is that-- Do I have that right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, the audits in May of 1999 basically ceased, other than the follow-up by IAB on some of the violations of administrative -- or administrative violations.

But to be perfectly frank, sir, your question that was so long, I think I didn't answer it properly. I don't remember the beginning of the--

SENATOR MARTIN: Well, let me try it again with a shorter version.

Was there-- And I'll break it into--

There was some suggestion in the interim report that there would be increased and continuing efforts to carry on appropriate steps to make sure that racial profiling didn't continue to occur in the Department.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's right. That was in the interim report. Yes, sir.

SENATOR MARTIN: And as you understand the period sometime shortly thereafter, those efforts actually decreased rather than continued or increased, as far as their activity?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, yes, the audit actually came to a halt. And Lieutenant Sachetti was looking for direction as to where we should go.

SENATOR MARTIN: And the 30 individuals who were engaged in those activities were put back into various other operations.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, to their original assignment, where we had gotten them from. Yes, sir.

SENATOR MARTIN: And there were no new troopers or other personnel brought in to engage in those activities.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: No, sir.

SENATOR MARTIN: Thank you.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Senator O'Connor.

SENATOR O'CONNOR: Colonel Dunlop, the position that Attorney General Farmer offered to you, was that a position you could share with us -- tell us what it was?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I don't think it would be appropriate, because there's somebody sitting in there now. And I would think that-- I don't think that I would be doing that person justice by saying which position it was.

SENATOR O'CONNOR: Well, was that a position that was offered to you in the presence of anyone else, or was it--

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Attorney General Farmer and myself had lunch together, and he made the offer.

SENATOR O'CONNOR: You strike me as you might be someone who would be on the short list for inspector general. If I were to guess that, would I be correct?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I don't know if I should comment on that, sir. I just don't think that that's fair.

SENATOR O'CONNOR: You got a smile, though.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, I don't think it's fair to whoever may be sitting in that position now.

SENATOR O'CONNOR: All right. I appreciate that.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Excuse me, who has one more question?

MR. CHERTOFF: Senator Robertson.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Senator Robertson.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Colonel Fedorko, let me -- well, actually, I'll ask both of you, but let me start with you, Colonel.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Could you pick on him for a while, sir?

SENATOR ROBERTSON: I know, I figured I'd give you a rest. There was a hearing on racial profiling on April 26th, 1999. During the course of that hearing, Attorney General Verniero and First Assistant Zoubek testified. And we got into a discussion I can represent to you. I don't know if -- were you present at those hearings, do you recall?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: Are you talking about the press conference, Senator?

SENATOR ROBERTSON: No, I'm talking about the Judiciary Committee hearings on racial profiling on the 26th of April, in '99, six days after the interim report was released.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: No. I don't believe I was there.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: Oh, okay. Well, I can represent to you that there was a discussion at one point about the nature of the statistical information and the problems with it, and how it was difficult for us to draw certain conclusions. Specifically, we had some questions about the nature of the statistics that were concerned with stops, and whether or not they were disproportionate, how many people were stopped, how fast were they going, and that there was some concern, as well as in the *Soto* case, with the fact that there wasn't a good, reliable baseline about what is the percentage of minority drivers, minority drivers going at certain speeds, and so forth.

There was a second problem with statistics with respect to consent searches in that there wasn't an adequate amount of detail done between consent searches, those who refused to consent, and arrest rates, as well, and find rates.

During the course of that discussion -- this is really actually a simple question, even though it has a long preface. The simple question is this. During the course of that testimony, we were told that many of these gaps would be filled in, that this would be the subject of some ongoing concern and attention. And my question to you is this: In the months following that hearing and that appearance before this Committee, what steps, if any, were taken to develop that statistical baseline on stops, or to get better data with respect to the consent searches?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: Senator, while I was there, all of the recommendations that were put forth in the report were -- not put in place, but the working -- the workings of them were put in place.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: In terms of reforms within the--

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: State Police.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: --in the State Police. Now refresh my recollection, if you would. In that respect, what was done with respect to the compilation of statistics?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: I really don't recall.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: Colonel Dunlop, do you recall?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, if I understand the question right, you're saying that at a hearing in which -- or at a briefing at which the Attorney General, I guess--

SENATOR ROBERTSON: It was a hearing.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: He made the comment that they were trying to get a better handle on consent search statistics?

SENATOR ROBERTSON: Well, when we were asking questions of Mr. Zoubek during that period -- during that hearing -- he indicated that, yes, there were problems with the data, the way it was assembled, that we need better data with respect to establishing a baseline -- by that I mean, you know, how many drivers are there, what is their ethnicity, under normal circumstances, not just taking a look at the population figures, but actually the drivers on the Turnpike, that more would be done to establish a reliable baseline against which we could take a look at statistics, and that more detailed statistics would be put together with respect to consent searches and arrests.

Was that ever done?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, I know, going all the way back to 1997, in a letter which General Verniero had written to Justice, that he made mention that they were going to do a violator survey or a traffic survey -- or let's just say -- we could say a demographic survey of the New Jersey Turnpike. That was ongoing until the time -- that discussion was still ongoing until the time I left in July 1st of 2000. There had been RFPs, I believe, sent out, in regards to companies that were interested in conducting such a survey, but to date -- or at least I can say as of the date I retired, there was nothing done in regards to the traffic surveys.

In regards to trying to get a better handle on consent searches and stop data, I think the CAD system -- the computer aided dispatch system -- was certainly going to give us a lot of credibility in regards to stop data.

And they also were working -- because this had been brought to my attention also. They also were working to reform or to improve the reporting process of the consent searches. We wanted more qualitative data as to reason for the search and the reasonable suspicion that was developed.

So, at that point in time, when I left, they were still trying to develop that type of document that would give us that ability to better account for consent searches, that type of thing.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: And that would be approximately 15 or 16 months later?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes. Yes, sir.

SENATOR ROBERTSON: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Thank you.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: Mr. Chairman, if I might, just very quickly, just to refresh my memory.

Detective Gilbert, who appeared before us earlier -- Lieutenant Colonel Dunlop, maybe you could answer this question. Was there ever any doubt in your mind of the statistics that he had gathered and the information, and did you -- were you privy to the information over that period of time when he was doing statistics, or did you notice?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I don't understand the question. Is the question--

SENATOR GIRGENTI: Were you aware of him doing these statistics at any point in time?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: As of February 1998 I was, when I received a report that came up from Field Operations, which is that one

where it breaks down consent search stop data, at Cranbury and Moorestown, yes. And I believe that -- then I started asking Sergeant Gilbert what this data meant and what it was.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: All right. And that's when, at some point, he provided you with the blue book, for your information.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: He provided me -- yes, a briefing book -- a red briefing book. Yes, sir.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: The red one, all right. When this meeting that's been referred to a number of times, in May of 1997, with the Attorney General, you weren't at that meeting, right?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: No, sir, I was not.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: No. At that meeting, did there seem to be -- the information had been given to the AG, from what you've understood, right, in terms of this data?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes. I was getting this -- understand, sir, I was getting this all from Gilbert at that point in time, that he was briefed in reference to -- and we later found this, an agenda, which was later produced, but--

SENATOR GIRGENTI: Yeah, he was sitting on the -- he was actually taking minutes of the meetings.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Who was that, sir?

SENATOR GIRGENTI: Gilbert.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Gilbert. I can't say if he was taking minutes or not.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: All right.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: All he was doing was briefing me as to what transpired during that meeting -- I was not there.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: All right. After the *Soto* decision, they made a -- they had a committee, a Littles committee -- Lieutenant Colonel Littles was the head of it.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I had heard and I've read in reference to that, but I had no direct knowledge.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: Okay. And over that period of time, he documented it. He had information. And evidently this was passed along through this -- either John Fahy at one time, and then Rover at another time -- George Rover, Deputy AG. When it came to the end, in terms of them saying they did not have the information, you went to bat for him strongly, because you did have the data at that point.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Well, I had every reason to believe that what Tom Gilbert was telling me, that he had been turning this stuff over, consistently, to the Attorney General's Office, was, in fact, true.

And I also corroborated, through Blaker, the fact that there was that May 20th, 1997 meeting, which he had told me about.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: And--

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: But, sir, if I may just qualify. A lot of this -- a lot of this -- documents that were turned over, or the information that was provided by Gilbert to the Attorney General's Office was well in advance of when I became the Executive Officer.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: Okay. All right, and I understand that. So, now, Zoubek -- I guess he's the head of Criminal Justice at that point in

time -- '99 now, going into '99, when you were dealing with him -- was the feeling that -- you said before that you sincerely believed that he did not get that information?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: No. I can -- I don't know if he got that information or not. My belief was that the Attorney General's Office was fully aware of the information that the State Police had, that we weren't holding back any information at all. And that was based on the fact that I knew, from Gilbert's conversations with me, that he was turning everything over -- that all the data was turned over.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: All right. Thank you. That clears it up. Thank you.

MS. GLADING: One.

SENATOR GORMLEY: One question? Okay, go ahead.

MS. GLADING: Colonel Dunlop, I want to ask you about the memo that you wrote on March 11th, 1999, and gave -- and sent to Paul Zoubek. Just to refresh your recollection of it -- I don't have a copy with me -- but you discussed alternatives to dealing with concerns about consent to search numbers. And one of the alternatives you recommended was requiring, I think, a sergeant to go out whenever a consent to search was executed.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, ma'am. I made four distinct proposals.

MS. GLADING: You also recommended another alternative, ending consent to searches completely, didn't you?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, I did.

MS. GLADING: Okay. This was March 11th -- this was four days prior to when Sergeant Gilbert and you went down to bring his blue notebook. Is that correct?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct.

MS. GLADING: Why were you discussing concerns about consent to searches at this point in time?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: What I wanted to do was to discuss with Paul Zoubek something that we could do in reference to alleviating the problem that we had, which was basically consent searches. And there was other data here -- I have it in my file -- as to what recommendations we were making. If I'm not mistaken, some had to do with training. Some of it had to do with an understanding of a trooper's -- how serious this falsification was. My fear was that some of these troopers didn't realize that any type of falsification is not tolerable.

So those were included in this recommendation. And also, since I knew -- and I think Paul Zoubek was well aware also -- that the biggest concern we had in drug interdiction, or criminal interdiction, was our consent searches.

MS. GLADING: Well, let me ask you this. It's been represented to us by various witnesses and documents that the issue of the consent to search as being the primary concern really didn't come to the Attorney General's Office and attention, and to the attention of who were actually drafting the interim report, until they got the Gilbert numbers, but that was still four days away. So my question is, why -- why were you having this kind of a discussion with Mr. Zoubek about consent to search numbers? What was

his concern based on, at that point, if they didn't yet have these Gilbert numbers that apparently enlightened them to the severity of the problem that was going on out on the roads with consent searches?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: I can't speak for the Attorney General. But I would say that they certainly should have known that consent searches were of great concern to the New Jersey State Police, going back to May 20th of 1997. Because at that point in time, as you know, that was one of the topics that was on the agenda.

So I think that at least Paul Zoubek -- and I don't want to put words in his mouth -- but I think he was well aware, because we've had discussions that consent to search was a real problem. That's the reason I formulated these recommendations to him, based on conversations that I had. You know, "Listen, Paul, the consent search, the highway interdiction, is really getting us into problems." In fact, we had had discussions that maybe the best thing we can do -- and I had discussed this with Lieutenant Colonel Fedorko -- maybe the best thing we could do was suspend highway interdiction until we get a clearer policy from both the Department of Justice and the Attorney General's Office as to where we should go.

Those recommendations were made to Zoubek in reference to consent search that would handle the problem right then and there, until we had a chance to really discuss it further and get into -- and figure out what a long-term policy was going to be in reference to our highway and drug interdiction, or criminal interdiction, and also our consent search policies.

SENATOR FURNARI: Can I just--

SENATOR GORMLEY: Senator Matheussen.

SENATOR MATHEUSSEN: I know I'm stretching this, for everyone's sake tonight, but I have to ask this question.

Colonel Dunlop, we have a sequence of events that was handed to us, and it's dated April 1999. And I know you testified about this before. When you had this conversation with Deputy Attorney General Zoubek at the time, when did that conversation take place? Did it take place before April 26th, or after April 26th?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Sir, this is the conversation--

SENATOR MATHEUSSEN: This is the conversation where you told him, "I wouldn't go there, Paul." And he's upset, because he hasn't received any information, he claims, out of the State Police office -- out of State Police.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: Yes, sir. To the best of my recollection, and this is very, very difficult--

SENATOR MATHEUSSEN: I understand.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: --for me to pinpoint, because I didn't make any notation on this. But I -- to the best of my recollection, it was just prior to, or it would have been just immediately after the interim report was released.

SENATOR MATHEUSSEN: And the interim report was released in--

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: On April 20th.

SENATOR MATHEUSSEN: April 20th.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: And, sir, if I could just clarify that a little bit more. I think the reason I gave validity to the fact of this rumor that I heard, and I wanted to nip it in the bud, so to speak, with Paul Zoubek, was the fact that it lent credence to the fact that the interim report would be more widely acceptable, and the termination of Colonel Williams would be more acceptable to the public if there was some discrediting done.

SENATOR MATHEUSSEN: Is it possible that Paul Zoubek did not know about the information because he was not, at the time, involved -- up until that time, really involved in racial profiling, but everybody else--

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: That's correct. He may have had no knowledge whatsoever. And like I said before, my telephone conversation with him in reference to the May 20th, 1997 memorandum and meeting, I was convinced that he did not know.

SENATOR MATHEUSSEN: Nothing further, Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Anything further? (no response)

All right. I will end with my one question of the day. I'll end with my one question of the day.

Did either of you, at that time, in and around April of 1999, when the interim report was issued, when there was the falsification indictments announced, was there any conjecture, any conversation that you had that this -- that this rush was caused by the fact that this Committee had said there'd be a profiling hearing prior to the time that there would be a nomination hearing?

LIEUTENANT COLONEL FEDORKO: Not to me.

LIEUTENANT COLONEL DUNLOP: No, sir. I didn't know that there was going to be a profiling hearing.

SENATOR GORMLEY: Okay. Thank you.

Just for the record, without objection, the exhibits presented to the witnesses and the depositions taken prior to this time shall become a part of the record. The Committee will reconvene tomorrow. The first two witnesses will be George Rover and John Fahy.

Thank you.

(HEARING CONCLUDED)